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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2012 to all shareholders.

Due to its sound development strategy, together with dedicated efforts
of its management team and entire staff, in 2012, the Group achieved
substantial improvements and rapid growth, delivering a relatively
satisfactory result to our shareholders and customers who care about and
support the development of the Group. Upholding our corporate
objectives of quality maintenance and development with reputation, the
Group insists on the strict management and control of all products from
milk sources to final products in order to provide premium and safe
products to consumers. Meanwhile, the Group also enhances its
marketing management, exploration of channels and brand image to
consolidate its leading position and boost up its competitive strengths,
laying a more solid foundation for our sustained growth and healthy
development in the future.

Substantial Improvement in Operating Results

During the year under review, the Group recorded a remarkable financial
performance and a substantial improvement in operating results in 2012
which fully demonstrated our operation management skills and strong
competitiveness:

° Operating revenue amounted to RMB3,655.1 million, an increase of
23.6% as compared with that in 2011

o Profit from operations amounted to RMB559.4 million, an increase
of 78.7% as compared with that in 2011

° Profit attributable to shareholders amounted to RMB468.5 million,
an increase of 53.0% as compared with that in 2011

o Basic earnings per share amounted to RMB13.3 cents, an increase
of 52.9% as compared with that in 2011

o Net cash generated from operating activities amounted to
RMB772.0 million
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Letter to Shareholders (continued)

FRRE (&)

To reward your strong support, the board of directors has proposed to
distribute a final dividend of RMB11.31 cents per share, totaling
RMB400.3 million and representing a payout ratio of 85.4%.

Keep Focusing on Key Developments

During the year under review, leveraging on its continuous efforts to
follow up and work on key tasks such as the exploration of marketing
channels, enhancement of brand reputation, strengthening of product
research and development and strict control over product quality, the
Group recorded an outstanding market results and financial performance
under its improving operation management.

1. Enhance and Expand Marketing Channels

With an efficient and comprehensive sales and distribution network
which covers all regions within mainland China, the Group sells and
promotes its products through more than 1,500 regional
distributors and over 105,000 retail outlets which are controlled by
the Group directly or indirectly. In 2012, the Group attained a
relatively rapid growth in the exploration and expansion of
channels. A significant achievement in the exploration of the
maternal channel was made and our milk powder products are
currently available in 20,000 stores, which effectively increased our
market share in such channel, bringing about a new growth
momentum for our results. While increasing our products’
penetration rate in first- and second-tier cities, the Group also
strengthened its channels exploration in second-and third-tier cities
as well as rural areas, and accordingly achieved substantial
improvement, consolidated and maintained its leading advantage
and position in that market.
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The Group has implemented a stringent system of sales
management and an efficient incentives system to continuously
attract and motivate capable distributors and staff to increase the
Group's revenue and market share. Our stringent control over the
distribution network ensures that the Group’s distribution policy
and sales strategy are consistently enforced in a timely manner
among in all distribution networks. Thanks to its meticulously
managed EMP information platform, the Group realized an efficient
connection between fees application and usage, budget control
and performance indicative management, logistic distribution, sales
data and inventory management of each level, hierarchical structure
of organization and sales sub-division management, and made
prompt response to the relevant matters. The increasing control
over our distributors and improvement in their service quality have
accelerated production circulation and marketing activities.

In 2011, the Group conducted the reconstruction and division of
the marketing structure by re-designating outstanding personnel to
form the milk powder, brewed food and liquid business
departments in order to implement refined management, under
which we could focus on market segments to provide more tailored
services and manage a more professional operation. In 2012, our
efforts brought about an encouraging result that the operation
standard of our sales team and the management level improved
dramatically. The nutrition department of the Group was also
basically formed while its function and performance have become
clearer. During 2012, it organized several events under “Medical
Salon on Chinese Maternal and Child Health” across the country
with the participation of over 10 thousands maternal and child
medical and nursery personnel. Besides, more than 1,000 consumer
education activities were organized to promote and spread the
knowledge on eugenic birth, raising and education of children and
infants, through which we enhanced the interaction with
consumers and directly narrowed the gap between us.
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Letter to Shareholders (continued)

FRRE (&)

Strengthen Brand Reputation and Building

With its belief in the synergies of the advanced technology in health
care and the concept of love, the Group strives for premium milk
source, professional production and services. To raise the awareness
and reputation of Yashily brand, the Group carefully selected
spokespersons with healthy images and produced more attractive
commercials with a new brand promotion slogan, “Genuine New
Zealand, Love from Yashili”, which emphasizes brand elements
such as “high quality” and “100% imported from New Zealand's
milk source”. The commercials were displayed via multi-dimensional
and cross-coverage of CCTV, satellite television channels as well as
popular provincial and local channels, networks and printed media.

In 2012, the Group adopted a marketing strategy which involved
an interaction between online game and offline parent-child
roadshow. A large-scaled brand promotion and marketing event
named “Experience excellent milk sources with a trip in New
Zealand” was launched across the country. Over 10 million people
directly participated in our online game while more than 8,000
offline activities which covered nearly 100 first-, second- and third-
tier cities in China were held, realizing the expansion of Yashily
brand and market penetration of its products.

The Group emphasizes continuous investment in network media
and strives for non-stop innovation in format in response to the
latest development trend in network technology. In order to
strengthen the consumers’ impression of and confidence in the
pure milk sources of Yashili, the experience trip in New Zealand of
our consumers was transmitted live via micro blog by the Group.
Moreover, the Group was the first in the milk powder industry to
open its micro blog, via which, together with its online interactive
community “Yashili's Motherland” and its official micro blog in
Sina, the Group is able to show its care to the consumers instantly.
Furthermore, it developed mobile game apps, which greatly
shortened the distance between the Group and new-generation
parents.
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In addition to market rewards and consumers confidence, the
Group gained recognition from a number of social organizations
and brand rating and research institutions with remarkable
international reputation. In 2012, the Group was once again
awarded the “2011 Most Influential Brand in China” by China
Association of National Advertisers and the “Top 500 Most Valuable
Brand in China” by the World Brand Laboratory. It also won the “Best
Annual Marketing Innovation Award” in the “First Chinese
Entertainment and Marketing Summit”.

To promote the development of maternal and child health industry
in China, the Group proactively participated in the “Seventh
National Eugenic Science Meeting”, which promoted the concept
of raising up children with eugenic science with a view to raise the
overall quality of Chinese people and realise Yashili's grand
objectives of making contributions to China. Such activities have
also injected new energy and influence to Yashily brands.

Continuous and Strict Quality Control

Adhering to its corporate objective of product quality, the Group
endeavors to build up a comprehensive quality control system for its
entire value chain from purchase to retail, and strives for continuous
improvement.

In respect of internal quality control, the Group upholds overall
quality management on every process of all products from milk
sources to final products by conducting inspection at different levels
and testing each batch of product in order to ensure product safety.
We carefully select reputable suppliers located outside China such
as Fonterra Limited to secure reliable raw milk; implement strict
inspection on raw materials and finished products according to a
stringent process control, management and inspection system with
the application of advanced inspection equipment; adopt nutritious
and safe formula for production with the use of international
leading production facilities and technologies; ensure the scientific
management of the whole supply chain from raw materials to
finished product; recruit professional and outstanding talents to
conduct production management in a highly efficient manner.
Leveraging on its strict quality control, the Group successfully
passed three regulatory assessments on system, namely HACCP,
GMP and Creditability Management System, and received
certificates with all items passed in 2012.
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Letter to Shareholders (continued)

FRRE (&)

For professional and independent monitor and inspection, in August
2010, the Group established the Food Quality and Safety
Committee, which is formed by various top experts worldwide and
responsible for conducting independent investigation and
supervision on food safety and quality control, and reports to the
Board directly. In 2012, the committee carried out inspection on
our milk powder production workshop and operation of
laboratories, and provided professional guidelines on our production
management, quality control and research and development
direction of products. Moreover, the committee enhanced the
training for the Group in respect of international food safety
standard and good operation practices, which enabled the Group’ s
food safety rules to better link up with international standards. With
the help of the committee, the Group will continue to strengthen
the exchange activities and co-operation works in food safety
programmes organized by Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation with
a view to enhancing its international vision and food safety control.

Governmental regulatory organizations have imposed more
stringent standard and quality inspection of dairy industry, in
particular infant products, which helped to purify the environment
of the dairy industry and made a positive impact on restoring
consumers’ confidence. According to the results of the monthly
random examination scheme conducted by the Administration
Centre of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine on Dairy
Products of the People’s Republic of China (BRI &M E 8 &
g0y as commissioned by the China Dairy Industry Association,
the quality of pediatric milk powder products of the Group has
been stable and reliable, which complies with the requirements
under the prevailing compulsory national standards of China.

Product Research and Development with Focus On
Premium Quality and Safety

The Group adopts the concept of “apply research and development
as well as advanced researches by generation” as its guideline. In
2012, it increased efforts on product research and development
with classification and re-planning on products of different series,
as well as adjusted product structure and optimized formulas to
enhance products’ competitiveness.
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Targeting at high-end consumers, the Group launched the Golden
Ambery series, a paediatric milk formula product, and Super
a -Golden Stage series, a milk powder product originally imported
from New Zealand, under Yashily brand. Golden Ambery series,
with the main function of promoting digestion and absorption
functionalities, provide infants with sufficient nutrition, while
reducing the possibility of diarrhea and infant constipation by
enhancing the digestion and absorption system of infants and
maintaining gastrointestinal health. The originally imported Super
a -Golden Stage series, which is a pioneer of originally imported
products under Yashily brand, adopt a formula including « -whey
protein in addition to OPO structural fats and prebiotics
combinations. With the safe and premium milk source from New
Zealand, the overall quality of this series is enhanced.

In the meantime, the Group upgraded the formula of its existing
products. In particular, we adjusted the fat content and optimized
the fatty acid structure of the products and used high quality non-
transgenic low trans-acid mixed vegetable oils. Coupled with the
adjustment on protein, vitamins and minerals, such changes make
the products achieve a feeding effect closer to maternal milk and
increase their safety standard.

As market competition for soymilk powder and cereal products is
keen, the Group enriched the favours of its soymilk powder through
the improvement in production process and formula, and
introduced a new cereal product series of five fruits, which was well
received by the market. Meanwhile, a high-end series Genuine Nuts
Cereal was also launched into the market, expanding the product
profile of the Group and strengthening its competitive edge in
products under solution category.
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Letter to Shareholders (continued)
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Future Prospects

In view of the economic development trend in the future, the paediatric
milk powder market still has plenty room for expansion. As the overall
economy of China would maintain a steady growth, it is expected that
the GDP of China may increase by over 7.5% in 2013. Per capita income
of urban and rural residents would keep rising while the faster rate of
income growth of rural residents over urban residents will persist, which
clearly shows the potential of rural market. Driven by the urbanization
development of China in 2012, the consumption and investment in
second- and third-tier cities significantly increased, and thus we expect
that the growth of paediatric food market in second- and third-tier cities
would exceed that in first-tier cities in 2013. In this regard, the Group will
continue to maintain and expand competitive edges with international
brands in second- and third-tier cities.

In 2012, China’s birth rate was higher with more than 18 million babies
born in the year of dragon. As the year 2013 is the peak period of the
fourth baby boom, we believe that the birth rate will remain at a relatively
stable level, which provides a wider platform and market for the Group to
maintain a continuous growth.

Maternal and child health is the foundation of our national strength and
the future of our nation. As a renowned domestic brand and a leading
enterprise among domestic paediatric milk powder manufacturers, Yashili
assumes the responsibility of developing maternal and child health
business in China. The Group will continue to strengthen the co-operation
with Chinese Eugenic Science Association, support the “Medical Salon on
Chinese Maternal and Child Health” and the commencement of
education activities, advocate the concept of raising up children with
eugenic science and show the commitment to promote the development
of maternal and child health industry, with an aim to realize the dream of
establishing superior Chinese milk powder brand.

In 2013, the Group will continue to focus on tasks such as exploring
marketing channels, enhancing brand building, perking up research and
development level, implementing strict control over product quality,
strengthening internal management, promoting corporate culture and
carrying forward overseas projects. We will take a proactive stance to
achieve the goals of operation management and lay a solid foundation
for sustainable development. | and my fellow colleagues of the Group will
continue to strive for more remarkable results of operation and
performance in the market in order to reward our shareholders,
consumers and the society.
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Lastly, the Group, established in 1983, will celebrate its 30th anniversary
in 2013. | hereby express my sincere gratitude to the Board and all staff
for their considerable efforts and valuable contribution. | would also like
to thank all investors and every party who care about the development
and growth of the Group for their continuous support.

Zhang Lidian

Chairman

25 March 2013

Chaozhou, Guangdong Province
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Selected Financial Data

B 22 1Y B 55 BUR

Percentage
Year ended 31 December 2012 2011 change
BZ12A310LFE BEgASLL
(All amounts in RMB million (BRESRISIEM FREEHE
unless otherwise stated) RDAR®BERTITR)
Key results FTEXE
Turnover = 3,655.1 2,957.8 +23.6%
Gross profit EF 1,961.7 1,538.3 +27.5%
Operating profit il 559.4 313.0 +78.7%
Profit attributable to equity holders AKRFIEERE A

of the Company FEAE 3 468.5 306.3 +53.0%
Net operating cash flow (Note 1) RIS 25 (M) 772.0 458.3 +68.4%
Basic earnings per share BRERAEF

(RMB cents) (Note 2) (ANR% ) (M5E2) 13.3 8.7 +52.9%
Diluted earnings per share EREERT

(RMB cents) (Note 3) (AR 5) (M5E3) 13.2 8.6 +53.5%
Proposed final dividend per share EZERRER B (ARED)

(RMB cents) 11.31 5.68 +99.1%

Net asset value per share (RMB) FRFEEBEB(AERET) 1.16 1.08 +7.4%
Proposed final dividend BEARKRE 400.3 200.1 +100.0%
Dividend payout ratio” ISR d=E 85.4% 65.3% +30.8%
Key performance ratios FTEEELE
Profitability ratios &I *E
Gross profit margin SRS 52.0%
Operating profit margin A& M A 10.6%
Net profit margin RIS 10.4%
Margin of profit attributable PRHERE A A AL

to equity holders i ) & 10.4%
Return to net asset FEEDRE 8.1%
Net profit to total asset (Note 10) FNEREEE(ME10) 6.6%
Asset ratios EELF
Current ratio (Note 4) R EN L & (FEE4) 45
Inventory turnover days (Note 5) FEAERE(MES) 149
Trade receivable turnover days (Note 6) = % J& Y 5K & 88 K 8 (M 7E6) 6
Trade payable turnover days (Note 7) & 5 JE A SR E 8E R BU(M5£7) 74
Debt to equity ratio (Note 8) BEHER X () 22.1%
Gearing ratio (Note 9) EEaELEME) 0.7%

* proposed final dividend per share of RMB11.31 cents times 3,539,215,356  * MERBRESBRARKI1319 EIN

shares, and divided by profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of 3,539,215,356 % & 17+ Br LA AR A R iR 5
RMB468,482,000. 5% F] A R ¥ 468,482,000 7T ©
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Notes:

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash
outflow generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue before dilution for
the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue after dilution for
the year.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year end.
Inventory balances at year end divided by cost of sales for the year and

multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills receivables at year end divided by turnover for
the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills payables at year end divided by cost of sales for

the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by equity attributable to total equity
holders of the Company at year end.

Total interest-bearing bank loans at year end divided by total assets at year

end.

Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.

Selected Financial Data (continued)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

EERERWED T

LA 10004 1AM DAY

Industry Overview
2012 was a year in which the global economy was still struggling.

In general, the global economy grew in 2012 but such growth remained
at low level with a significant slowdown in the economic recovery. The
world’s major economies, mainly the United States and Japan, were
lacking of recovery momentum while the growth rates of emerging
economies were slowed down, which badly hit the global real economy.
Under the backdrop of unfavorable global economic environment and
increasing downward pressure on the domestic economy, China adhered
to the economic development policy of “progress amidst stability”.
China’s economy showed a downturn in the first half of the year, but it
became stable with certain improvements in the second half. According
to the statistics of National Bureau of Statistics of China, the GDP of
China increased by 7.8% in 2012, representing a drop of 1.5 percentage
point as compared to 2011; the overall national consumer price index (CPI)
surged by 2.6% as compared to last year; total retail sales of social
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEEWED T (8)

consumer goods reached RMB20.7167 trillion, representing a nominal
growth of 14.3% from last year (real growth of 12.1% after excluding
price factors); total income per capita for urban residents of the country
was RMB26,959, while the income per capita for rural residents was
RMB7,917, representing a nominal income growth of 13.5% from last
year (real growth of 10.7% after excluding price factors); disposable
income per capita for urban residents was RMB24,565, representing a
nominal growth of 12.6% from last year (real growth of 9.6% after
excluding price factors). In view of the fact that the growth rate of per
capita income for rural residents exceeded that for urban residents, the
potential of rural market is increasingly significant.

In respect of our industry, 2012 was a year of significant transition for the
development of China dairy industry. In general, the transition from
pursuance of extensive growth in quantity to focus on perking up quality
efficiency; and from extraordinary and disorderly development to steady
and ordered growth accelerated in the dairy industry. China’s dairy
industry was facing challenges as well as opportunities at the same time.

Bl R R A48 A26,9597L A R
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

In regard to the challenges, the climbing CPI index and general increase
in commodities prices in China during 2012 continuously pushed up the
production cost of milk powder, and accordingly boosted the purchase
price of raw milk. Nevertheless, due to higher growth rates of costs and
expenses than that of price, more and more individual market players
were forced to retreat from dairy cows raising industry, directly pushing
up the domestic raw milk powder price which led to an imbalance
between demand and supply of upstream raw milk. Amidst the high level
of raw milk and milk-based raw material prices, the price drop of dairy
supply in international market during 2012, which directly stimulated a
significant and continuous growth in the import of dairy products to
China, was even more influential. Whole milk powder and skimmed milk
powder were particularly affected and the import volume once again hit
a record high. As a result, dairy processing companies which purchase
raw materials in China are facing huge pressure on cost and their
competitiveness in the market was eroded to a certain extent. In
consideration of the price of domestic raw milk powder supply and the
effect on consumer confidence in products with domestic milk source of
Chinese consumers, China’s dairy companies began to speed up
international acquisitions and mergers, purchase milk sources from
overseas and move their processing operation to foreign countries in
order to enhance the competitiveness of the company and their products.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

In regard to the opportunities, the PRC government intensified its efforts
in industry regulation and control during 2012. From the point of view of
the dairy processing industry, with the approval and issue of new
production operation permit, small and medium sized enterprises which
are not competitive enough gradually left the market, resulting in a more
orderly dairy processing industry. Moreover, as competitions became
more regulated and orderly in the dairy industry, the proportion of
marketing fee to total cost dropped slightly and the profitability of the
dairy processing industry increased, which all relieved the pressure from
the surging production cost to a certain extent. Meanwhile, governmental
regulatory organizations in China strengthened their efforts on
supervision and inspection on the dairy industry, in particular infant
products, which helped to improve the environment of the dairy industry
and made a positive impact on restoring consumers’ confidence. In
addition, driven by the urbanization policy implemented by China in
2012, the consumption and investment in second- and third-tier cities
significantly increased and led to a considerable growth of consumption
in those cities during the year. Furthermore, statistics showed that there
were more than 18 million newborn babies in 2012, the year of dragon
in the Chinese tradition, representing a net increase of 2 million babies
compared to the preceding year and marking a baby boom which creates
a favorable environment and condition for the industry to achieve sales
growth. According to the statistics from Nielsen, the sales amount and
sales volume of the paediatric milk powder industry (including maternity
channels) in 2012 increased by 15.1% and 4.2% respectively, the
increase in sales amount was mainly due to the increase in volume of
high-end pricing products.

Corporate Profile

Established in 1983, we mainly focus on the production and sales of
paediatric milk formula products and nutrition food since 1998. In 2002,
we launched the Scient brand paediatric milk formula. Our headquarters
is situated in Chaozhou, Guangdong province with plants distributed in
Guangdong, Shanxi and Heilongjiang, etc. Our plants in New Zealand and
Zhengzhou are currently under preparation and construction.

EEEWED T (8)
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

We are a leading player in China’s paediatric milk formula industry, and
also have a leading position in the soymilk powder market in China. Our
business mode integrates high brand recognition, imported premium
dairy raw materials and proprietary formula, and the unwavering
commitment to establish a high standard of quality supervision and
quality assurance system. For aspects such as supply, production and
distribution channels, quality control measures are improved continuously
in the pursuit of becoming a first-class enterprise in the research and
production of paediatric milk formula. We strictly follow the national
standard to formulate a comprehensive quality assurance plan, which is
fully implemented in the corporate level, and strive to provide the
consumers with safe and premium products.

We have two well recognized brands, under which various pediatric milk
products targeting different consumer segments were sold. We also sell
four types of nutrition food, namely soymilk powder and paediatric rice
flour under Yashily brand, cereal under Zhengwei brand as well as milk
powder for adults and teenagers under Youyi brand.

Business Highlights

Leveraging on the product series under well recognized brands such as
Yashily, Scient, Zhengwei and Youyi, we strive to develop trustworthy
nutrition products for consumers, with a view to facilitate the healthy
growth of infants and young children nationwide and satisfy the nutrition
needs of adults. Our business mode integrates key factors including
imported premium dairy raw materials, proprietary milk formula,
advanced production system and professional marketing team with
thorough knowledge on local consumer market, thereby providing all
consumers with products of assurance.

1. Introduction by Products
*  Paediatric milk formula products

We mainly develop paediatric milk formula products to satisfy
the health and nutrition needs of infants and young children
during daily feeding. Such products can serve as a major
source of nutrition for infants and young children in auxiliary
to breast milk. All of our branded paediatric milk formula
products are mainly produced by imported premium raw
materials procured from New Zealand. We are devoted to
develop the milk formula with the most ideal nutrition mix to
closely cater to the needs of infants and young children
during different stages of their growth and development.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

The Group has established different paediatric milk formula
product lines aiming at target customers of different
consumption levels. The Group launched Super «-Golden
Stage series originally imported milk powder from New
Zealand, paediatric milk formula serial products in Golden
Ambery brand under Yashily and Merla brand under Scient,
which possess quality nutrition and target at consumers in
high-end market. The Group's core products, Yashily a-Golden
series and Scient Golden series, mainly focus on middle to
high-end consumer groups, while Yashily’s Newwitt series
and Scient’s Ordinary Pack Series mainly focus on middle-end
consumer groups. Yashily’s New Formula series mainly focuses
on low to middle-end consumer groups.

e Nutrition food

We also sell four types of nutrition food, namely milk powder
for adults and teenagers under Youyi brand, soymilk powder,
rice flour and cereal under Yashily brand and cereal series
under Zhengwei brand. These products include products with
different nutritional combinations to suit special needs of
consumers and products suitable for ordinary people. In 2012,
we launched several new products, namely Five Fruits Cereal
and high-end series Genuine Nuts Cereal.

Marketing and Channel Management

We sell our products via a comprehensive national sales and
distribution network, which covers all regions within mainland
China. The milk powder sales network comprises of over 1,500
regional distributors, who directly or indirectly further distribute our
products to over 105,000 retail outlets, including supermarkets,
department stores, maternal and child specialty stores and large
membership chain supermarkets as well as grocery stores, among
which we have made remarkable achievements in maternity and
child channel development in 2012. Currently, we sell our milk
powder products in 20,000 stores, which has effectively enlarged
our market share in this channel, bringing new growth points for
the Group’s performance. Our extensive milk powder distribution
network is formed by more than 2,600 marketing staff under the
support of over 800 liaison locations.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

We have implemented a stringent system of sales management and
an efficient incentive scheme to continuously attract and motivate
capable distributors and staff to increase our revenue and market
share. Our stringent control over our distribution network ensures
that all distributors manage sales and customer contacts in their
designated sales territories according to our distribution policy and
sales strategy. Our effective product tracking system, in which a
unique two-dimensional bar code is marked on each packaging
unit, allows us to track the information about product quality as
well as the details and movement of every finished product, and
effectively prevent distributors conducting cross-territory sales. Over
our long operating history, by providing our distributors with an
effective system of sales management and superior sales and
distribution network, we have been able to develop a stable
network of distributors and establish close partnerships. Over 40%
of our distributors had maintained a business relationship with us
for over five years, of which some even span for more than 20
years. Meanwhile, the Group has built up an information
management platform under EMP system through which we handle
fees application and usage as well as budget control and
performance indicative management, logistic distribution, sales data
and inventory management of each level, hierarchical structure of
organization and sales sub-division management. The platform has
effectively promoted a meticulous management of marketing,
thereby laying a basic system for us to maintain a more refined
marketing management.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

To provide more detailed and better services for the market and
realize professionalism in our operation, in 2011, the Group had
conducted the reconstruction and division of the marketing
structure to form different departments, namely the milk powder
business department, brewed food business department, liquid
business department and nutrition department. In 2012, a relatively
satisfying result was achieved, while significant improvement was
also recorded for various management indicators. Currently, the
milk powder business department is mainly responsible for the
operations related to paediatric milk powder, rice flour and milk
powder for adults; the brewed food business department is mainly
responsible for the operations related to soy milk powder and
cereal; the liquid business department is mainly responsible for the
development and sales of new liquid products; and the nutrition
department is mainly responsible for the advertisement and
promotion of products and the nutrition contents by cooperating
with Chinese Eugenic Science Association, and has organized more
than 20 events under “Medical Salon on Chinese Maternal and
Child Health” across the country with the participation of over 10
thousands maternal and child medical and nursery personnel, and
commenced more than 1,000 consumer education activities to
enhance the interaction with consumers and promote and spread
the knowledge on eugenic birth, nursing and education of children
and infants.

Strict Quality Control

We are dedicated to creating and continuously improving a
comprehensive system of quality control spanning across the entire
value chain from procurement to retail sales. As dairy material is the
key ingredient in paediatric milk formula, we have carefully selected
reputable suppliers located outside China such as Fonterra Limited
and Synlait Milk Limited, to secure reliable and high-quality raw
materials. Even for daily inspection, the Group’s headquarters as
well as all subsidiaries spend a tremendous amount every year for
comprehensively introducing various advanced inspection
equipment including High Performance Liquid Chromatography and
Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer. The Company implements
strict inspection on its own for every sampled batch. The number of
samples for each batch of products is no less than 5 and 64 kinds
of inspection are carried out for each batch of milk powder. With
inspections at different levels, safety could be ensured and quality
production of products is conducted in accordance with
international standards.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

We insist that the quality management of all products shall follow
the five principles below from milk sources to final products in the
process of production and management: (1) procure premium
imported dairy raw materials and impose strict raw materials
reception management; (2) adopt comprehensive and reasonable
nutritious and safe formula for production and use international
leading production facilities; (3) impose stringent procedure for
quality management, strict inspection system and use advanced and
excellent inspection equipment; (4) strictly ensure the scientific
management of the whole supply chain from raw materials to
production and from inspection to distribution; and (5) continuously
attract outstanding talents to conduct production management in a
highly efficient manner.

In August 2010, the Group was the first to establish the Food
Quality and Safety Committee, which is formed by various experts
worldwide and reports to the Board directly. The Committee is a
supervisory entity on food safety, and six top and authoritative
experts covering academic fields such as food researches, dairy
industry researches, food supervision, micro-organism and physical
and chemical researches as well as paediatric nutrition from the
United States, New Zealand, Australia, China and Hong Kong were
employed. The Committee introduced an industry-leading operation
mode, offered strategic guidance on relevant standards and
procedures of the Group, provided industry information related to
food safety and quality control and assessed the quality control
system of the Group. As such, it is ensured that the Group’s quality
and safety management structure is in line with the top level
around the world. The Committee could also conduct independent
investigation on the Group’s quality and safety structure at any
time.

During 2012, the Committee reviewed the operation of milk
powder workshops and laboratories, and offered professional
advices on the Group's production management, quality control
and direction of product research and development. In addition, the
Committee also strived to guide the Group on participating in more
training in respect of international food safety standards and
excellent operation regulations to ensure that its food safety rules
are in tandem with international standards. The Committee will
help the Group to participate in food safety programmes and
activities organised by Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation
continuously and actively with a view to enhance its international
vision and food safety control.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

In December 2012, Guangdong Yashili Group Co., Ltd. (“Yashili
(Guangdong)”) successfully passed three systems of supervision,
namely HACCP, GMP and Creditability Management System,
without failing any items.

According to the results of the “monthly random examination
scheme” conducted by the Administration Centre of Quality
Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine on Dairy Products of the
People’s Republic of China (BRI EDBESEEKRBHAL) as
commissioned by the China Dairy Industry Association, the quality
of paediatric milk powder products of the Group has been stable
and reliable, which complies with the requirements under the
prevailing compulsory national standards of China.

Enhancement of Brand Building
It is always the Group’s mission and objective to continuously
undergo brand building and enhance the value of brand assets.

In this regard, the Group, adhering to its belief in the “synergies of
the advanced technology in health care and the concept of love”,
strives for premium milk sources, professional production and
services. It also carefully selected spokespersons with healthy images
to make new commercials in New Zealand for our milk powder with
a new brand promotion slogan, “Genuine New Zealand, Love from
Yashili”, which emphasizes brand elements such as “high quality”
and “100% imported from New Zealand’'s milk source”. The
commercials were displayed via multi-dimensional and cross-
coverage of CCTV, satellite television channels as well as popular
provincial and local channels, networks and printed media in order
to greatly raise the awareness and reputation of Yashily brand.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EIEE 5w B AT ()

The Group has imported 100% of its milk sources since 2010. In
2012, two seasons of a large series and brand promotion and
marketing activity named “Experience excellent milk sources with a
trip in New Zealand”, a campaign combining online game and
offline parent-child roadshow with the aim of more directly
conveying the message that all of our paediatric milk powder comes
from premium milk source in New Zealand to the consumers, were
organized in the national market. Over 10 million people directly
participated in our online game while more than 8,000 large-scale
outdoor parent-child roadshows which covered nearly 100 first-,
second- and third-tier cities in China were held. In order to allow
our consumers to feel the purity and quality of milk source from
New Zealand, the Group invited several dozens of winners from the
national activity to travel to New Zealand where they visited the
world’s top dairy farms and production bases of premium milk
source, thereby building confidence in Yashily brand and our
products.

In respect of new media, the Group emphasizes on continuous
investment in network media and strives for non-stop innovation in
format in response to the latest trend in network technology.
Moreover, the experience trip in New Zealand of our consumers
was transmitted live via micro blog by the Group in order to
strengthen the consumers’ impression of and confidence in the
pure milk sources of Yashili. In addition, the Group was the first in
the milk powder industry to open its micro blog, via which, together
with its online interactive community “Yashili’'s Motherland” and its
official micro blog in Sina, the Group is able to show its care to the
consumers instantly. Furthermore, it developed mobile game apps,
which greatly shortened the distance between the Group and new-
generation parents.

In addition to market rewards and consumers’ confidence, the
Group gained recognition from a number of social organizations
and brand rating and research institutions with remarkable
international reputation. In 2012, the Group was once again
awarded the “2011 Most Influential Brand in China” by China
Association of National Advertisers. It also won the “Top 500 Most
Valuable Brand in China” issued by the World Brand Laboratory and
the “Best Annual Marketing Innovation Award” in the “First
Chinese Entertainment and Marketing Summit”.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

We strongly believe that maternal and child health is the foundation
of our national strength and the future of our nation. As a
renowned domestic brand and a leading enterprise among
domestic paediatric milk powder manufacturers, Yashili assumes
the responsibility of developing maternal and child health business
in China. In May 2012, the Group co-organised the “Seventh
National Eugenic Science Meeting” in Lanzhou, China, which
promoted the concept of raising up children with eugenic science
with a view to raise the overall quality of Chinese people and realise
Yashili's grand objectives of making contributions to China. Such
activities have also injected new energy and influence to Yashily
brands.

Improvement in Research and Development Level

The Group adopts the concept of “apply research and development
as well as advanced researches by generation” as its guideline. In
2012, it increased efforts on product improvement, research and
development with classification and re-planning on products of
different series, as well as adjusted product structure and optimized
formulas to enhance products’ competitiveness.

In regard to new high-end product research and development:
targeting at high-end consumers, the Group launched the Golden
Ambery series, a paediatric milk formula product, and Super
a -Golden Stage series, a milk powder product originally imported
from New Zealand, under Yashily brand. The ingredients of the
Golden Ambery series, with the key function of promoting digestion
and absorption functionalities, mainly include OPO structural fats,
a -whey protein and prebiotics combinations, and is positioned as a
high-end paediatric milk formula in the Chinese market. The
product provides infants with sufficient nutrition, while reducing
the possibility of diarrhea and infant constipation by enhancing the
digestion and absorption system of infants and maintaining
gastrointestinal health. The originally imported Super « -Golden
Stage series, which is a pioneer of originally imported products
under Yashily brand, demonstrated the implementation of the
Group's internationalized product strategy. The product adopts a
formula including a -whey protein in addition to OPO structural fats
and prebiotics combinations. With the safe and premium milk
source from New Zealand, the overall quality of this series is
enhanced.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

Meanwhile, in regard to the optimization of existing products: the
Group upgraded the formula of its existing products. In particular,
we adjusted the fat content and optimized the fatty acid structure
of the product and used high quality non-transgenic low trans-acid
mixed vegetable oils. Coupled with the adjustment on protein,
vitamin and minerals, such changes make the products achieve a
feeding effect closer to maternal milk and increase their safety
standard.

The research on relevant products such as special paediatric milk
powder, fruit and vegetable milk powder and liquid milk for
children is in progress. We will promote and sell those products step
by step depending on market demand.

An extra-milk series of paediatric rice flour formula, which provides
more nutrients to infants by adding milk protein to the original
formula as a supplementary food, has been newly launched.
Moreover, we are carrying out a research on a brand new high-
protein series of paediatric rice flour and such product is expected
to be launched in 2013.

To improve the overall quality of milk powder for adults under
Yashily brand, we replaced the original oligofructose with inulin, a
natural dietary fiber, and refined the formula by adjusting the
proportion of protein, fats, vitamins and minerals to the level which
more satisfies the needs of consumers.

As market competition for soymilk powder and cereal products is
keen, the Group enriched the favours of its soymilk powder through
the improvement in production process and formula, and
introduced a new product named Five Fruits Cereal, which received
high acclaim in our internal and internet assessments. Meanwhile, a
high-end series Genuine Nuts Cereal was also launched into the
market, expanding the product profile of the Group and
strengthening its competitive edge in products under solution
category.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Business Prospects

Influence of Policies

In recent years, a series of policies and systems in respect of the
paediatric milk powder market was promulgated by the Chinese
authorities in order to establish and improve the national standard
for safety of dairy products, and eliminate substandard small and
medium sized enterprises. Large scale dairy enterprises will enjoy
competitive strength in terms of the number of brands as a corollary
of industrial modernization facilitated by the State.

The high standards and rigorous requirements of the paediatric milk
powder industry, together with the strict enforcement and
supervision by the authorities in China, guarantee a more orderly
operation and quality control of the industry. Under the new
national standard, the production and competition environments of
the domestic paediatric milk powder industry have been improved
while the Consumer Confidence Index has gradually rebounded.

Industry Trend

China will continue to maintain a steady growth in GDP and the
disposable income per capita will increase as well. The Consumer
Confidence Index will stay at relatively high level. Thanks to the
increasing demand in the high-end market, the growth of the high-
end paediatric milk powder will surpass the overall growth level of
the entire dairy products category, making the high-end series
products key drivers of the Group’s profitability and brand image.

It is expected that the birth rate will remain high during 2013 and
China will face the fourth baby boom in the following years. The
paediatric dairy market of China will maintain an average growth of
15% in the next three to five years. Along with the acceleration of
industrialization and urbanization in China, the urban market has
gradually become a mechanism to allocate labour resources and
this has made the large-scale migration of people between cities
more obvious. It is a basic responsibility of large domestic milk
powder enterprises, like our Group, to feed children left behind in
more than 40,000 towns.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EIEE 5w B AT ()

In 2012, the transaction amount of online shopping in China was
over RMB1.3 trillion and it is expected to surge 220% by 2014, far
higher than the growth rate of 4% of the real consumption market.
In particular, the transaction volume of online shopping in second-
and third-tier cities increased significantly compared to that in first-
tier cities.

The consumption and investment in second- and third-tier cities
were greatly driven by the urbanization policy implemented by the
State in 2012. Looking into the future of the pediatric milk powder
sales market, instead of international chain stores, which no longer
enjoy their monopolistic advantage in the paediatric milk powder
market in the future, the maternal and child stores have become
important retail outlets of paediatric milk powder. The increase in
number of new maternal and child stores is particularly fast in
second- and third-tier cities, providing a wider sales platform for the
Group, which has built a solid sales foundation in those cities.

Corporate Strategies

In 2013, the Group, in consideration of the influence of policies and
the change of the industry trend, will adopt more active and
effective strategies for development, maintain the efficient
exploration of sales channels, intensify its efforts in brand building,
continue to enhance the quality control level and strengthen its
research and development capabilities. We will also continue to
capture more market shares and increase our overall profitability in
order to develop into a stronger and bigger company. Our major
initiatives will be as follow:

—  Maintain efficient exploration of sales channels

In 2013, the Group will continue to undergo market
segmentation according to target customer groups. We will
reinforce our efforts in securing international outlets in first-
and second-tier cities while maintaining our competitive edge
in third- and fourth-tier cities. We will further consolidate and
boost up the sales of single store while increasing our market
coverage. The Group will endeavor to explore and improve
the maternal and child channels and electronic commerce,
and actively adopt new marketing models such as network
marketing to understand new shopping habits and psychology
of consumers. Leveraging on the extensive network coverage,
more young consumers in second-, third- and fourth-tier cities
will be allowed to participate in our online activities for any
products.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

The Group will adopt a more active and effective sales
strategy for its products, and strengthen and optimize its
product profile in 2013. To provide premium and safe
products which fulfill the requirements of every class, we will
take a proactive stance to launch ultra high-end and high-end
products on the foundation of the effective promotion of
middle- and high-end products, and will also increase our
penetration rate of middle-end products with affordable price
in rural markets. We will intensify our efforts in the promotion
of "milk source imported from New Zealand” by improving
the sales and marketing activities with a view to boosting up
our sales volume.

In 2013, the Group will continue to strengthen the
management of distributors and policy enforcement, and
monitor and control the procurement, sale and inventory of
products in the channels with the application of the system
software. Moreover, thanks to the real-time connection
between our professional sales team and extensive sales
guidance system, we would provide more accurate services
and management for the distributors to ensure that our
products can be quickly circulated, penetrated and promoted.

Following the division and reorganization of different
departments, in 2013, the Group will continue to enhance
the management level of our internal sales team and build up
organizational functionality by carrying out a more meticulous
and accurate team management of the milk powder business
segment, developing and expanding the team of brewed
drink business segment and improving the level of
professional services offered by our team in nutrition
department. In addition, we will establish competitive
incentive and assessment management scheme and provide
competitive remuneration package in order to boost up the
growth of sales and achieve better performance in the
market.

Enhance brand building
Competition on branding is the comprehensive competition
on quality management and influence of brand. In 2013, to
maintain the continuous increase in sales of existing products,
the Group will keep upholding its core brand image of “100%
pure, confidence and love”.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

In respect of traditional media, we will increase our
investment in promotion by placing advertisements on CCTV,
a major television broadcast platform with quality resources,
together with various popular television channels to promote
our Super a-Golden Stage series, originally imported high-end
products from New Zealand.

In respect of on-ground promotion which combines online
and offline activities, we will continue to hold parent-child
activities across the country. Our target is to increase the
number of events by 30% in order to enrich the customer
experience through face-to-face communication with the
consumers.

In respect of new media, we will increase investment and
continue to expand interactive activities by consolidating our
efforts in marketing, development of mobile apps about
breeding, and innovative promotion via online videos to
increase the influence of Yashily brand amongst new-
generation parents.

In respect of promotion of professional image, we will
continue our basic maternal and child support by hiring more
experts to share experiences relating to eugenics and quality
education, breast feeding, early education and international
innovative technology with the general maternal and child
medical and nursery personnel and consumers and provide
relevant training to enhance our professional brand image.

In 2013, to enhance a sense of intimacy of our brand, the
Group will continue to select celebrities with healthy images
to be our spokespersons. We will also keep increasing our
own professional organizational capability to implement a
harmonious, predictable and convincing advertising campaign
which involves the promotion and broadcast, formulation,
optimization, execution and assessment of the brand by
means of advertisements, sales promotion, marketing events,
packaging and network media which would help to establish
our brand image. As a result, every promotion and marketing
activities will be connected and united with each other and
this could deepen the target consumers’ impression to our
brand. Through the above measures and strategies, we could
send our brand connotation to the consumers, accumulate
brand assets and enhance brand reputation.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Upgrading the level of quality control

The Group will continue to strengthen the management of
product quality, provide high quality, safe and premium
products to consumers by the four major security systems
which are 100% imported milk, international quality food
safety commission, a state-level group of parenting specialists
and the adoption of strict national and international
standards. The Group will continue to carry out strict quality
supervision on all products, which covers inspection on milk
sources to finished products. We also conduct stringent
testing on every steps of the whole supply chain spanning
from purchase to manufacture and to circulation to ensure
that the Group’s products achieve 100% pass rate and to
guarantee the freshness of our products.

At the same time, the Group will continue to actively
participate in international activities and projects that are
conductive to the enhancement of product quality and safety.
The Group will be in line with international standard to raise
the level of the Group’s food safety control. The Group will
also continue to strengthen the cooperation with the third-
party independent authorities, and supervision and inspection
departments, in order to promote the healthy and orderly
development of China’s entire dairy industry.

Enhancing product research and development and
promotion of new products

With the research and development strategy of “apply
research and development as well as advanced researches by
generation”, in 2013, the Group will continue to strengthen
the investment in product research and development,
consolidate and perfect the product structure, enhance the
production technology and optimize the product formula, in
order to provide China’s customers with more higher quality
and safer product series.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EIEE 5w B AT ()

The Group will make a strong push into the liquid-form
nutritious drinks industry in the second half year of 2013,
orienting to middle-high-end high plant protein drinks. The
Group is now conducting activities such as market research,
product research and development, packaging design,
advertising plans and promotion strategies in accordance with
the listing plans. With the launch of subsequently relevant
work, liquid-form nutritious drinks industry will certainly
become a new growth point of the Group.

Strengthening of overseas construction projects

In 2013, while adhering to the policy of importing premium
dairy raw materials, the Group will also strengthen the
construction process and progress of the New Zealand factory
project. The Group will continue to consolidate and expand
the competitive advantages over other manufacturers of
pediatric milk formula in China, ceaselessly integrate
international resources to reinforce the product quality and
safety, and strive to develop the Group into an
internationalized, professionalized and standardized
international enterprise.

Strengthening the performance evaluation management
The Group will continue to strengthen the implementation
and management of internal target budget in 2013, with
effective incentives to raise the achievement rate of the
budget. The Group will also continue to foster detailed
management on internal organizations to strengthen the
formulation and implementation of the team’s Key
Performance Indicators. In order to meet the Group’s
management indicators and achieve the Group's sales targets,
the indicator of process management will be linked directly to
the salaries and bonuses of the executive team members to
boost morale of the team and improve the execution ability.

@ Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Management system

In 2012, all departments under the Group have realised our spirit of fully
raising management capabilities in a serious and thorough manner,
optimising the structure of production capacity, raising economic
effectiveness and realising the sustainable and healthy development of
our internal management. Specific measures included: deepen the
understanding of staff and strengthen their “mastery” awareness, so that
they would be conscious of maintaining the reputation and brand of our
Group and thus strengthen the fundamental protection of our
development; clearly determine the mode to continue to promote the
construction and implementation of our ERP system, as well as enhance
every aspects of fundamental management; realise a relatively rapid
growth of business scale via detailed deployment and innovative
operation; adjust structure and unify the pace to foster the co-ordination
and development of all departments in unity; solidify foundation and raise
the management and control capabilities of the Group over all
departments and subsidiaries; strengthen the support to create a better
atmosphere for development.

Public Relations and Crisis Management

With the maintenance of an active and effective means of promotion, we
disseminate relevant information to external parties in a public and
transparent manner. We also maintain good communication with all
promotion departments and authorities to update the latest company
information on a timely basis, as well as take an active role in participating
in various social welfare and charitable events.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

We have internally established a set of complete risk management
methods and response mechanism, and address complaints from
consumers and issues concerned by the media via our risk management
centre in a timely and accurate manner. Meanwhile, we are highly
concerned about possible problems reflected by the market, and provide
good service to consumers in advance to prevent the occurrence of risks.
We have established a news centre to pay serious attention to the trend
and news of the industry as well as the issues raised by the media, in
order to respond to any incidents of the industry in a timely manner. We
eliminated negative impacts and maintained a well-recognised reputation
in the industry through the effective communication with and
dissemination of information to the public and media.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2012, the Group has a total of 5,929 full-time
employees. The total employee cost for the year was approximately
RMB313.7 million (2011: RMB246.3 million). The increment in total
employee cost was mainly due to the increase in head count, average
salary and expenses on social insurance.

We place high concern on the motivation of staff, and have established
and maintained a performance review system based on staff's
performance and competence and remuneration incentive system, which
matches employee’s income positively with personal effectiveness. We
provide guidance on staff’'s career development and improvement in
capabilities, together with basic salary and basic incentives such as
performance-based bonus, welfare and benefits as well as long-term
incentive of share option schemes, to attract and retain more outstanding
talents.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Upholding the concept that “talents are the most invaluable asset of the
Company”, the Group formulates middle and long term human resources
planning in accordance with its needs on strategic development in the
future, while fosters the building of its pools of talents and provides elites
with systematic and specific nurturing plans. The Group also continues to
promote the optimisation of its training system, and will commence the
construction of the Corporate University of Yashili, with an aim to
establish a strong and industry-leading talent development system in line
with its future corporate development.

The Group also strives to deepen the establishment of corporate culture,
and has started to streamline its corporate culture and concept, with an
aim to fully utilise its functions of soft power via the establishment of core
culture and sharing of value and objectives, matching of strategies as well
as guidance on the establishment of corporate system and human
resources structure. The Group will motivate and encourage its staff and
build up a professional team with passion and pursuit of excellence,
which will in turn enhance the overall operation efficiency of the
enterprise, staff loyalty as well as overall profitability.

Corporate Governance and Investor Relations

The Group considers that the effective communication with shareholders,
investors and prospective investors is the essential element for enhancing
investor relations and allowing investors to understand the business
performance and strategies of the Group. The Group maintains good
communication and exchanges with investors through various channels
and means such as on-site receptions, telephone conferences and non-
trade roadshows, etc.

To foster effective communication, we have set up a website
(www . yashili.hk) available for public perusal, which contains the latest
information on our financial information, practices on corporate
governance and other data.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EIEE 5w B AT ()

Corporate Citizen and Social Responsibilities

As a domestic leading dairy product enterprise, the Group has a very high
sense of social responsibilities, and performs corporate social
responsibilities in an active and passionate manner when developing the
enterprise. During the period, the Group has donated cash to charities in
“Poverty Alleviation Day in Guangdong”, donated quality dairy products
and cash to China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation in “World Milk
Day”, and also distributed financial support and materials to the poor and
handicapped in Chaozhou in the “National Assistance to Poor and
Handicapped Day”. The Group established the “Scholarships for Students
and Teachers of Anbu Primary School (FEiE/NEHZEAHE204)" after the
construction of the new school building of Chaoan Anbu Primary School (%
% fEi8 /NE2) was completed. Moreover, the Group also donated materials
to underprivileged students in Chaoan in the “Care Package Project —
Dream Realization 2012 (B0 B 2RTH B [B|222012 K8 A %55 %))", a large-
scale charity activity, donated materials to the “Sun Village” in Beijing,
and donated cash and materials to the mothers and their children living
in the mountain areas in Zhenghe County, Fujian during a visit.

Scient (Guangzhou) Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd (“Scient (Guangzhou)”)
has mitigated the milk powder shortage of the Institute of Welfare in
Guangxi (EPa#EFIfT) by donating milk powder products through
Guangxi Charity Federation (EF5#&&42€) and donating materials and
cash to the Project 120 Maternal and Infant Health (8122F 2212018 8)
organised by China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation. Scient (Guangzhou)
was awarded the “Poverty Alleviation and Care Award 2012 (20124 &
KRB E.0H)” by China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation.

In 2012, the Group donated money and materials with a total value of
over RMB3.9 million (2011: RMB2.0 million) to charitable initiatives.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Financial Review BY % B B8

Turnover WA
For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group's revenue amounted & ZE2012F 12A31MB L EE - KEB 2 W
to RMB3,655.1 million (2011: RMB2,957.8 million), representing a 23.6%  AE AR #3,655.1H & L (20115 : AR

increase compared to the preceding year. 29578B &) RAFHER23.6% °
Revenue breakdown by brand and product category RRERERENE 2 2WA
2012 2011 Percentage
RMB million RMB million change
ARBBEBRT ARBEERT L)L
Yashily paediatric milk formula R4 BB
products 2,478.3 1,825.5 35.8%
Scient paediatric milk formula BN FE M
products 653.4 608.6 7.4%
Nutrition products Z2ERMm 489.4 4733 3.4%
Others H 1 34.0 50.4 -32.5%
Total HEt 3,655.1 2,957.8 23.6%

For the year ended 31 December 2012, sales revenue from our Yashily # E2012F 12 A318 L FE - L5 & &
paediatric milk formula products amounted to RMB2,478.3 million (2011: BHRE AN ERERBEE R AARE
RMB1,825.5 million), representing an increase of 35.8% from last year, 2,478 3B &L (20114 : ARM1,82558 8
which was mainly attributable to overall growth of sales volume boosted  7T) ' 8 E F# K358% R ETZR A K
by the successful sales strategies. Sales revenue from our Scient paediatric WK E RN BN HEE N BEL K

milk formula amounted to RMB653.4 million (2011: RMB608.6 million), 1 % & &4 h% 88 4) 52 AL 5 40 #3 72= & BN & 38 4%
representing an increase of 7.4% from last year. Growth momentum of & U A A R#65348 & L2014 : AR
Scient brand was mainly contributed to the launch of Merla series into ¥ 608.6 B&T) * AL EFIBR74% K
market in the middle of 2012. BHEZERFER20NFFHRELTISIE

mERLRT -

For the year ended 31 December 2012, sales revenue from our nutriton & £2012F12A31BILFE ¥ E R ME
products amounted to RMB489.4 million (2011: RMB473.3 million), R E W A AR K489.4F & L (20114 :
representing an increase of 3.4% from last year, which was mainly dueto  AR#¥4733 B &) R EFIER3.4% * 1%
the growth in sales revenue from oatmeal and milk powder for adults KX ERERMHF KL MmN E A
driven by the growth in market demand. INRBAZRTITHEHERARNIER -
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEEWED T (F)

Revenue from other products decreased from RMB50.4 million in 2011 to  H fth & R W A 52011 E A R #5048 & 7T
RMB34.0 million in 2012, mainly due to the decrease in the sales of HZEARK340EE T TEHRNFBEREM

surplus raw material.

Revenue by city tiers
—  Yashily paediatric milk formula

First-tier cities™ — R mY
Second-tier cities® R
Third-tier cities and others® —EEM T R EMO
Total st

—  Scient paediatric milk formula

First-tier cities” — W mY
Second-tier cities® B
Third-tier cities and others® ZERMm T R EMO
Total 5

B ERD -
B mHARBE D 2 WA
— BIFREYZET T
2012 2011 Percentage
RMB million RMB million change
ARBAER AREBETT ZE) L fl
313.6 263.2 19.1%
1,108.9 930.8 19.1%
1,055.8 631.5 67.2%
2,478.3 1,825.5 35.8%
— WBREYZET TG
2012 2011 Percentage
RMB million RMB million change
ARBEERT AR¥KEBETR Al
64.5 2.3%
437.5 -0.1%
106.6 41.0%
608.6 7.4%

(1) Includes direct-controlled municipalities, provincial capital cities and capital (1) B#FdR- - L& EMN -EF BERAR
#

cities of autonomous regions such as Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,

Chongging, Nanchang and Shijiazhuang.

FEEM - HEEUTRERRERN -

2)  Includes prefecture-level cities such as Dongguan, Nanyang, Jijiang and (2) BERZE - m@ - UL REILSFMHAT -

Foshan.

(3)  Includes county-level cities such as Jinjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou, Kunshan (3) BHFEEZHI  E£ .

and Luohe.

=M Bl KOROA & 8

The above sales are classified based on the tier of the cities where the — _E it §8 & 52 DA 45 §5 % 55 ffft BT 72 10 55 18 /9

distributors are registered.

MR RIE D #) -

Boosted by the successful sales strategies, sales for both Yashily and I HEE R B T - L5 KR

Scient paediatric milk formula reported growth.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

In 2012, the Group has further expanded its distribution channel
downward. Some of the third-tier and other markets covered by
distributors in first and second-tier cities are operated by local distributors.
In addition, Yashily and Scient brand have stronger market advantage in
third-tier and other level of cities, where both brands achieved growth
rate of over 40% in third-tier cities and cities of other tiers.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2012,the Group recorded gross profit of
RMB1,961.7 million (2011: RMB1,538.3 million), representing an increase
of 27.5% from last year, and gross profit margin was 53.7% (2011:
52.0%). In order to push the further development of the market, more
sales discount has been granted by the Group. On the other hand, the
optimization of product structure and the decrease in the average cost of
raw milk powder during the year positively improved the profit margin.
Due to the combined effects, gross profit margin grew by 1.7%
compared with last year.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group has incurred selling
and distribution expenses of RMB1,222.7 million (2011: RMB1,061.9
million), representing an increase of 15.1% from last year, which was
mainly due to the increase in salary, social security fees, expenses in sales
promoters and promotion expenses. Although the sales revenue grew by
23.6%, while selling and distribution cost increased by only 15.1%. The
ratio of selling and distribution cost over revenue decreased to 33.5% (2011:
35.9%), among which advertisement expenses incurred in 2012 was
lower than that of 2011, positively driving down the selling and
distribution cost ratio over revenue.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2012, administrative expenses
amounted to RMB202.1 million (2011: RMB185.5 million), representing
an increase of 8.9% from last year, which was mainly due to the increase
in salary, social security fees and taxes expenses.

Net finance income

For the year ended 31 December 2012, net finance income amounted to
RMB86.9 million (2011: RMB62.4 million). The growth was primarily due
to the increase in investment income during the year and gain from fair
value changes from the wealth management products with capital
preservation as at 31 December 2012.

Income tax expense

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group has provided income
tax expense of RMB175.9 million (2011: RMB67.0 million), and the
effective income tax rate was 27.2% (2011: 17.8%). The increase in
income tax expense was mainly due to the surge in total profit before tax.
The overwhelming majority of the Group's profit before tax comes from
subsidiaries located in the Mainland China. Since 2012, the applicable
income tax rate for the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China was
25% except for Yashili (Zhengzhou) which is in construction period. In
addition, withholding tax rate of 5% is applicable for profit distribution
from the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China to oversea subsidiaries in
Hong Kong. So the effective integrated tax rate for 2012 was 27.2%. In
2011, our subsidiary, Scient (Guangzhou) has recognised deferred income
tax asset on the deductible tax loss brought forward from previous years
and therefore resulting in the lower effective income tax rate in 2011.

Investment property

As at 31 December 2012, the balance of investment property amounted
to RMB112.0 million (31 December 2011: RMB76.3 million). The increase
was mainly due to surplus warehouse leased by the Group to third parties
during the year.

@ Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012

THREX

HE202FNANLEFE  THRAIZAA
RiE202188T(2011F : ARM1855H
BIL) BREFEMT89%  TEMNIE
B HREBURT BT -

FE WA
HE2012F12A3MHLEFE  FFBUA
BARKESIEEIL(2011F : AR®62.4
BEL) BEIEEHANREAMENER
FERNEEWRFRN2012F12A31B AL B
BEEPHREMNILE-

REBEX
HZE2012F12831HILFE - KAEETIR
METSEHERAARE 17598 &7t (2011
F:ARBITOEETL) BEEMSHEA
27.2% (20114 : 17.8%) » FT 157 & F 1Y 1%
MEZEEAABAF BHRENER - A&
EBARHD A BEARIRRF RN T
DA B202F R AEEFBEABNTA
BB T RAEEZZBEOTHELR(EM) AN
BROEMBHRE A% i REFR
PFEATREMEBEINTABETF
EOBREERFE S BB M5% M TEIRAT
SH 2012F 4R AT E B27.2% ° 2011 F A
EEBERT FARMEE(EIMN) 35D U ATF
EREMNHEEBHRENEECHEHREE
MM EF2011FHNERTEHERE -

REWE

R2012F12A31H  BEMERBAEAR
11208 8L (2011 FE12A31H: AR
763EBIL) ENETERAAREERE
NEBBOEHRNEERNEE=FHM-



Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Prepayments and other receivables

As at 31 December 2012, balance of non-current prepayments and other
receivables amounted to RMB184.2 million (31 December 2011: RMB11.0
million). The increase in the balance mainly represented deposit for
acquisition of land use right, and prepayments for purchase of equipment
for production of liquid drink in Zhengzhou plant. In the second half of
2012, the Group successfully won the bidding for land in Central Business
District in Shantou City’s key economic planning zone for construction of
new headquarters in Mainland China and Food Research Institute. The
project is planned to be funded by proceeds from the listing and self-own
funding.

Inventory

As at 31 December 2012, the Group's inventory balance amounted to
RMB652.9 million (31 December 2011: RMB577.7 million), of which,
balance for raw materials and finished goods increased by RMB46.8
million and RMB48.0 million respectively. To satisfy more strong market
demand in 2013, the Group had stored up more raw materials and
finished goods.

Other investment and other bank deposits

As at 31 December 2012, other investment represents wealth
management product with capital preservation and anticipated
annualized yields ranging from 2.8% to 3.7%.

As at 31 December 2012, other bank deposits include short-term bank
deposits amounted to RMB612.0 million which will be mature in one year
and long-term bank deposits amounted to RMB306.1 million which will
be mature in 2-3 years with interest rates between 3.2%-4.7% per
annum.

Trade and bills receivables

As at 31 December 2012, the Group's trade and bills receivables
amounted to RMB26.8 million (31 December 2011: RMB52.3 million),
which was mainly due to the improvement of credit limit control by the
Group. In 2012, the trade receivable turnover days were 3 days (2011: 6
days).
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Trade and other payables

As at 31 December 2012, balance of trade and other payables of the
Group amounted to RMB1,028.6 million (31 December 2011: RMB720.1
million). The increase in balance was mainly due to 2 factors: (1) The
Group has procured more raw material to satisfy strong market demand
in the fourth quarter of 2012, therefore amount payable for raw material
increased by RMB110.4 million; (2) The balance of customers’
prepayments received by the Group increased by RMB142.7 million due
to strong market demand in January 2013.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2012, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2011: nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2012, total capital commitment of the Group
amounted to RMB824.3 million (31 December 2011: RMB63.0 million).
The balance as at 31 December 2012 included part of the capital
expenditure budget for Yashili New Zealand plant amounting to
RMB700.0 million, authorised by the board but not contracted.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
The Group’s profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to RMB468.5 million, a 53.0% increase compared to the
preceding year. This was mainly contributed by growth in profit margin,
decrease in the ratio of selling and distribution expenses over the Group’s
revenue and increase in income from wealth management products with
capital preservation.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Provision for doubtful debts

At 31 December 2012, we had provision for doubtful debts of RMB0.9
million (2011: RMB1.5 million). The provision was for individually impaired
receivables relating to customers that were in default or delinquency of
payments. We do not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over such amounts. We regularly reviewed aging of receivables and
considered provision based on a number of factors such as whether the
debtors encounter significant financial difficulties, the probability that the
debtor will file for bankruptcy or be subject to financial reorganization,
and the possibility of default or delinquent payments.

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of inventories
At 31 December 2012, we had provisions for impairment of inventories
of RMBO.1 million (2011: RMB3.2 million). In addition, we also recorded
losses on disposal of inventory of RMB2.1 million (2011: RMBO0.4 million),
which were primarily due to disposal of deteriorated inventory and
disposal of unused packaging materials.

Pledge of assets

At 31 December 2012, bank deposits, other investment and certain
property, plant and equipment with aggregate carrying amounts of
approximately RMB417.0 million (31 December 2011: RMB92.5 million)
were pledged by the Group to secure certain loans and borrowings and
issuance of letter of credit. Details are set out in the relevant notes to the
annual financial statements.

Liquidity and capital resources

At 31 December 2012, the Group’s liquidity included cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank deposits to be released within one year, bank
fixed deposits to be mature within one year and wealth management
products with capital preservation of RMB3,184.7 million in aggregate (31
December 2011: RMB2,834.0 million). The increase in the total amount
of liquidity was mainly contributed by net cash inflow generated from the
realization of net profit ended in 2012.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EE B wED T (E)

Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2012, our operation provided RMB772.0
million of cash, compared to the net cash infow of RMB458.3 million in
the preceding year. The strong cash inflow was mainly benefited from the
growth in operating profit and increase in advances received from
customers.

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2012, net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB1,144.9 million, expenses for investing
activities were mainly used in the addition of other bank deposits and the
construction of facilities and plants.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2012, net cash used in financing
activities amounted to RMB130.4 million, primarily reflecting RMB361.3
million of proceeds from loans and borrowings, RMB227.2 million for
increase in restricted bank deposits in relation to bank loans, RMB61.8
million for the repayment of bank loan and RMB200.1 million for the
distribution of dividends.

Loans and borrowings

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s loans and borrowings amounted
to RMB330.9 million (31 December 2011: RMB31.4 million). The
annualised interest rates for loans and borrowings is from 1.55% to 2.6%,
which are secured by deposit or wealth management products with yields
from 2.8% to 3.08% per annum.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE 5 E DT (&)

BXLAHEBRASBSREFEAR

FTRIBREERIENESRNEFHE
HWEAR®E1,965.88 &L AR A E R
2010F10 A30B MBI ERI KA KT8 &
FiSsRIERZ] —BMEEN T NERGEL
RIEFE Bt B E2012F12 8318 A1

Application of net IPO Proceeds

The net proceeds from IPO were approximately RMB1,965.8 million, after
deduction of related expenses. We have utilised such net proceeds in the
manner consistent with that mentioned on the Company’s prospectus
dated 30 October 2010 under the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds”. As such, the net proceeds utilised up to 31 December 2012

was as follows: JFHRIBFEARMERENT :
Available for  Utilised in the
utilisation as at year ended Unutilised as at
the end of 31 December 31 December
2011 2012 2012
BZE2012% R2012F
R2011FE 12A31H 12A31H
AEA LFEEA <EA
Item RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HE ARBEFT ARBEFT ARBTFT
Expansion of production capacity FAREREDZEHDH 433,876 153,708 280,168
for paediatric milk formula and EERBmMIER
nutritional food products
Acquisition of integrated dairy W s = R4 R R A 8 490,341 2,027 488,314
companies engaged in the FTENGEIZER AT
production of raw milk and raw REGIELIEEES
milk powder and establishment B A E RR e
of vertically-integrated
production facilities overseas
Promotional activities in television ERPERRITE LW 431,681 67,002 364,679
networks and popular baby WBuf > AR FEBH
nursing forums as well as major R A% N EL 4 B ol 3 R Y
magazines, newspapers and BEEEE
other printed media
Enhancement on our research and RaASENHEEN 143,181 6,934 136,247
development capabilities
Development and promotion of FENLEHEEEER R 102,820 102,820 —
sales of existing and new products ¥E®
Funding of our working capital AREEZEBEES R K 157,267 157,267 —
and general corporate purposes TER®
Total A&t 1,759,166 489,758 1,269,408
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate governance
with an emphasis on a diligent Board, sound internal control, and
increasing transparency and accountability to shareholders. The Board
acknowledges that good corporate governance practices and procedures
are beneficial to the Group and its shareholders.

Save as disclosed below, the Board is of the view that the Company has
applied the principles and complied with all code provisions of the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices during the period from 1 January
2012 to 31 March 2012 and the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) during the period from 1 April 2012 to 31 December 2012 as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the”Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing
Rules”).

In respect of code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company does
not have any officer with the title of “Chief Executive Officer”. The
Chairman of the Board is Mr. Zhang Lidian who is primarily responsible
for the overall corporate strategic planning and business development of
the Group. Daily management is shared among the executive directors
and senior management.

In respect of code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, the independent non-
executive directors and non-executive directors should attend general
meetings of the Company. Mr. Yu Shimao and Mr. Samuel King On
Wong (both are independent non-executive directors) attended the
annual general meeting held on 30 May 2012. The remaining
independent non-executive director and non-executive directors were
absent from that annual general meeting due to other business
commitments.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and
to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
development.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
EEEREE (F)

The Board of Directors

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management
and conduct of the Group’s business, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated to the senior management the
authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established board
committees and has delegated to these board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition

During the year 2012 and up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board
comprises of eleven members, consisting of five executive directors, two
non-executive directors and four independent non-executive directors.
The composition of the Board is set out below.

EEE

B
EXEQRERBEA - RENEERETA
SEXG KBERERRR -EFEERT
BREEEENLRETETASENAE
EEREE I EEEONUEEFEERER
SUERTREESTZEQRHAML &+
BENESENBERLES -

PMEEFEHERBBETRE ETERZE
BREREREMKIERDATERRE R
HEROMETE-

ot

ARRERRACEEH Mo EHHEES
EEMEEEBNERFRAELENERER
T REERERITBRABLZHAERR -

BEEEgNE
RONEFEREEAFERAY EEg
Ht+—2KEER BRESHITEE W
B TES RN EB IR ITEE - &
EEMREMOT ¢

Name Position
% & B
Mr. Zhang Lidian Chairman and executive director
5 M $ 5 A ITERNTES
Mr. Zhang Likun Executive director
SR M| 380 5 A BITES
Mr. Zhang Liming Executive director
SR M AR e A WITES
Mr. Zhang Libo Executive director
o TR o 4 WITES
Mr. Zhang Yanpeng Executive director
o HE 15 5 A& BITES
Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo Non-executive director
5RO B 5 A FEHTESF
Mr. Zhang Chi Non-executive director
SRath e FHTESR
Mr. Yu Shimao Independent non-executive director
REXEE BIYFRTES
Mr. Chen Yongquan Independent non-executive director
PRk R &4 BYFRTES
Mr. Samuel King On Wong Independent non-executive director
BEMLRLE BUYFRTES
Mr. Liu Jinting Independent non-executive director
2|48 RE S & (appointed on 28 November 2012)
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information including relationships among the members
of the Board are set out under “Directors and Management Biographies”
on pages 63 to 72 of this Annual Report.

All directors, including non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Through active participation at board meetings,
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interest
and serving on board committees, all non-executive directors make
various contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Since the appointment of Mr. Liu Jinting as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 28 November 2012, the Board complied with
the requirement of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the
Board. The Company also complied with the requirement of the Listing
Rules that one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent
non-executive directors to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Chairman

At present, the Company does not have any officer with the title of “Chief
Executive Office”. The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Zhang Lidian who is
primarily responsible for the overall corporate strategic planning and
business development of the Group. Daily management is shared among
the executive directors and senior management.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
EEEREE (F)

The Company will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group’s
corporate governance structure and consider whether any changes,
including the appointment of a Chief Executive Officer and the separation
of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, are necessary.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of the directors (including executive, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company is engaged on a
service contract for a term of three years. The appointment may be
terminated by not less than three months’ written notice.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any
director appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office until the first
annual general meeting after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting and any director appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang
Lidian, Mr. Zhang Yanpeng, Mr. Chen Yongquan and Mr. Wong King On
Samuel shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Liu Jinting, who
was appointed by the Board on 28 November 2012 as independent non-
executive director, shall also be subject to re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Company’s circular to shareholders to be
published in April 2013 contains detailed information of the directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

3 Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012

ARBREERTARENEEERRE
MERE YEEEREFEFLEME
B BRERTTRAESNAREDS EFERTT
AR 2 BT -

ZERERES

ARFIBREF(BRATES  FRTE
ENBUNRTER)EAM=FOREE
WEZRE - BEZEARAIR=AK
EEBATIAKL -

REAABDNABERMAAN  MEESFA
ZELOB=FHRERET R MEMERE
NEMBRREZROESNERERERE
BREEERRBFASAL ARG LE
BELE MEZERABEFTSHNLES
MEHEEARARBATERRBFAEAR
I EEFEEREREME-

BREAQDNANMEZERMA - KA M E
AERIEBLEE BAXREEREWL T
ERREERERBFRE FRERMT I
HEERABERRERFAS FERE
£ B8R RESE AN 2012F11 A28 EE F
BBMIERNTES NBEREEREASF
AR EEBEMT - AQTKNR2013F4 78 7T
BHRERNBREINEEERNEREREAE
FRELEBRNEZTZHMER -



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development of Directors

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such
induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites
and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.
They are continually updated on the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development for
directors will be arranged where necessary.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Internally-facilitated briefings for directors will be arranged and reading
material on relevant topics will be issued to directors where appropriate.
All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year 2012, the Company arranged a training on amendments
to the Listing Rules and the statutory obligations to disclose inside
information under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules conducted by a qualified law firm. All directors have
attended the training.

In addition, relevant reading materials including legal and regulatory
update / seminar handouts have been provided to the directors for their
reference and studying.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
EEEREE (F)

Board Meetings

Board Practices and conduct of meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to directors in advance. Notice of regular board meetings
is served to all directors at least 14 days before the meeting. For other
board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each board
meeting or committee meeting to keep directors apprised of the latest
development and financial position of the Company and to enable them
to make informed decisions. The Board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management where
necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular board meetings and
where necessary, other board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of
the Company.

The Company’s Articles of Association contain provisions requiring
directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
the meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of
all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and final versions are open for director’s inspection.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Directors’ attendance records
During the year ended 31 December 2012, the attendance records of
each director at the board and committee meetings are set out below:

Name of Director

[~IN2N

EEERRE ()

EEHEERNLE
BREEZREZE20FN2A3MBIEEE 1
FEETRZESLHNLHERIOT

=

Attendance/No. of Meeting(s)

ESHR HERE BB XE
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEg EREEE FMEESE REZEE RREFKE
Mr. Zhang Lidian o FI 68 5F 4 7/7 — 2/2 1/1 11
Mr. Zhang Likun ofk ) 38 5 A 717 — — — 01
Mr. Zhang Liming o A BE 45 7/7 _ _ _ 0/1
Mr. Zhang Libo o F R o £ 717 — — — 0/1
Mr. Zhang Yanpeng o JE 1B 5 A 7/7 — — _ 0/1
Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo 3R IR 4 4 6/7 — — — 01
Mr. Zhang Chi SR o 5t A 777 212 — — /1
Mr. Yu Shimao Rt E 717 2/2 2/2 I7Al IVAl
Mr. Chen Yongquan FR oK SR 5 A 6/7 — 212 11 0/1
Mr. Samuel King On Wong B G 6/7 2/2 — — 1/1
Mr. Liu Jinting"®® )| 58 BT o EME 177 — — — 0/1

Note: GER

Mr. Liu Jinting was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 28 November 2012 and one board meeting was held after 28
November 2012.

Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting
with the non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the presence of the executive directors in the year
2012.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. All directors of the Company have confirmed that
throughout the year ended 31 December 2012, they have complied with
the Model Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
EEEREE (F)

The Company has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employee Written Guidelines by the
employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interest),
financial information, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the nomination
committee, the remuneration committee and the audit committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’'s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with defined written terms
of reference which are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchanges website and are available to shareholders upon request.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior management
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the directors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 are set out in Note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The details of the individual with highest emoluments are set out in Note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the 9 members of the senior management fell with
the following bands:

EEERRE ()

BEFMATOFHFEUIRGEEH B
HAEME10

NESREEENHFMBEATEHE :

Number of Individual(s)

Below RMB1,000,000
RMB 1,000,000 - RMB2,000,000

AR #1,000,0007C AT

A#1,000,0007T 2 A R #2,000,0007T

AB
2012 2011
7
2

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee was established on 8 October 2010. It
comprises two independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Yu
Shimao (Chairman) and Mr. Chen Yongquan and one executive director,
namely Mr. Zhang Lidian.

The roles and functions of the remuneration committee are set out in its
terms of reference. Its primary duties are to evaluate and make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all directors and senior management of the Group.

The remuneration committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as well as the
annual bonuses of the executive directors and the senior management
during the year ended 31 December 2012. In addition, the remuneration
committee reviewed the service agreement of the new director, Mr. Liu
Jinting, who was appointed on 28 November 2012.

The remuneration committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2012. All of the committee members attended the
meetings.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
EEEREE (F)

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 October 2010.
The Committee comprises three members, Mr. Yu Shimao (Chairman),
Mr. Zhang Lidian and Mr. Chen Yongquan, the majority of them are
independent non-executive directors.

The principal duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the
Board composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for
the nomination and appointment of directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of directors,
and assessing the independence of independent non-executive directors.

In relation to the selection of candidates for directorship of the Company,
the nomination committee makes reference to the business experience,
skills, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of such individuals, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations.

In the year 2012, the nomination committee reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board and recommended the appointment of Mr.
Liu Jinting as independent non-executive director of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the nomination committee
held one meeting. All of the committee members attended the meeting.

Audit Committee

The audit committee was established on 8 October 2010 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The
committee comprises two independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Samuel King On Wong (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Shimao and one non-
executive director, namely Mr. Zhang Chi (including one independent
non-executive director who possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise).
None of the members of the audit committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The primary duties of the audit committee are mainly to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditor; review the financial statements, provide material advise
in respect of financial reporting and oversee internal control procedures
of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the audit committee reviewed
the Group's interim and annual results and interim and annual reports,
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, the report from the
management on the Company’s internal control and risk management
systems and processes, and the re-appointment of the external auditor.

In the year 2012, the external auditor attended two audit committee
meetings to discuss with the audit committee members issues arising
from the audit and financial reporting matters.

The audit committee held two meetings during the year 2012. All of the
committee members attended the meetings.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in respect
of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholder investments and the Company’s assets
and reviewing the effectiveness of such system on an annual basis.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Board conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control. It covers
financial, operational, compliance and risk management aspects of the
Group including adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
all staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 95 to 96 of this Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’'s independent external auditor, KPMG, in
relation to audit and review services are RMB2.68 million.

Joint Company Secretaries

Mr. Wu Xiaonan and Ms. Ho Siu Pik are the joint company secretaries of
the Company. Mr. Wu reports to the Chairman of the Board. Ms. Ho of
Tricor Services Limited, external service provider, has been appointed as a
joint company secretary of the Company with effect from 20 June 2012.
Ms. Ho's primary contact at the Company is Mr. Wu.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the nomination committee,
remuneration committee and audit committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer questions
at shareholder meetings.

The Company’s external auditor is invited to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’'s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.yashili.hk, where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for
election as a director of the Company are available on the Company’s
website (www.yashili.hk).
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposal at general
meeting

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that general
meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the Company:
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Address:  Yashili Industrial City, Chaoan Avenue, Chaozhou City, Guangdong 515638, The People’s Republic of China
ik hEARAMBERSE M T EZ KB LH TR (BRE : 515638)

(For the attention of Mr. Wu Xiaonan, Company Secretary)
(BRmMmE REmEE)

Fax fH&: +86-768-5820311

Email EE: ir@yashili.com

Investor Relations
The Company has not made any changes to its Memorandum and
Articles of Association in the year 2012. The Company’s Memorandum

and Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Management Biographies

During the year under review, our board consists of eleven directors, of
whom five are executive directors, two are non- executive directors and
four are independent non-executive directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Zhang Lidian

Aged 48, was appointed as our executive director on 3 June 2010 and he
is one of the co-founders of our Group and the chairman of the board of
our Company. Mr. Zhang is a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of
experience in food and dairy industry and is primarily responsible for the
overall corporate strategic planning and business development of our
Group. He has also been serving as the president of Yashili (Guangdong)
since March 1998, as a director of Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili
(Shanxi)”) since its incorporation in March 2006 and as a director of
Scient (Guangzhou) since March 2002. From June 1990 to January 2003,
Mr. Zhang was the deputy general manager at Guangdong Yashili Food
Co., Ltd (“Yashili Food”). Currently, Mr. Zhang is holding a number of
positions with various organizations. He serves as a representative of the
eleventh National People’s Congress (55+— @& B A K ZK), a member
of the China Committee of the International Dairy Federation, vice
chairman of the China Dairy Industry Association (R ERIZL &% T Be |
=), executive president of the Guangdong Chamber of Commerce
of Private Enterprises (EERE REZE D EBMEHTEK), honorary chairman
of the Chaozhou Chamber of Commerce in Guangdong Province (EER &
FMNTHRIE B & & R). Mr. Zhang has also received a number of awards,
including the National Labor Medal (2B 1 — 44 8)#%) and the award of
National Model Worker in Light Industry (2Bl T 377 2 8)1E&E). Mr.
Zhang received a master degree of Business Management from Sun Yat-
sen University (7 1LIA22) in March 2007. Mr. Zhang is a brother of Mr.
Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming and Mr. Zhang Libo, our directors. He is
also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lihui and a brother-in-law of Ms. She Lifang,
each a controlling shareholder of the Company. He is also an uncle of Mr.
Zhang Yanpeng, our director.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)
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Mr. Zhang Likun

Aged 54, was appointed as our executive director on 25 June 2010 and
he is one of the co-founders of our Group and an executive director. Mr.
Zhang has over 20 years of experience in the food and dairy industry and
is primarily responsible for Sales and R & D of our Group. Mr. Zhang has
been serving as the chairman of Yashili (Guangdong) since March 1998.
From June 1990 to January 2003, Mr. Zhang was the deputy general
manager of Yashili Food. Mr. Zhang has also been appointed as the vice
president of the Technology Innovation Strategy Union of Dairy Industry (¥
EEERMAIFSEBBERIEER) since September 2009. Mr. Zhang
completed a business management course at the Continuing Education
Faculty of Jinggangshan University (FF [ L K E 482 B £0%) in February
2010. Mr. Zhang is also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Liming
and Mr. Zhang Libo, our directors. He is also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lihui
and a brother- in-law of Ms. She Lifang, each a controlling shareholder of
the Company. He is also an uncle of Mr. Zhang Yanpeng, our director.

Mr. Zhang Liming

Aged 51, was appointed as our executive director on 25 June 2010 and
he is one of the co-founders of our Group and an executive director. He
has over 20 years of experience in food industry and is primarily
responsible for the finance and taxation of our Group. Mr. Zhang has also
been serving as a director of Yashili (Guangdong) since March 1998.
From June 1990 to January 2003, Mr. Zhang held a position as deputy
general manager at Yashili Food. Mr. Zhang attended the Advanced
Management Program for general managers organized by the China
Europe International Business School from June 2007 to March 2008. Mr.
Zhang also completed a college course in Public Administration by
achieving 80 credits at the Southwest University (FAEIAZ2) in January
2009. The courses taken at the university included administration science,
social science, public finance, and political science. Currently, he is attending
the executive master of business administration course at Xiamen
University (EF9KE}). Mr. Zhang is a brother of Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr.
Zhang Likun and Mr. Zhang Libo, our directors. He is also a brother of Mr.
Zhang Lihui and a brother-in-law of Ms. She Lifang, each a controlling
shareholder of the Company. He is also an uncle of Mr. Zhang Yanpeng,
our director.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Mr. Zhang Libo

Aged 45, was appointed as our executive director on 25 June 2010 and
he is one of the co-founders of our Group and an executive director. He
has over 18 years of experience in food industry and is primarily
responsible for the administration and procurement of our Group. He has
been serving as a director of Yashili (Guangdong) since March 1998 and
as a director of Chaoan Bisheng Decoration and Printing Co., Ltd. since
its incorporation in May 2007. From June 1990 to January 2003, Mr.
Zhang held position as the deputy manager and the chief engineer at
Yashili Food. Mr. Zhang studied business management at the Continuing
Education Faculty of Jinggangshan University (F-if |l A 24 B A Zx)
in February 2010. Mr. Zhang is also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr.
Zhang Likun and Mr. Zhang Liming, our directors. He is also a brother of
Mr. Zhang Lihui and a brother-in-law of Ms. She Lifang, each a controlling
shareholder of the Company. He is also an uncle of Mr. Zhang Yanpeng,
our director.

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Aged 36, an executive director and deputy general manager of Scient
(Guangzhou), is mainly responsible for the management of various
departments of Scient (Guangzhou), including general office, finance
department, procurement department, plants, quality control department,
research and development department as well as storage and delivery
department. In January 2003, Mr. Zhang acted as the special assistant to
the marketing head of Yashili (Guangdong). From June 2003 to July
2004, Mr. Zhang was the sales manager of eastern Guangdong of Yashili
(Guangdong). From August 2004 till now, Mr. Zhang acts as the deputy
general manager of Scient (Guangzhou). Mr. Zhang graduated from
Sichuan Education Institute (P9)IIZ4B EB3) in 1999, majoring in
marketing and was awarded the bachelor degree in economics. In 2001,
Mr. Zhang studied overseas in the Auckland Business School in New
Zealand. Mr. Zhang graduated from the University of Electronics and
Technology (E-F&HEZAKE) in 2010 with a master degree in engineering.
He is the son of Mr. Zhang Lihui and nephew of Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr.
Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang, each
a controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)
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Non-executive directors

Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo

Aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive director on 23 November
2011. Mr. Zhang has approximately ten years of experience in direct
investment. He is currently a senior director of Carlyle Asia Investment
Advisor Limited (“Carlyle”). He joined Carlyle in 2006. Prior to joining
Carlyle, Herman ran a global business unit and was in charge of business
of Asia Pacific region for Delphi. He held positions in products, operations
and general management in the twenty years with General Motors and
Delphi with eleven years of presence in China, Mr. Chang obtained a
Ph.D. degree in engineering from Northwestern University, lllinois, USA in
1986.

Mr. Zhang Chi

Aged 37, was appointed as a non-executive director on 8 October 2010.
Mr. Zhang is @ member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Zhang is also a
director at the Asia Buyout Fund of Carlyle Group and is primarily
responsible for executing investments in the PRC. Mr. Zhang has more
than 10 years of experience in equity investment in China, investment
banking and capital market. Prior to his joining Carlyle Group in 2006, he
was the Vice President of the Investment Banking Division of Credit Suisse
(Hong Kong) Limited. Prior to his position at Credit Suisse (Hong Kong)
limited, he was the Vice President of the Investment Banking Department
of China International Capital Corporation Limited. Mr. Zhang has
obtained a master’'s degree in Economics from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics (/B 4E K &) in 2000.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Yu Shimao

Aged 71, was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 8
October 2010. Mr. Yu is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.
From 1993 to 2003, Mr. Yu was a director of the System Research
Committee of the Guangdong People’s Congress (BR & AXHIEE
@8 =), In 2003, Mr. Yu was the chief officer of the Overseas Chinese,
Ethnic, Religion and Foreign-related Affairs Committee of the Standing
Committee of the People’s Congress of Chaozhou (BN AKREE & E
BRIETHIETIIEEZEE). In 1998, Mr. Yu was elected as a member
of the eleventh Standing Committee of the People’s Congress of
Chaozhou (BN AKRFEZE). From 1994 to 2003, Mr. Yu was an
associate director then a director of the Selection, Liaison and Nomination
Committee (&2 EiE AFERITIEZES). From 1992 to 1998, Mr. Yu
held the position as an associate director of the Office of the Standing
Committee of the People’s Congress of Chaozhou (BN AR EZE &t
NE). From 1989 to 1992, Mr. Yu was an associate director of the Office
of the Standing Committee of the People’s Congress of Raoping County,
Guangdong Province (EREBEFBZAKRXFTEZEHAE). Mr. Yu
graduated from Hunan Normal University (#Ffi&iAE) with a
bachelor’s degree in Russian language in 1964.

Mr. Chen Yongquan

Aged 74, was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 8
October 2010. Mr. Chen is a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Chen has been a professor at the
Food Science Faculty of South China Agricultural University (E5 2 2 K £2)
since 1999. Mr. Chen performs researches on food biochemistry, additives
and functional ingredients, enzymology, and processing of agricultural
and livestock products. From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Chen was the Dean of
the Food Science Faculty of the South China Agricultural University. Mr.
Chen has been hired as a counselor by Guangdong Province Government
since 2006. He was awarded as the Outstanding Expert Contributing to
the Food Industry during the Reform and the Opening-up of Guangdong
(BERNEMPMRBITERTEBER), the Pioneer Individual of the
National Starfire Scheme (B2 AFHEILEEA), and the Chinese
Pioneer Work of Industry Technology Enhancement in Food Industry (7
B & LERRES SET1EE). Mr. Chen graduated from South China
Agricultural University (ZEFGEZKE) with a bachelor’'s degree in
botanical protection in 1961.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)
ESKEEERBRE (&)

Mr. Samuel King On Wong

Aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 8
October 2010. Mr. Wong is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. He
has over 30 years of experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Wong
joined Ernst & Young in 1979 and was elected to its partnership in 1993.
He was the Managing Partner, China Central of Ernst & Young and a
member of the management committee from 2005 until his retirement at
the end of 2009. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants (“ACCA") and the Australian Society
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong was the president of ACCA
Hong Kong from 1998 to 1999 and a member of the global Council of
ACCA from 1999 to 2005. Mr. Wong was also the first non-European
global President of ACCA in 2003-2004. Mr. Wong had been the adjunct
professor of the School of Accounting & Finance of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2002-2010. Mr. Wong was awarded the
Outstanding Accounting Alumni by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2002 and the Outstanding PolyU Alumni by the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2003. Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Bradford,
United Kingdom, with a master degree of business administration in 1978
during which he was awarded the Binder Hamlyn Prize for the best
student in financial management in 1978.

Mr. Liu Jinting (appointed on 28 November 2012)

Aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 28
November 2012. He is currently an analyst at the China Joint Economic
Development Research Center (Fh BRH 48 B3R HTITH L), a standing
director of Guangdong Policy and Science Study Committee (R & R
RIZf9T®), a standing director of Guangdong Economy Study
Committee (ERELKLHEES), a consultant to the Shantou Financial
Study Committee (IISE& B2 €), a consultant to Shantou Well-known
Enterprises Association (IIEEM R B2 E) and a president and senior
associate editor of the magazine Yan Hai Xin Chao (&8 %8 Fsstt).
Mr. Liu was previously a deputy director of the Office of the Municipal
Party Committee of Shantou (ff HJIIBEMZH#EAZ) from 1985 to 1993,
a deputy secretary-general of the Municipal Party Committee of Shantou (/4
H3IZETZ) and a director of Shantou Policy Study Institute (IIZET Z
FFEE) from 1993 to 2003. Mr. Liu graduated from South China
Normal University GERIENEIAEZ) in 1967 with a bachelor degree in
politics and law. Mr. Liu was appointed as a director of Guangdong
Yashili Group Company Limited (“Yashili (Guangdong)”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, on 28 March 2008 by one of
its then shareholders, Richful Dairy International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
(“Richful Dairy”) and resigned on 3 July 2010 when Richful Dairy ceased
to have interests in Yashili (Guangdong). Save for his directorship at
Yashili (Guangdong) during the period from 28 March 2008 to 3 July
2010, Mr. Liu has had no other role or position in the Group.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Senior management

Mr. Wu Dinian

Aged 44, rejoined our Group in July 2010 as the Vice President and is
primarily responsible for the overall management of our Group’s sales &
marketing. Mr. Wu has approximately 16 years of experience in sales &
marketing. From July 2001 to July 2007, Mr. Wu has served as the Vice
President of Yashili (Guangdong) and in charge of the sales & marketing
team. Prior to rejoining our Group, Mr. Wu served as president of
Guangzhou Mingdi Investment Company from July 2007 to July 2010.
From October 1994 to July 2001, Mr. Wu was the manager and
supervisor of sales & marketing department of Instant Noodles Business
Group of Tingyi (Cayman Islands) Holding Corp. (EERD{EEAR) (stock
code: 0322), a company listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange. Mr.
Wu received an Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA) from
South China University of Technology (&3 T K2 in January 2006.
Mr. Wu graduated from Zhengzhou University of Light Industry (ZFM&E T
Z£E[7) with a Bachelor Degree of Plastics Engineering in July 1991. Mr.
Wu is currently an adjunct professor of Zhengzhou University of Light
Industry (ZF)NEE T 2E657) and Honor Speaker of the MBA Forum of
South China University Technology (22 F 18 T K £2).

Mr. Wu Xiaonan

Aged 39, jointed our Group in February 2008. He is now the general
manager of the Investment Center, the legal director and joint company
secretary. He has over 10 years of experience in legal practice. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Wu was an attorney and a deputy director at
Guangdong Boneng Law Firm from 2007 to 2008. From 2000 to 2006,
he was an attorney then a partner at Guangdong Xinjie Law Firm. Mr.
Wu graduated from the China University of Political Science and Law (&
BBUAAE) with a college diploma in law in July 1996. He has also
completed undergraduate study in law at Sichuan University (P9)1] KX£2) in
December 2005.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

EEREEEERE (&)
Mr. Xie Xunpeng
Aged 41, is the general manager of sales & marketing of Yashili

(Guangdong) and is primarily responsible for sales and marketing of the
whole Group. Mr. Xie has been the general manager of sales & marketing
of Yashili (Guangdong) since 2008. From 2006 to 2007, he was our
deputy general manager of sales & marketing. From 2003 to 2005, he
was our provincial manager in charge of sales in Shanxi province. From
1999 to 2002, he was our regional manager in charge of sales in Shanxi,
Hunan and Hubei provinces. From 1993 to 1998, he was a sales person
of Yashili (Guangdong), then was promoted to and then progressed to be
a provincial manager.

Ms. Pan Jingzhi

Aged 37, is the special assistant to the president of Yashili (Guangdong),
the president of the worker union of Yashili (Guangdong) and the deputy
general manager of Scient (Guangzhou). She has been the special
assistant to the president of Yashili (Guangdong) since the end of 2004
and she is responsible for planning, general administration and internal
coordination among the Group. She has also been the deputy manager
of Scient (Guangzhou) since 2007. From 2001 to 2004, she was the
manager of the operation management department. From 2001 to mid
2003, she was a manager of the general administration department.
From 1996 to 2001, she was a manager of the general administration
department. Ms. Pan graduated from Shantou University CiliZ8AZ2) with
a college diploma in law in 1996. She also completed a undergraduate
course of law at Sichuan University (74)11A£2) in 2005.

Ms. Wen Jieping

Aged 36, is the chief financial officer of our Company. Ms. Wen joined
the Group in May 2011 and is primarily responsible for the internal
financial controlling and overseas investment projects. Prior to Ms. Wen's
appointment as a joint CFO of the Company, Ms. Wen was the
department head and a senior manager of the audit department of
KPMG (Guangzhou office). She graduated from Guangdong University of
Foreign Studies with a combined bachelor degree in International
Commerce English and Accounting in 2001. Ms. Wen is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Mr. Chen Xiaohong

Aged 38, is the general manager of external affairs of Yashili (Guangdong)
and is primarily responsible for liaison with authorities and agencies. He
has been the manager of external affairs of Yashili (Guangdong) since
May 1997. He has also been the supervisor of the Supervisory Board of
Yashili (Guangdong) since March 2008. Mr. Chen graduated from
Hanshan Normal University (82| LIATZ3E3F%) with a college diploma in
finance in June 1996.

Mr. Tong Chengfu

Aged 46, is the general manager of R&D of Yashili (Guangdong) and is
primarily responsible for research and development. Mr. Tong has been
the general controller of R&D at Yashili (Guangdong) since 2007. From
2005 to 2006, he was the manager of external cooperation department.
From 2000 to 2005, he was the chief engineer and a factory manager of
the milk powder plant. From 1995 to 2000, he was a section head of
manufacturing at Heilongjiang Weiquan Dairy Co., Ltd. From 1988 to
1995, he was the development manager at Heilongjiang Dairy Factory. He
is a member of the Technical Expert Committee of the Technology
Innovation Strategy Union of Dairy Industry (|37 3 5 fit 1) 57 &5 S Bk B8
BIFE=). He graduated from the Northeast Agricultary University (884t &
E87) with a college diploma in processing of livestock and agricultural
products in 1988.

Mr. Li Mengchun

Aged 40, is the general manager of quality control of Yashili (Guangdong)
and is primarily responsible for quality control. Mr. Li has been the general
manager of quality control at Yashili (Guangdong) since June 2004. From
June 2003 to June 2004, Mr. Li was the quality control manager, the
project manager and the technology manager at Xiamen HEK Group.
From April 1996 to February 1999, he was the manager of quality control
at Ting Hisin Co., Ltd. Mr. Li graduated from the Xiangtan University (i
JE K ) with a bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering in June 1994.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)
ESKEEERBRE (&)

Mr. Jiang Weijian

Aged 33, is the finance controller of Yashili (Guangdong) and is primarily
responsible for accounting, and finance. Mr. Jiang joined Yashili
(Guangdong) in September 2008. From June to August of 2008, he was
the accounting manager at HC360.com. From August 2005 to June
2008, he was the senior project manager at Reanda Certified Public
Accountants Co., Ltd. From December 2003 to August 2005, he was a
certified public accountant and the director of auditing at Heilongjiang
Yazhong Accounting Firm. From August 2000 to August 2003, he
worked at the China Agriculture Bank, Heilongjiang Branch. Mr. Jiang is a
professional member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He graduated from Harbin College of Finance (¥ /&% &l
SEERER) with a college diploma in economic information
management & computer applications in 2000.

Ms. Ho Siu Pik

Aged 49, was appointed the joint company secretary of the Company on
20 June 2012. Ms. Ho is a director of Corporate Services Division of Tricor
Services Limited and a fellow member of both The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Ms. Ho has over 20 years of experience in the company
secretarial area. She is currently the joint company secretary of SITC
International Holdings Company Limited and China Molybdenum Co.,
Ltd., and the company secretary of Sun Art Retail Group Limited and
China Polymetallic Mining Limited, all companies are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2012.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year under review.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 198 of this
annual report.

Final Dividends

The Board recommended a final dividend of RMB11.31 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2012 to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members on 17 June 2013, subject to approval
by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be
held on 6 June 2013.

The total dividends for the year ended 31 December 2012, which
represent the proposed final dividend, amounted to approximately
RMB400.3 million and represented approximately 85.4% of the profit of
the Company for the year. The payment of the proposed final dividend
will be in cash.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EESRE (A

Such proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012,
represented a payout ratio of 85.4%. In the opinion of the Directors, such
distribution is in compliance with the Articles of Association adopted by
the Company on 8 October 2010, which states that dividend may be
declared and paid out of the profits of the Company, realised or
unrealised, or from any reserve set aside from profits which the Directors
determine is no longer needed. With the sanction of an ordinary
resolution dividend may also be declared and paid out of share premium
account or any other fund or account which can be authorised for this
purpose in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, subject to the
provisions of the Memorandum of Association or Articles of Association
and provided that immediately following the distribution or paying
dividend the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year under
review are set out in the note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

As at 31 December 2012, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB1,678.9 million. It represents the
Company'’s share premium account of approximately RMB1,682.3 million
and accumulated losses of approximately RMB3.4 million in aggregate as
at 31 December 2012, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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Charitable Donations

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to RMB3.9
million.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group held property,
plant and equipment of approximately RMB743.9 million. Movements in
property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2012 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2012 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Directors

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2012 and as of the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Lidian (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Likun

Mr. Zhang Liming

Mr. Zhang Libo

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo
Mr. Zhang Chi

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Shimao

Mr. Chen Yongquan

Mr. Samuel King On Wong

Mr. Liu Jinting (appointed on 28 November 2012)
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EESRE (A

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 63 to 72 of this annual report.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed below, there was no contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2012.

5 Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012

REEEBHEIIAERAABES LR
AI(TETARRNE 3131 - RRAIEEER
BEBIUFATESERMEBLIENFE
R ARRRA RIELMRA - A
BYFRTEFTHYREBIIE -

EERGREEEBEE

EELRREEENERFRBERALRNFER
$£63F72H °

EECHER

BT EEI  BE= 20129 12 A 318
IEFERZFER ARA) - HIZERARSKE
TAKBARBMETEXINARRESE
BEoHEREEERBENEREGN-



Directors’ Service Contracts

Save as disclosed below, each of the Directors in the Board has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 1 November 2010 and will continue thereafter
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the service
contract, including by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other. No director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract
which is not determined by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 2 June 2011 and
will continue thereafter unless otherwise terminated in accordance with
the terms of the service contract, including by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 23
December 2011 and will continue thereafter unless otherwise terminated
in accordance with the terms of the service contract, including by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Liu Jinting has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from 28 November 2012
and will continue thereafter unless otherwise terminated in accordance
with the terms of the service contract, including by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2012, the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company and their respective associates had the following interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO")) which have been notified to the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO, including interests and short positions which the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company are taken and deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be and are recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules:

(i) Directors’ interests in the shares of Zhang International
Investment Ltd. (“Zhang International”) (being a
holding company of the Company):

R2202F 12A31MB ARAIEEF TE17
BAERBEESENBHEARETRAARE
B ZE (TEREEBENESTNEBHFR
MEGH(EFHRBEGH]) E XVE) B K
mHERODLEESFTHEEREZES L
EIEHIE XVEBE TR EEME AN A K
EEBRIMESIAR(BEARFES
REZTHRABREZES RBAEKIHNZ
ERXEEIERGEREENERZRAR)
AR NIRIEE F R B EKPI 5 352168
GFEMELMOERIORE  HBE LT
RAFEH ETRAREZTETESLSRID
EESFRIEAMNG AR RE BB AT E
EEAKBEWAT

) EBRERERREERL
(MREBEERD (AR DQFEZER
B R 2R

=i
n

Capacity/ Percentage of the

Name of director Nature of interest Number of shares issued share capital

HE#TRAE

EE=E8 54 EEtE KM EE B

Zhang Likun Beneficial owner 18 18%
SR N 488 BHERA

Zhang Liming Beneficial owner 18 18%
5% 7 AR E=BAA

Zhang Lidian Beneficial owner 18 18%
5 M| $8 EnEBEA

Zhang Libo Beneficial owner 18 18%
5K AR BEHEAA
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(i) Directors’ interests in the share and underlying shares
of the Company:

Report of the Directors (continued)
EESRE (A

(i) EERARATNRS RAEER
oz

Percentage of the

Capacity/ issued share capital

Name of director Nature of interest Number of Shares of the Company

EARAF

EEITRAE

E=E8 56 EEtE Ko EE Bk

Zhang Lidian™ Beneficial owner 15,547,248(L)(E) 0.44%
5 A1 68 BEm#EAA

Zhang Yanpeng®? Beneficial owner 3,124,489(L)(E) 0.09%
5 FE M5 Em#EAA

Notes: M 3

1. Mr. Zhang Lidian was interested in 6,218,896 shares as the beneficial
owner and 9,328,352 underlying shares by virtue of Pre-IPO Share
Options granted to him.

2. Mr. Zhang Yanpeng was interested in 1,699,792 shares as the
beneficial owner and 1,424,697 underlying shares by virtue of Pre-
IPO Share Options granted to him.

3. “L" denotes long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, at no time was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors and chief executive of the Company (including their spouse
and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interest or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

1. RAMEEANBZEEANTHR
6,218,896 IR R HE B = + I A
ERTERXARBESAERERR
9,328,352k BRI D P B = o

2. REBMEEUNEZHEBANFTHR
1,699, 7N\ Hh P ER#ER WA
BRTE XA S ERER R
1,424,697 RABBARR D P B % o

3. [RlEERE-

br EXFTHEEEI - R2012F12 4318 -
ARARESTHRFTEZTHAEBREREAA A
MHEBABLEIE(EXZREHFLBPERDZE
XVER) B AR~ B REHFP A KR
EEE AR R RIIRIEZEF KB E KA 2 35214
GEaMEZMAmEENERERZIAER
SIRIE EMARFEHMN EM AR EEELT
BERGHNBETAENEARARAREE
BRI R IR -

B EXFTREE I EMARRE AAF -
HERARSEEMNHB AR ELE
M BEARANEEREBITEA
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Share Option Schemes

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 8 October 2010 (the
"Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of giving its employees
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and helping
motivate employees to optimize their performance and efficiency, and
retaining its employees whose contributions are important to the long-
term growth and profitability of the Group. Options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 94,975,662 shares (the “Underlying Shares”) were granted
to 181 participants, including 2 executive Directors and 8 members of the
senior management of the Group. These options represent share options
originally granted by our subsidiary, Yashili (Guangdong), to the grantees
on 1 January 2009 and 1 August 2010 in respect of the shares in the
Company, which were exchanged into the Pre-IPO Share Options on 8
October 2010.

Options to subscribe for an aggregate of 73,525,056 Shares at an
exercise price of RMB0.11 per Share and options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 21,450,606 Shares at an exercise price RMB1.84 per Share
have been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

No further options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
on or after the 1 November 2010, the date of our Shares first commenced
dealings on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“Listing Date”). All options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Options”) were vested and will vest and may only be exercised in the
following manner:

o one fifth of the options were vested on 1 January 2011, the date
which is two months after the Listing Date (the “First Vesting
Date”);

o one fifth of the options were vest on the first anniversary of the
First Vesting Date;

o one fifth of the options were vest on the second anniversary of the
First Vesting Date;
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e one fifth of the options shall vest on the third anniversary of the o FAH Y —HWERESKREEEERS
First Vesting Date; = EBEFHE

e one fifth of the options shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the o FHHZ —HEREEAEEARBERE
First Vesting Date; and MEBFHEE &

each option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is BXAXAMEERBREFZMEENE D
exercisable within 15 days from the date on which such option becomes B ERZEERESEE A LT I5AR
vested. Al FATHE e

A summary of the grantees who have been granted options under the LA T # 5| 18 45 & & A B 2% & AT B IR 2 51 2
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is set out below: BEERTHERENREANTE

Closing market

Exercised Lapsed Balance as at price per share
Grantees or class of Balance as at during during 31 December for exercised
participants 1 January 2012 2012 2012 2012 options
M20124
R20124F R20124F R2012F 128318 EBTfFEERE
ERARZEE R 1H1BWERE T8 KR MERE MWERKTE
HK$
BT
Directors
=
Zhang Lidian 12,437,800" 3,109,448 —_ 9,328,352 1.17
o ) ¢
Zhang Yanpeng 1,899,593' 474,896 —_ 1,424,697 1.17
o JfE 15
Other staff 41,417,275 10,441,707 1,645,769 29,329,799 1.17
HtET
Other staff 15,057,106° — 5,385,950 9,671,156  Not applicable
HtaT 36 A
Total 70,811,774 14,026,051 7,031,719 49,754,004
HEt
Notes: B2t

1. The exercise price for these options is RMBO.11 per Share and grantedon 1 1. It SBERENTEEAEERARE11T
January 2009. K R2009%F 1 A1AEH »

2. The exercise price for these options is RMB1.84 per Share and grantedon 1 2. W EERENTEEAERARE1.84T
August 2010. MA2010F8 A1HEH -

00

REAmmERARAT 2012645 (81
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 October 2010
for the purpose of motivating eligible persons to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or reward them for their past
contributions, attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going
relationships with such eligible persons who are significant to and/or
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth
or success of the Group.

The maximum number of share which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares
in issued as at the Listing Date, that is, 350,000,000 Shares. No option
may be granted to any participant of the Share Option Scheme such that
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued
share capital from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board
and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay
the Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28
days after the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than
whichever is the highest of:

(@)  the nominal value of a share;

(b) the closing price of a share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10

years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will be granted
or offered.
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Details of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme as at
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RIEEREZ - N20125F12 8318 &

31 December 2012 are as follows: HEERENFEEOT
Balance as at Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance as at
Exercise price 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant per share 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012
120124
20124 R20124F 20124 R20124F 12A31H
BHBH BRTEE 181BHNRE i T %% W EREE
29 August 2011 HK$1.50 48,148,214 - — 6,891,478 41,256,736

201148 H29H 1.5078 7T

The vesting schedule is as follows:

Vesting date

SEEHMNBREERNT

Percentage of the share option to vest

FEAH BRESBEEOL
29 August 2011 25% of the share option
201148 H29H B B HE B9 25%

25% of the share option

29 August 2012

201248 A29H BB R HE B 25%

29 August 2013 25% of the share option
201348 A29H fE B HE B9 25%

29 August 2014
20148 H29H

Subject to the Share Option Scheme, none of the grantees granted share
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or an associate of
them.

Arrangement for Directors to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above,
at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of share in or debentures of the Company granted to any
director of the Company or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of the
Company or any other body corporate.

25% of the share option
BB R HE B9 25%
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

So far as is known to the Director or chief executive of the Company, as
at 31 December 2012, the persons or corporations (other than director or
chief executive of the Company) who had interest or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

TERRRROKEERKR®G
MEZERAR

MARBEEXRFTETRABENA B
2012 12 A 318 - RARQR S HBEEE
MO EBEROTFHEEREESFALBE
IEBIEXVEBE 2R 3D ARG EBFEE T A
NAMBEZHIAE  AECAREBEEFFZR
EIERAIE 3B36HMEFENELMALE
HEABMALTIOEB (W IHERRAEEK
FETHAB)WT :

Approximate
percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares® shareholding
=g B EnHE BROBBE® {EREHSSIEIL
Zhang International® Beneficial owner 1,826,808,760(L) (&) 51.85%
REKBE® E=mEAA

CA Dairy Holdings (" Carlyle”)? Beneficial owner 853,631,240(L) (&) 24.23%
CA Dairy Holdings ([#& 1)@ ERnEAA

Carlyle Asia Partners Il L.P. Interests in a controlled corporation 853,631,240(L) (&) 24.23%

Carlyle Asia Partners Il L.P. REGEE R

Notes:

(1) Zhang International was held by Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr.
Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang
(collectively referred to as “Zhang's family”) as their wholly-owned
investment holding company to hold their shares in our Company.

(2)  Carlyle is wholly owned by Carlyle Asia Partners Ill L.P.
(3)  "L" denotes long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, the Directors of the
Company are not aware of any other person or corporation having an
interest or short position in shares and underlying shares of the Company
or its associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s BE HEIERAXRAFT LT
Listed Securities e

Other than the issue of 14,026,051 Shares pursuant to the exercise of
Pre-IPO Share Options as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2012.

Bron Rt iR R B R A B B S B EE R RE
JEE 1T {6 T 35 17 14,026,051 B B 3 4h - AR R &)
s B M B A RN B ZE20126F 12 A31H
HFEHEREE PDEREREMAARQ A
EmES-

Continuing Connected Transactions RHEBEXRS

Connected Persons BEAL

(a) JUFERFREBMRZ A (Shantou Zhang's Investment Co., (o) MBEREREER A & ([MEER
Ltd*) (“Zhang’s Investment (Shantou)”) E#RZE])

The entire equity interest in Zhang's Investment (Shantou) is held in
equal shares by 11 individuals, six of whom are members of the
controlling shareholders of the Company. Among these members
of the controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Zhang Likun,
Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian and Mr. Zhang Libo are
Directors of the Company and therefore are connected persons of
the Company under Rule 14A.11(1) of the Listing Rules. In addition,
Mr. Zhang Lihui is a brother and Ms. She Lifang is a sister-in-law of
the said members of the controlling shareholders. Given the close
relationships among Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang
Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo, Mr. Zhang Lihui and Ms. She Lifang, the
Directors consider it appropriate to aggregate their interests in
Zhang's Investment (Shantou) in determining whether they together
have a majority control over Zhang's Investment (Shantou). Since
Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang
Libo, Mr. Zhang Lihui and Ms. She Lifang together can exercise
more than 50% of the voting power at general meetings of Zhang's
Investment (Shantou), the Directors therefore consider it appropriate
to treat Zhang's Investment (Shantou) as a connected person of the
Company under Rules 14A.11(4)(b)(ii) and 14A.11(4)c)ii) of the
Listing Rules.

*  for identification purpose
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(b) EFEFHERSZERAT (Haoweijia Food Co., Ltd.*)
(“Haoweijia Food”)
Haoweijia Food is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhang's Investment
(Shantou). Since Zhang's Investment (Shantou) is a connected
person of the Company as detailed above, the Directors consider it
appropriate to treat Haoweijia Food as a connected person of the
Company under Rules 14A.11(4)(b)(ii) and 14A.11(4)(c)ii) of the
Listing Rules.

(c) HZEREELERLRZIEHK (Chaoan County Anbu
Yingjia Paper and Plastic Products Factory*) (“Yingjia”)
The entire equity interest in Yingjia is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang
Yuanlong. Mr. Zhang Yuanlong is a brother-in-law of Mr. Zhang
Likun. Mr. Zhang Likun, being a Director of the Company, is a
connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.11(1) of the
Listing Rules. Since Mr. Zhang Yuanlong, being a brother-in-law of
Mr. Zhang Likun, can exercise more than 50% of the voting power
at general meetings of Yingjia, the Directors consider it appropriate
to treat Yingjia as a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.11(4)(c)(ii) of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

1. The Haoweijia Purchase Agreement
Haoweijia Food is a manufacturer of preserved fruit products in
China. On 8 October 2010, HEHLTFIE DA F(Shanghai
Yashili Food Co., Ltd*) (“Yashili (Shanghai)”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Haoweijia Purchase
Agreement with Haoweijia Food, pursuant to which Yashili (Shanghai)
will purchase preserved fruit products from Haoweijia Food from
Listing Date to 31 December 2012. As one of the distributors of
Haoweijia Food, Yashili (Shanghai) generates revenue by purchasing
such preserved fruit products from Haoweijia and reselling them to
third-party customers. Pursuant to the Haoweijia Purchase
Agreement, the prices at which Yashili (Shanghai) purchases
preserved fruit products from Haoweijia Food are the same as such
prices at which Haoweijia Food sells its preserved fruit products to
independent third parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, purchases from Haoweijia
Food under the Haoweijia Purchase Agreement was RMB2,668,680,
which was within the approved cap of RMB6,500,000 as disclosed
in the prospectus of the Company dated 20 October 2010 (the
“Prospectus”).

*  For identification purpose
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The Haoweijia Sales Agreement

On 8 October 2010, BMLHZMBIEHNFERAA (Chaoan
Bisheng Decoration and Printing Co., Ltd*) (“Bisheng”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Haoweijia Sales
Agreement with Haoweijia Food, pursuant to which Bisheng will
sell packaging materials to Haoweijia Food from Listing Date to 31
December 2012, renewable at the option of Bisheng for a term of
three years and subject to compliance with all applicable
requirements under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Haoweijia
Sales Agreement, Bisheng sells packaging materials to Haoweijia
Food at prices that are not be lower than the prices of such
packaging materials Bisheng sells to independent third parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, sales to Haoweijia Food
under the Haoweijia Sales Agreement was RMB1,607,653, which
was within the approved cap of RMB3,000,000 as disclosed in the
Prospectus.

The Chaoan Lease

On 8 October 2010, Bisheng entered into the Chaoan Lease with
Zhang's Investment (Shantou), pursuant to which Bisheng leased an
industrial complex in Chaoan County with a gross floor area of
approximately 18,613 square meters (the “Chaoan Premise”),
which Bisheng utilizes for production, storage and ancillary
purposes, from Listing Date to 31 December 2012, renewable at
the option of Bisheng for a term of three years and subject to
compliance with all applicable requirements under the Listing Rules.

The rent payable by Bisheng to Zhang's Investment (Shantou) under
the Chaoan Lease is RMB223,356 per month, or RMB2,680,272 per
annum which is based on a rental rate of RMB12 per square meter.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the amount of rent paid by
Bisheng to Zhang's Investment (Shantou) under the Chaoan Lease
was RMB2,680,272, which was within the approved cap of
RMB2,680,272 as disclosed in the Prospectus.

*  For identification purpose
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EESRE (A

4.

The Shanghai Lease

On 8 October 2010, Yashili (Shanghai) entered into the Shanghai
Lease with Zhang's Investment (Shantou), pursuant to which Yashili
(Shanghai) leased an office in Shanghai of approximately 400
square meters (the “Shanghai Premise”), which Yashili (Shanghai)
utilizes as its office in Shanghai, from Listing Date to 31 December
2012, renewable at the option of Yashili (Shanghai) for a term of
three years and subject to compliance with all applicable
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The rent payable by Yashili (Shanghai) to Zhang's Investment
(Shantou) under the Shanghai Lease is RMB29,200 per month, or
RMB350,400 per annum. For the period from January to October
2010, the rent was RMB5,000 per month.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the amount of rent paid by
Yashili (Shanghai) to Zhang's Investment (Shantou) under the
Shanghai Lease was RMB350,400, which was within the approved
cap of RMB350,400 as disclosed in the Prospectus.

The Yingjia Purchase Agreement

Yingjia is engaged in the manufacture of plastic products in China.
On 8 October 2010, Yashili (Guangdong), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Yingjia Purchase
Agreement with Yingjia, pursuant to which Yashili (Guangdong)
will purchase plastic spoons and plastic covers from Yingjia from
Listing Date to 31 December 2012, renewable for a term of three
years and subject to compliance with all applicable requirements
under the Listing Rules. We utilize the plastic spoons and plastic
covers we purchase from Yingjia as packaging materials for our milk
powder products. Pursuant to the Yingjia Purchase Agreement, the
prices at which Yashili (Guangdong) purchases plastic spoons and
plastic covers from Yingjia are the same as such prices at which
Yingjia sells such products to independent third parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, purchase from Yingjia
under the Yingjia Purchase Agreement was RMB11,735,084, which
was within the approved cap of RMB15,000,000 as disclosed in the
Prospectus.
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Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above, in
respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with chapter
14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract of
significance has been entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders during the year ended 31
December 2012.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed
these connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are on
normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from independent third parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Save as disclosed in this section headed “Report of the Directors —
Continuing Connected Transactions”, none of the related party
transactions as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements constitutes
a connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this
annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.38. of the Listing Rules A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHE R

BEXHENFEFRERS (ERLEST L
MHAEIAAZEMFEERTE) I KRR K
EEMM B AR EZERBRNEZE 20124
RANBLEFEABE LERNEREGL -

ARAMBIFATEFTCS ERN L ERZ
FHERSTY:

— RAKRE-RABXEHBRIEPET:

— REFTHEEGRSE BIREERHD
ROUBAGZEREIFIEERIE
BERHERTR BETHBERAEEL T B
VEZFEIRBILIEZFEIHIER

EIRVAS3

— BREAEWMENEIAEZETRS
BERAFMEE  ITFEARARR
ZBEA( j’»\J/\o

GAMHEETERE - FEREXIHIAK

BEEN BER Eﬁfﬁz#&?ﬁmﬁ32?ﬁﬁﬁmfa

B R B ERRIE LR QR E SR E

5 o

ARANZBMBEE BSOS EM

RCE B IZEZE2R]) 2 300097 [ 3 1% &
EHBEUBEBUNINZZEZE] X2
BCE IS HE)E 7405R BB R & B L 47 8
FFERER MRk XY
AEBNRERERISIER - ZHAMEH
ANEBIZRR T L E 14A 381K E R F iR
BFENBEREXSBEHERBERN X
H WEHEHBEBENER - AQFE BZHE
MEHHFEIRNRETFEEHREAEIIMBRA
ﬁ]o

BEAEBERAERAT 2012FFH {

M>



Report of the Directors (continued)

ESEHE R

Non-Compete Undertakings

Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed to the Company of
his/her compliance with the non-compete undertakings provided to the
Company under the Deed of Non-competition (as defined in the
Prospectus). The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition have been complied
with by the controlling shareholders.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2012 and up to and including
the date of this annual report.

Management Contracts

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Service Contracts” above, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2012.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where the Company
is incorporated applicable to the Company.
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Emolument Policy

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications
and competence of individual employees and are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee periodically.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted two share option schemes to motivate and
reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the schemes are set
out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above and note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2012.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentages of basic salaries of the employees to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions are charged to the
consolidated income statements as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group's total contributions to
the retirement benefits schemes charged in the income statement
amounted to RMB29.9 million. Details of the Group's retirement benefits
scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in note 7(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Report of the Directors (continued)
EESRE (A

B BOR

AEENFHBERDRENRERENER -
BEEMENRER Y THHFMEZES
e

EEFMOEL2EAKENKLERE @
R RIE K A] LB TG AT BT 1R B B B
ZEQER UYMEFEGRE-

RAREHRMMBREREE NS R
BHEESRAERER - 25T 8MFS
BN EXTERETS] — B RE ISR
=M EE27 o

MEZEERNEE202F12A31BHLEEER
R TmEe -

iR k18 R 5T &

ARAIRPBEZHBEARNEERE HAHE
B A 1F B0 B KB IR R KRR A AT &I A K
BE-FEMBAREANREEAFENS
TAEALRAERKENGEHTARNZE
B AEBBEBEARBANGENE &
ERRIEFTEMFLAFHRR - RFHATS
RIBBEBEREERKBAAEORAKRD
ENEREHF RS RAME -

N6 B I A B bt R R SA SN AE ]
HiEBARKBHMAREE -

HE202F1N2A3BIFE  REERK
ERAMBORKREMNTEHBERIAEAR
#2998 & T o AE B AR IKEFIF 8 KA
BEHENFBIARESHMBREME7D)

mrAEBRRERAA 20120%% (91




Report of the Directors (continued)
EESRE (A

Major Customers and Suppliers

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's largest and five largest
customers were 0.56% and 2.51% of the Group's total sales respectively.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers were 18.9% and 32.9% of the Group’s total purchases
respectively.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2012 did a Director, his/
her associate(s) or a shareholder, which to the knowledge of the Director
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an interest in
any of the Group'’s five largest customers and suppliers.

Closure of Register of Members

(i)

For the purpose of determining the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 4 June
2013 to 6 June 2013, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on 6 June 2013, all duly completed and signed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30
p.m. on 3 June 2013.
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i)

For the purpose of determining the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to the proposed final
dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 14
June 2013 to 17 June 2013, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all duly completed
and signed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 June 2013.

Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on 6 June 2013, the proposed final dividend will be
paid to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on 17 June 2013.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management and
external auditors the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Group and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2012.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2012 have been audited by KPMG, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their
re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EESRE (A

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less than
23.42% of the Company'’s issued shares pursuant to a waiver granted to
the Company by the Stock Exchange for the period from the Listing Date.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of short-term bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2012 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
Other than such short-term bank loans, the Group had no other bank
loans or borrowings.

Corporate Governance
The Company’s corporate governance principles and practice are set out

in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 49 to 62 of this annual
report.

Summary Financial Information
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the five financial years ended 31 December 2012 is set out on pages 199

to 200 of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Lidian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report

lcnac

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 198, which comprise the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2012, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standard Board and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B B RS ()

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2012 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2013
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Consolidated Income Statement

CRR & ES

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HZE2012F12A31BEFE AAREY|R)

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue

Other net loss

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Profit from operations

Finance income
Finance costs
Net finance income

Profit before taxation

Income tax expenses
Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Profit for the year

Earnings per share

Basic

Diluted

EER

HHERA
E7

H Al YA

H Al B 18 % 8
HERKHEAX
TTHRX

H Al 5 32

REER

BB A
LRV IBRN
FR A

B B A& R

P15 5 X
FERA

BTN AL REEER
RAFBRERE A
FEIE P an

FEEF
sREF

BN
B8

2012 2011

Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
B 2 AR% TR ARBET T
5 3,655,143 2,957,818
(1,693,452) (1,419,512)

1,961,691 1,538,306

6(a) 37,631 28,714
(392) (252)
(1,222,745) (1,061,861)
(202,104) (185,454)
6(b) (14,702) (6,457)
559,379 312,996

7(a) 89,749 65,123
7(a) (2,804) (2,730)
86,945 62,393

7 646,324 375,389
8 (175,856) (66,964)
470,468 308,425

468,482 306,258

1,986 2,167

470,468 308,425

RMB Cents RMB Cents

AR¥SD AREES

12(a)
12(b)

13.3 8.7

Details of dividends payable and proposed to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in Note 29(b).

The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements.

HFERNGRMOEZEMNREZKE T AR
ARERAEALAEERE ZFBERNME
29(b) °

FI106EEFE198EMTB AT KR KA—
5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2012F12A31BIEEE (AARES]IR)

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

2012
RMB’000
AR¥T T
FEBR 470,468
Him e W
#E NI B A BB B RS R R
FTEANERZ58
DTALTEMAGEGEE RS :
RAERERE A 467,988
FE4E AR 25 1,986
FEHEWE 469,974

The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements.
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2011
RMB’000
ARBETT

308,425

(3,667)

304,758

302,591
2,167

304,758

F
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
2012412 A31 B (A AR FIR)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties

Lease prepayments

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments and other receivables
Long-term bank deposits

Other non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Amounts due from related parties
Restricted bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term bank deposits

Other investments

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Amounts due to related parties
Income tax payables

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

ERBEE
Mm% BB RRE
BREME

BNEE

BVEE
EIEDIRE &

T8 A 3R B E A R U R
RHRITER
HMIERBEE

REBEE

3

B RKA R KRR
TR 3R B A MR
& U5 B 58 77 SRIR

R HIRITFR
ReEkREFED
EHRITER
HE

REBAE

B 5 & H AR
ER R AER

F& < B8 38 77 ;IR
BRI AE

REBEEFE
HREERARBAR

2012 2011

Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B & ARB TR AR®TT
13 743,863 729,525
14 112,004 76,334
15 130,432 133,367
16 3,937 5,346
17(b) 80,015 77,048
21 184,170 11,016
23 306,142 —
8,285 6,875

1,568,848 1,039,511

19 652,922 577,731
20 26,779 52,344
21 135,667 138,148
32(b) 911 1,816
22 299,609 72,456
23 2,073,161 2,581,563
23 611,972 —
24 200,000 180,000
4,001,021 3,604,058

25 1,028,573 720,118
26 330,912 31,359
32(b) 2,188 1,722
17(a) 89,223 53,102
1,450,896 806,301

2,797,757

4,118,973 3,837,268

The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements.

198 E (X /B N B 15 R 1 —
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

AHEERER(H)

As at 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
2012412 A31 B (A AR FR)

2012 2011
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mo 5E AR® T AR¥EF T
Non-current liabilities ERBEEB
Deferred income I8 7T W 7 28 18,627 30,669
Deferred tax liabilities REFRTEE B 17(b) 18,000 2,600
33,269
Net assets EEFH 4,082,346 3,803,999
Capital and reserves [ R
Capital fi% 25 29 302,601 301,463
Reserves & 5 3,776,458 3,501,235
Total equity attributable to equity AATRERFE AEML
shareholders of the Company A 4,079,059 3,802,698
Non-controlling interests FERER 3,287 1,301
Total equity e 4,082,346 3,803,999

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March ~ # %E F & 7020134 3 A 25 B % JfE I #% # %

2013. ffb o
Zhang Lidian Zhang Liming
o I 88 iR Al B2
Directors Directors
g EE
The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements. F106BEEF18EMFBAM BRI —
B e

.

e
1 00 vashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012




Balance Sheet

EEREBR

As at 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
2012412 A31 B (A AR FIR)

2012 2011
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T T AR¥EF T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries A B A T H R 18 3,203,523 3,231,411
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables A R K LA FE M R 21 233
Cash and cash equivalents B RESEEY 23 13,600
13,833
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H b & 5 3K 25 10,788
Loans and borrowings Bk R AE 26 —
10,788
Net current assets REBEEFRH 3,045
Net assets EEFHE 3,210,172 3,234,456
Capital and reserves IR A % f 1%
Capital & 7 29 302,601 301,463
Reserves i 29 2,907,571 2,932,993
Total equity ERBE 3,234,456

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March A& % = @ 10201343 A 25 B & /& 3 % # %

2013. ffi o
Zhang Lidian Zhang Liming
3R 7 iR 7 83
Directors Directors
= -
The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements. F106E £ F198EMEB AN BHREA —
#5 -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B EERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HZE2012F12A31 B (LAAREHIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARRREREARLE
Equity
Capital PRC settled Other Non-
Share redemption  statutory share based capital  Translation Merger  Retained controlling Total
Capital  premium reserve  reserves payment reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity
BRELE
RGEE HEEE  ROXS HbEx *ER

Bx  KRBEE i L i B EARE AHEE RERA EE i REfE
Note  RMBO0  RMBOOO  RMVB000  RMBO00  RMBOOD  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
i ARETT ARETR ARMTE ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETI ARMTT ARETR

Note29(c)  Note29(d) Note29(c)iv) ~ Note29(f)  Note 29(g) Note 29(h) ~ Note 29(e)
H3E290)  MEE29d) ME90m  HE29(0 H3%29() BisE29(h)  FaEE29(e)

At 1 January 2011 R2011E1818 300,685 1,680,849 = 52,756 7,389 (18,279) (19,482) 1,367,204 359,693 3,730,815 (866) 3,729,949
Profit for the year EREH - = = = = = = = 306,258 306,258 2,167 308,425
Other comprehensive income Hivr sz = = = = = = (3,667) — - (3,667) — (3,667)
Total comprehensive income GakEAE = = = = = = (3,667) — 306258 302,591 2167 304,758
Dividends approved in respect of RERA AR

the previous year 29(b)i) — — — — — — — — (234692 (234692 — (234692
Purchase of own shares EI 8 R 3 29(civ)

— Par value paid —Af (818) — — — — — - — — (818) = (818)

— Premium paid —%E — (15,538) — — — — — — — (15,538) — (15,538)

— Transfer between reserves —HREER - - 818 - - - - - - 818 — 818
Shares issued for exercise of Shares option & {3 3¢ 1+ 17 1 29(0)(v) 1,5% 15,126 - - (7,360) - - — - 9,362 - 9,362
Equity-settled share-based RELERR

payment transactions FOEY) — — — — 10,160 — - — — 10,160 — 10,160
Appropriation to statutory reserves BAETHEE - — — 22,167 — — — - Q67) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2011 and BR01ME12ANBR

1 January 2012 201251818 301,463 1,680,437 818 74,923 10,189 (18,279) (23,149) 1,367,204 409,092 3,802,698 1,301 3,803,999
Profit for the year FEREH - = = = = = = = 468,482 468,482 1,986 470,468
Other comprehensive income Hibr bl = = = = = = (494) — - (494) - (494)
Total comprehensive income BakBBE — — — - — — (494) - 468,482 467,988 1,986 469,974
Dividends approved in respect MBRHAE

of the previous year 29(b)i) — — — — — — — —  (200,103)  (200,103) — (200,103
Shares issued for exercise of Shares option it 3 % {+ 171 29(0)v) 1,138 1,904 - — (1,499) — - — — 1,543 — 1,543
Equity-settled share-based RiEEER Y

payment transactions YRS — — — — 6,933 — — — — 6,933 — 6,933
Appropriation to statutory reserves BANETRE — - - 32,553 - - — = (32,553) = = =
Balance at 31 December 2012 R2012512A318 302,601 1,682,341 818 107,476 15,623 (18,279) (23,643) 1,367,204 644918 4,079,059 3287 4,082,346

. . Paray Pazag N = E=
The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements. FI06EEZF18EMEBAMB@MER —
N
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

EHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HZE2012F12A31BEFE AAREY|R)

Operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
— Depreciation and amortisation
— Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
— Impairment loss for property,
plant and equipment
— Impairment loss/(write back) for
trade and other receivables
— Write-down of inventories
— Equity-settled share-based
transactions
— Interest income
— Interest expense
— Net realised and unrealised gain
on financial assets carried at
fair value

Operating profit before changes in
working capital

Change in inventories

Change in trade and bills receivables

Change in prepayment and
other receivables
Change in restricted bank deposits
excluding the part related to bank loans
Change in trade and other payables
Change in deferred income
Change in amounts due from
related parties
Change in amounts due to related parties

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

REEH

B 75t A1 g A

AEIAE -

— T E RN

—HEME BER
RIEWEIRFHE

—WE BENIERE
CODCRIEREES

—E 5 M H b YR
MURERK /(M)

—RFERE

—BRE RS
RS

—FBWA

—MEBRX

—RARBEAKRN
TREENCER
RAREBR Y FHE

LEESEIHAN

78 = gk A

FEZS

B 5 RS R ERRE

ek
22

TR 3R S EL A e U R B

BR BLERTT (5 AR #E 5 Y
XREIRITERED
BHREMENKED
BT W g B B

JE UK B8 7T SRIA & B

1 B A D)
SEEDMBERS
B HF B B
SEEH B
REFR

The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements.

2012 2011
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B s AR®T T ARET T
646,324 375,389
81,811 79,157
392 252
6,410 —
(3 (55)
142 3,171
8,476 19,522
(42,587) (44,017)
2,804 2,730
(47,006) (18,278)
656,832 417,871
(75,333) (190,087)
25,499 140,023
2,970 (36,148)
) (6,347)
299,975 230,817
(12,042) (12,259)
905 (360)
466 (2,844)
899,270 540,666
(127,302) (82,394)
771,968 458,272
FI06EEF198E M T B AP ISR KA —
5 o
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)

AHEERER (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2012F12A31BIEEE (AARES]IR)

2012 2011
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR® TR AR T T
Investing activities RETE
Interest received B UF S 26,484 44,017
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BEKIEZE
plant and equipment FT15 518 2,809 944
Proceeds from sales of other investments & E i 1% & Fr 15 71 18 1,396,006 173,278
Increase in other bank deposits H {th R 17 17 Ay & & (902,500) —
Acquisition of property, plant BEWE BEREZE
and equipment (208,161) (106,536)
Acquisition of intangible assets BEERTLAE (509) (226)
Deposit for acquisition of land use right BB E LK FE & (90,630) —
Acquisition of other non-current assets BEEMIERHEE (4,014) (5,096)
Acquisition of other investments BEHMITE (1,369,000) (335,000)
Other effect from investing activities HEMigEEEH 4,648 (795)
Net cash used in investing activities KRB EHMAR S FE (1,144,867) (229,414)
The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements. F106E £ F198EWEB AT B HREA —
B o

.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)
EHBEERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HZE2012F12A31BEFE AAREY|R)

2012 2011
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARBTR ARBT T
Financing activities A& EE
Payment for repurchase of shares A% 17 B 8% 52 1+F = (15,538)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings Bk RS ATE RIE 361,340 36,223
Change in restricted bank deposits B 58 17 18 AR B Y
in relation to bank loans XRENRITERE S (227,151) (23,799)
Repayments of loans and borrowings BEERMER (61,787) (163,304)
Interest paid =EEEE (2,660) (2,586)
Dividends paid BT E (200,103) (234,692)
Net cash used in REITBHFAZERS
financing activities (403,696)
Net decrease in cash and HeRBRESEEY
cash equivalents AR (503,260) (174,838)
Cash and cash equivalents at M1B1EHHNRER
1 January BEZEY 23 2,581,563 2,759,273
Effect of foreign exchange EXSHNT
rate changes (5,142) (2,872)
Cash and cash equivalents at R12A31MHNEEZR
31 December ReZEY 23 2,581,563
The notes on pages 106 to 198 form part of these financial statements. F106EZF198EMFERNTIEHRERA —
=i
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BB RRME

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

General information and basis of presentation

Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter
22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2012 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as “Group”). The Group is primarily engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of diary and nourishment products.

Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards and interpretations issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”),
and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the Listing
Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

The IASB has issued a few amendments to IFRSs that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group and
the Company. Note 3 provides information on adoption of
new accounting policies to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.
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HEHERZERER QA (ARRF])
R2010F6 ABHIREHR S B S A 7
EENRENGIFE=ZRE0 K&
HREERERSTMA L AE
HREERAF AZMREREMIA
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °

HZE2012F12A31BILFENA G
BREBREARAARENE QA (FH
HIAEE]) AEBFERERER
HEISmREER -

EXEFHE

(a) EREH
HEFBRRELRBRAEGERD
B % B 5 g o 4 R (1 B89 B B 5 3
R (K2 RmER e £R
ZBg((BEREsTEAZER))
2 1o B BT B 8 R A fE Bl B R B
BHREER  HEEER R
B) AR EFE(R ARG H K E
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
A ff B 35 3R & M 5 (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

2 EXREFTHXw

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

stEER

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (b)

(c)

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"),
rounded to the nearest thousands except per share data
("presentation currency”), which is the reporting currency of
the Group.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated
at fair value as explained in Note 2(f).

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note
35.

(c)

HEFBREAARBETAR
BHEHNT2INEE])  TRA
SENIBER - KERBUE
S BB EBREREAN
FRIEK -

HARAABEFELEZ A
AEHESNERBEEIN M
2(f)) - fm BL B 75 MR TR A RO T
ERERELRAEE-

B R b5 &

BB R IR BIRR B 75 s 2 A
B R RE - AELH -
fhEt R B - R FHE - SR
BREFESTBRENERUR
BE BE WARAXHWER
T RFMET RABERKR LR
BRAEERIARERBERARR
BEMNBZEEGCRRSER M
FISERRATEEBERENK
HiRERSEERBENERE
ERELHE KR  BRER
A BB RN E A -

EIEE G EENSEME RE
RR - WEst bt 2 BFTRE
LEFHERTHE - AIABET R
ZHEER XM EEETZE
BENKKGARE - BIRMERT B
R R R ER PR R 7 ©

FREEEERABERYBERS
ERRAELHMBHREREEXR
FEZ - AR fEE AR A
EZEBERIR KR35 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

2 EXREFTHXw

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

Basis of consolidation

(1)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are

(d)

BHEE

(1)

Wt B 2 & R FF 2 I #E 25
MEBARTEXANEEE
(M- RR LIRS
EREXE-—ERNOPBKR
REER  WRENKEHEER
REE A a o RS T

taken into account. CHEHR - BZEBRIA{T
155 B9 VB 1R R R HE o

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(1)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
A ff B 35 3R & M 5 (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

2 ERETHE@)
d) & BHE%E @)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from total equity attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results
of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (Note

2(1)(i).

(1)

K B 2 & K FF £ IR # 25
(&
FEBRESRAHEER
BRANEZP L) R
RRAEERAARIEN
Bmo Rl 25 AR ELK
B EE D BIEERE R
SmMARABRERB A%
@ FFAE T A E A i
REEEWBERF 2

el 75 =2 B 10 B B 2~ ) O A
SEH I EERNAKER
KL B A A RO 45 42 0 R
EREEXZHAE  MRE
OF 48 25 WO B SR BB 2 I IR 4R
HERESSRAE  UR
MEEREE ETFAE
BERERRSELIBE -

RARBEERERA R
B B~ B B B 1R AKAN R
EREE R 5B (KT EE2()
(ii)) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

2 Significant accounting policies (continved) 2 EREFBRmw

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued) d) &BFE%E @)
(i) Business combination (i) FEBE O

The acquisition method of accounting is used to WEZEZRETDARAE

account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. WEEHT B AR ABRESEIE -

Under the acquisition method of accounting, BIBWE L B AR B &E

subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on fliEE ARNEE 2 AER

which control is transferred to the Group. The cost of A AR 88K AR

an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets REMABFGETEENR

given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred AEBE FTETKREILAR

or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets FTEESFTARENE &

acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 2 XBAEOMHAME AR

in a business consolidation are measured initially at their B EERFTEAERNEE

fair values at the acquisition date. Transaction costs in RaABE VR ERRE

connection with a business consolidation are expensed ZWEE A QR EE

as incurred. B EBAMHEANZSHK

ADDREBRELERGTAE

HitE A -

(e) Foreign currency (e) Hhi&

(i) Functional currency (i) FEERE®
[tems included in the financial statements of each entity STAREERE R KR
in the Group are measured using the currency that best R EIE B A ek ik B
reflects the economic substance of the underlying ZEEHNBANKSETE LD
events and circumstances relevant to the entity. B E o

(ii)  Foreign currency transactions (i) HIEXZ
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the INERZZHERR S5 E BH
respective functional currencies of group entities at EXHESREBRNTE
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. WElREE - REER - U
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign INEETI R EBEEN A
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the e mE HHERFH
functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. ME ARG o
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are ENBMEMELANINEE
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that FHAESHBERPER - REF
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign ERHRAGTEMINEIFGE R
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the HE - AERFBESEEXRETT
date of the transaction. ]ME o
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Foreign currency (Continued)
(i) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated to RMB at exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations
are translated to RMB at exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are
recognised in other comprehensive income. For the
purposes of foreign currency translation, the net
investment in a foreign operation includes foreign
currency intra-group balances for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future and
foreign currency differences arising from such a
monetary item is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

When a foreign operation is disposed of, in whole or in
part, the relevant amount of the currency translation
reserve is transferred to the profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

()  Financial instruments

(i)

Non-derivative financial assets

All financial assets (including assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on
the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group
contractual
expire, or

derecognises a financial asset when the
rights to the cash flows from the asset
it transfers the rights to receive the
contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

2 ERETHE@)
H £®IE@

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()  Financial instruments (Continued)

o

(1)

Non-derivative financial assets (Continued)
The Group has the following non-derivative financial
assets:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit
or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is
designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial
assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss
if the Group manages such investments and makes
purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy. Upon initial
recognition attributable transaction costs are recognised
in profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and
changes therein are recognised in profit or loss.

Receivables

Receivables are financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value
plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses (Note 2(I)(i)).

Receivables comprise trade receivables and prepayments
and other receivables.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()  Financial instruments (Continued)

(1)

(ii)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
A ff B 35 3R & M 5 (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

2 ERETHE@)
H £®IE@

Non-derivative financial assets (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

All financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially
on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

The Group's non-derivative financial liabilities include
loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.
Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities
are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

(1)

(ii)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

2 EXREFTHXw

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

€@/ TE@m)
i) $T4ESBTA

()  Financial instruments (Continued) (f)
(iii) Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency exposure. Derivative
financial instruments are recognised initially at fair
value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except
where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting in which case recognition of any resultant
gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being
hedged. Where a derivative financial instrument is
designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of
a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk of a
committed future transaction, the effective portion of
any gains or losses on remeasurement of the derivative
financial instrument to fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of
any gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

During the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2012,
the Group's derivative has not been qualified as
effective cash flow hedging. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately
to profit or loss. Related financial assets/liabilities were
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the contract or they expire.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment

(1)

(ii)

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (Note 2(1)(ii)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of an asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and
direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to a working condition for its
intended use, and the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located. Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as
part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of
property, plant and equipment.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses (Note 2(I)(ii)).

Cost comprises direct costs of construction during the
construction period. Capitalisation of these costs ceases
and the construction in progress is transferred to
property, plant and equipment when all of the activities
necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use
are substantially complete.

Reclassification to investment properties

When the use of a property changes from owner-
occupied to investment property, the property is
reclassified as investment property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2 EXREFTHXw

(g) Property, plant and equipment (Confinued)
(iii) Subsequent costs

(iv)

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of
the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs
of the day-to-day serving of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in profit and loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment. Buildings held for own use which are
situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of the lease and their
estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives of other property, plant and
equipment are as follows:

e Plant and buildings 13-20 years
e Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
e Motor vehicle 5 years
e Office equipment and 5 years

other equipment

Depreciation methods, useful life and residual value are
reassessed at each reporting date.

(h) Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise purchased and customised
software which are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of five years.

o
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

(i

(k)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental
income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale
in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

(i)  Recognition and measurement
[tems of investment properties are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (Note

2(1)(ii)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of an asset.

(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of investment properties. The estimated useful lives
range from 27.5 to 50 years.

Depreciation methods, useful life and residual value are
reassessed at each reporting date.

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent cost of land use rights paid to
the PRC government authorities. Land use rights are stated as
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (Note
2(I)(ii)). Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the respective period of the rights.

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

(i

(i

(k)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEBAN
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

U)

Inventories (Continued)

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of assets

(i)  Financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit
or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective
evidence indicates that a loss event had a negative
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset
that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount, and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised
in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account
against receivables. When a subsequent event causes
the amount of impairment loss to decrease, impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss.

1 18 Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012

2 EXREFTHXw

(k)

U)

FE @)

R METHRAESE A
%%ﬁﬁ%wm NI RL A R 4
FEEZRIREBBHROK
Z'So

AEEFELKHEERBRERH
HEEERTEKEEREERS
HEtR A E

ﬁ s H &R RREERERK
E‘JEEWE;@F'EJEE A o HUR

AERFENTFEEBENAA
7(? S B 1R 0 Bl HE 1T IORL B B

BENHBERSH -FEHN
{F fa] $0RL % (] 70 %58 (=) 20 S 7 2R 4
IME M F B &R D

EERE

(i) ZREE
RERERH  HWIEUAA
ABEFEAZTHTAR
mH e A EREITME M
BEREFEREBNRME
BE - -HMETHIBEERE
BEHHemEENMGE
AXRBEEREEKNEER
FER WA S AT AR
BEHRALERE -

RBHEKAFTENERE
ERREERSL  UEKREE
HEERABERM KRB
B ARREREHREN
ZHMAE -BREEEAET
FERR I FE WK A K BR
[ BR - fir BE 18 1 B BURE
BREBERD  ZRERXKX
MABAEERSETED -



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (Continued)

The Group considers evidence of impairment of
receivables at both specific asset and collective level.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for
impairment on an individual basis. The remaining
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial
assets, other than inventories and deferred tax asset,
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists then the asset’'s recoverable
amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating
unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less cost to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
risks specific to the assets.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount
of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash
flows that largely are independent from other assets
and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units
and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
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2 Significant accounting policies (continved)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

(m) Employee benefits

(1)

(ii)

(iii)

Short term emp/oyee benefits

Salaries, wages, annual bonuses and staff welfare are
accrued in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Group.

Defined contribution retirement plans

Obligations for contributions to local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to the
relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when they are
due, except to the extent that they are included in the
cost of inventories not yet recognised as an expense.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
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2 EXREFTHXw

(m) EEEF @
(iv] BRGZHAXE

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)
(iv] Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a equity-settled share-based payment reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
by using the binomial option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that
the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year/period
of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the equity-settled share-based payment
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the equity-settled share-based payment reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the
company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised in
the equity-settled share-based payment reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to
the share premium account) or the option expires (when
it is released directly to retained earnings).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEBAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised if, as a result of a past event, the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i)  Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

(i) Rental income
Rental income from investment properties is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(iii) Dividends
— Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

— Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment
goes ex-dividend.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the group for
expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the group for
the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

Operating lease payment

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral
part of the total lease expenses, over the term of the lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEBAN
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.

Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income and increase in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective
interest method.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings,
decreases in fair value financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Research and development costs

Expenditures on an internal research and development project
are classified into expenditures on the research phase and
expenditures on the development phase. Research is original
and planned investigation undertaken with the prospect of
gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding. Development is the application of research
findings or other knowledge to a plan or design for the
production of new or substantially improved materials,
devices, products or processes before the start of commercial
production or use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(1

(u)

Research and development costs (Confinued)
Expenditures on research phase are recognised in profit or
loss when incurred. Expenditures on development phase are
capitalised if development costs can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially feasible,
and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to
complete development. Capitalised development costs are
stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(1))(ii)). Other
development expenditures are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

(t

(v)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEBAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable
profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of
taxable differences, the group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u)

Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each other
and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the company or the group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
company or the group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net
basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(u)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(v) Related parties
For the purpose of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

2 Significant accounting policies (continved) 2 EREFBRmw
(v) Related parties (Continued) (v) BEER @
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b)y EEENEM T EM M
conditions applies: (Continued) B MARNEE 7 B E:
(&
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and (ivy ERAFEF=BEEZA
the other entity is an associate of the third entity. ERAElmE—&ER
RE-ZBERBZBED
g o
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for vy EBEEAAKNEEIMEAK
the benefit of employees of either the Group or EEEMBE2ELE R
an entity related to the Group. BB F R LB E
Mt &l -
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a viy BEREIQ@FFAEAL
person identified in (a). 78 i) Sk B A 4 ) e
(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant Vi) @OFTAEALTHE
influence over the entity or is a member of the BHEEEATESE
key management personnel of the entity (or of a ERIAZAEEEN
parent of the entity). AZEZEEBEAE -
Close members of the family of a person are those ZAANTZRGERGO AT
family members who may be expected to influence, or HerEEEERIF 2
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the ZAANTHZEFZE R
entity. TRRX B °
(w) Segment reporting (w) 2 8B &
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item wES LI FEV B RETE R
reported in the these financial statements, are identified from MEDEIER SR JVIRERD
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s &R T AN 5 B % 78 3 7% B it [=
most senior executive management for the purposes of el R G E R mE BRRE T
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the AREEBRSRTHREEASNE
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations. EEREMmAEE -
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated M EHREmMs BAEELE
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have DEIEEFE®R HEHMEBD
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of HEAEULESEHAREE SR
the nature of products and services, the nature of production FREME EEREFEE X
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used FPREAS R &HE DR
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the AR 76 BT B A B9 5 & AN BS B 3R 3
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments G HmEEL - BIERIER o i 1E Rl
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they WHEEEMLED A ERER £
share a majority of these criteria. MAREA R BIA &G 23, o
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

Adoption of new accounting policies

The IASB has issued a few amendments to International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. None of the developments are
relevant to the Group's financial statements.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its business by product lines. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s senior executive management which has been
identified as the chief operating decision-maker for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following four reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments:

o Production and sale of Yashily pediatric milk formula
products: this segment includes development, manufacture
and sale of Yashily pediatric milk formula products and milk
formula for pregnant women in the PRC.

o Production and sale of Scient pediatric milk formula products:
this segment includes development, manufacture and sale of
Scient pediatric milk formula products and milk formula for
pregnant women in the PRC.

° Production and sale of nutrition products: this segment
includes development, manufacture and sale of milk powder
for adults and teenagers, soymilk powder, rice flour and
cereal products in the PRC.

o Other operations include the production and sales of packing
materials, which mainly serve the Group's internal use, and
sale of surplus raw materials. The results of these operations
are included in the “others” column.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B Of I IS 8RR Y 5 (4D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

Segment reporting (Continued)

RERESMBzBAFBOHERBARSD
AR SROTBREEERSRIE AT
EHmoDEE NI E (AT AR &
HERAMHEE ML HEF ) R
REDHBHERBA - AEETSILEHAM
WA~ Hfh s ok BB F R - BT AEAK
AFEE - B HE R IAIND
MXoBEEN#F  RERSRTR
BEEEGYTEEA LAEHNDAEE
BREZENHMIFBERR -BRA
SETEEHARASRTREEARRE
BoMEERAE At FHMH
BRALEZ2INAE2ROAEERA
B EF -

(a)

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources among segments, the senior executive management team
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of “reportable segment profit” i.e. “revenue less cost of
sales and selling and distribution expenses”. The Group does not
allocate other revenue, other net income or loss, net finance costs,
expenses other than certain selling and distribution expenses to its
segments, as the senior executive management does not use this
information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of
the operating segments. Segment assets and liabilities are not
regularly reported to the Group’s senior executive management and
therefore information of reportable segment assets and liabilities
are not presented in these financial statements.

FRAUTE2HIBHESR

(a) Information about reportable segments

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZE2012F12A31HILLEE

Yashily Scient
pediatric pediatric
milk formula milk formula Nutrition
products products products Others Total
M+ F e B
By RmE BHRER
T4 E m MHER EEMm H &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR®BTnR AR¥TR AR®TrR
Revenue from external REINEEF
customers 79 A 2,478,269 653,426 489,445 34,003 3,655,143
Inter-segment revenue 2 EPE A — — — 141,823 141,823
Reportable segment Al 2 ¥R 5 &
revenue A 2,478,269 653,426 489,445 175,826 3,796,966
Reportable segment profit & £ ¥ % &6 4 7 722,604 859 133,985 (12,300) 94
Segment depreciation and % 2B &
amortisation & Fic 34,582 22,158 4,550 3,273 64,563
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

4 Segment reporting (Confinued) 4 RBEDH@
(a) Information about reportable segments (Continued) ) EETEHRTBHNER
(#&)

Year ended 31 December 2011
HZE2011F128318EFE

Yashily
pediatric Scient pediatric
milk formula milk formula Nutrition
products products products Others Total
£ Fl i)
BHREE BHREH
Tk E & i E & BE R Hith =i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTE ARETT ARETET
Revenue from external REIINBEPL
customers SO 1,825,525 608,627 473,312 50,354 2,957,818
Inter-segment revenue 7 EP A — — — 136,067 136,067
Reportable segment
revenue CEEE T PN 1,825,525 608,627 473,312 186,421 3,093,885
Reportable segment profit — &] 2 ¥R % 2 % 7 424,678 57,461 137,015 (6,258) 612,896
Segment depreciation and
amortisation D BRI E I 5 31,181 19,259 5,168 2,770 58,378
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue b) T2HI WU ABEBHEN
and profit or loss B
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AR T
Total reportable segment revenue A 2o B A BEE 3,796,966 3,093,885
Elimination of inter-segment revenue K §8 55 26 & WA (141,823) (136,067)
Turnover wm | 3655143 2,957,818
Reportable segment profit Al 2 3k 5 20 942,148 612,896
Other revenue and other net loss B U A K H b B 18 0F 58 37,239 28,462
Unallocated amounts: RAOMK S EEZ
Selling and distribution expenses HE RARHR X (203,202) (136,451)
Administrative expenses TERA X (202,104) (185,454)
Net finance income TS A 86,945 62,393
Other expenses HibF (14,702) (6,457)
Profit before taxation % %% B & 7 646,324 375,389

P
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 K& 5 E

(c)

Geographical information

The Group's revenue is solely from domestic sales during the
year. No export sales were recorded in the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2012. The Group’s senior executive
management periodically review the geographic analysis of
the revenue derived from Yashily and Scient pediatric milk
formula products, which summarises the revenue by different
tiers of cities where the Group’s customers operate. The
classification of the tiers is set out below:

o First-tier cities generally include direct-controlled
municipalities, the highest level of cities under the direct
administration of the PRC central government, and
provincial capital cities, including but not limited to
Beijing, Shanghai, Nanchang, Chongging, Shijiazhuang
and Guangzhou. As there is no official classification,
such classification is determined based on our directors’
knowledge and experience;

o Second-tier cities generally refer to prefecture-level
cities, the administrative division of the PRC, ranking
below a province and above a county in China’s
administrative structure, including but not limited to
Dongguan, Nanyang, Jiujiang and Foshan. As there is
no official classification, such classification is determined
based on our directors’ knowledge and experience;

o Third-tier cities generally refer to county-level cities, the
county-level administrative divisions of the PRC,
including but not limited to Jinjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou,
Kunshan and Luohe. As there is no official classification,
such classification is determined based on our directors’
knowledge and experience.

it & & ¥
AEENRAZIBREEERNDHA
$H o B 22011F &2012F 12 A
BSTEHEFEHNESSLOEE
ik AKBENSRITHEREA
ETHEMELIARERZRD R
Be 75 WY A3 = G BT AE Y IR A 1B
BESH ERFBRAEBEFET
&) BT 7E Hb 4B 45 7 =39 T AR Bl &9 Uk
A HAMEI DT

s —HRET-—KRERE®R
o APERRBEFEEE
ENRSERNT RES
W BREETRRIER -
tE -EE BE OXHE
REN - BARRBEETD
B ZE0RBAKEES
IR E AR & R BT

s RHREMEZETBEITHRER
AT - NP EITER
AP ERE=RE B
BRRRR= BB AT
K- BBRNREE A D
B REPHRHAREES
IR E AR & B EE

s =REMZETBEZERT
KRB FERT  BHERER
BRREL E2 -=2M B
W EORA c AR BE 1D
B REPHEHAKREES
RIBEMBE R ERETE -

mERERERERAT 20120F% (133



Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
SO R R R Y A ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 BEIHBw
() Geographical information (Continued) () HEER @
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Yashily pediatric milk formula products =+ FI884h R & 75
WYER

Revenue derived from R E AT [ & 4 A
— First-tier cities — — R 313,625 263,214
— Second-tier cities — T 1,108,857 930,782
— Third-tier cities and others — =R R EH A 1,055,787 631,529

Total A5t 2,478,269 1,825,525

Scient pediatric milk formula products 284 R &5

B ER
Revenue derived from R E AT A U A
— First-tier cities — — R 65,996 64,494
— Second-tier cities — T 437,142 437,459
— Third-tier cities and others — =R R EH A 150,288 106,674
Total Bar 608,627
5 Turnover 5 EXHE
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of AREBFTEREIEBEEERLEE
dairy and nourishment products. Turnover represents the sales value RiHE BEmMIENTEHENE S
of goods supplied to customers. Turnover excludes sales taxes and MEEBE ZEXB1T0EEED
is after deduction of any trade discounts. WAAHBRET S E 4 -
The Group’s customer base is diversified and no revenue from REFBHWEEEMZ (L RER -
transactions with a single customer amounted to 10% or more of WEEME -—RFHNR SR AU
the Group's total turnover during the year. A(EAREE 4L 22 10%K A F o

S0,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B Of I IS 8RR Y 5 (4D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

6 Other revenue and other expenses 6 HWARHEHMAX
(a) Other revenue (a) Hfzug A
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Government grants (i) B 78 B (0) 13,919
Compensation income (ii) 17 {8 U A (i) 8,860
Rental income e WA 4,967
Others Hih 968
28,714
(i)  Government grants in form of cash subsidies were () HEBHFBIT AR HEE
received from the local government and they are as BB TR mBIIT
follows:
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Compensation for expenses incurred HEEASTHAEE 8,850 6,860
Compensation for acquisition of assets HESEERNME (7. 6,759
Taxes refund R 10,418 300
(i)  Compensation income mainly represented forfeiture (i) MEVATEEREAR
received from distributor customers for cross territorial EREEHBREINEE
sales that breached the terms of distribution agreements MEEEBEFLRKA R
during the year. I8 °

BAEBERERAT 2012445 1135




Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
SO R R R Y A ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

6 Other revenue and other expenses (Confinued) 6 HMWARHEAMBEX @

(b) Other expenses (b) H AR
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T
Loss on disposal of inventory (i) 7 & WmEE B K ) £
Impairment for Property, Plant E & ERE (M FE13)
and Equipment (Note 13) —
Others (ii) H 1t (ii) 6,064
6,457

(i)  Loss on disposal of inventory mainly represented losses ) GFERBEBEXEIZEARR
arising from stocktake loss, disposal of dampened or BHER - MmERHIZEEK
deteriorated. PENGEERBREBRED

BIETEE £ RIIB K -

(i)  Others in 2012 include charitable donation amounted (i) 20RFEMHMEZBIEF
RMB3,897,000 (2011: RMB1,972,000) mainly to HNBNMEZEENAR
primary schools and other charitable organizations. # 3,897,000 7t (2011 4 :

AR ¥1,972,0007T) EE 18
-

eacs)

M

£
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B Of I IS 8RR Y 5 (4D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

7 Profit before taxation 7 PBRBAER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRAI SR TG A TS IER =
2
(@) Finance (income)/costs (@) BF# (WA),/HRAR
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR T
Finance income B 2 W A
Interest income R B WA (42,587) (44,017)
Net foreign exchange gain b 5 U 2 5 BE (156) (2,828)
Net realised and unrealised gains REHEEEMNEER K
on trading assets AEBRWRFRE (47,006) (18,278)
Sub-total INEF (89,749) (65,123)
Finance costs B 75 AR A<
Interest expense MERXZ 2,730
Sub-total INEF 2,730
Net finance income F WA (62,393)
(b) Staff costs (b) EIHKA
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBET T
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe TERHMET 276,887 221,310
Contributions to defined FE HEGRRET 8 /Y R
contribution retirement schemes 29,856 14,866
Equity-settled share based REEERN R XZ
payment expenses (Note 27) (Pft3E27) 6,933 10,160
246,336
Staff costs included directors’ and senior management’s EIRABREEELSAEE A
remuneration. ENEE -
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF B B | R Y (D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

7 Profit before taxation (Confinved) 7 BR¥ AR @
(b) Staff costs (Continued) (b) B I B (@)
Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the WIEE AR S EEELE
PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Company have participated AAGIHNBEKEAGTE 20
in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the B H RS ER R EHIGRKR
“Scheme”) organised by the local authority whereby the PRC BAMEE ([5ZEH2)) - BEZE
subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the Scheme 2 ARAE KB R R AR
based on certain percentages of the eligible employee’s BEEREIMNGEN A D
salaries. The local government authority is responsible for the b RETHMZET SR -
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees. WHBRFEEEEREKEES X
The Group has no other obligations for payments of TESES AEBEKRIKZ EX
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of employees FiT it 25 49 B9 4L ZRA N - AR S
other than the contributions described above. NHRAREHEMBRARERBFNE
£
(c) Other items ) H#EAH
2012 2011
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T
Cost of inventories (i) (Note 19) T & AR A ) (B 3E19) 1,859,234 1,569,494
Depreciation: e
— Property, plant and equipment (i) — M BE REE
(Note13) (Bt5E13) 72,681 71,156
— Investment properties (Note14) —REME (KM 14) 1,673 1,449
Amortisation: By
— Lease prepayments (Note15) — B2 (FFEE15) 2,935 2,935
— Intangible assets (Note16) —EmpEE (MsE16) 1,918 2,054
— Other non-current assets —HMIERBEE 2,604 1,563
Operating lease charges KEHEE M
— Hire of plant, machinery —MHAKE -
and properties RN E 10,593 13,252
Auditors’ remuneration % 2D B
— Audit and review services — Bz REHRE 2,380 2,530
Net loss on disposal of plant and HEME R REH
equipment EiBFE 392 252
Impairment loss/(write-back) AERK(EE)
— On trade receivables (Note 20) — & 5 ek (Bt 5£20) 66 (55)
— On inventories —=Fg 3,171
— On property, plant and equipment —ME  BEMRE
(Note 13) (KE3E13) —
— Rentals receivable from investment —REMERRKNES
properties less direct outgoings (ii) B B & X H G (4,851)

™
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF BF %5 R R B ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

7 Profit before taxation (Confinved) 7 BRBADER @
(c) Other items (Continued) () HMEB @)

(i) Cost of inventories includes RMB111,706,000 for the () TFEKABEEHZ2012%F

year ended 31 December 2012 relating to staff costs NRAMNBILEFEHARE

and depreciation (2011: RMB96,708,000), which 111,706,0007C * Jh 8 8 T

amounts are also included in the respective total KARTERBEQ0114E :

amounts disclosed above or in Note 7(b) for each of A K #96,708,0007T ) © 1M

these types of expenses. E & BINF AT £

MY E7(b) 5 SN KR BE 69 5 T AR
JEF X B o

(i) Direct outgoing of investment properties are RMB5,000 (i) EHZE2012F12A831H It &F
for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: E REVENEESILA
RMB117,000). AR #¥5,0007T (20114 = A

R #117,0007T) °

8 Income tax expenses 8 FEMEAX
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of comprehensive () AHEFEAEWTZRANMMERAS
income represents: V=
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARET T
Current tax — PRC income tax BN — P E R BH
Provision for the year FE B 163,833 102,791
Over provision in respect of prior years NEFERERE (410) (495)
Deferred tax — PRC income tax FEEFIE— AR EFFERH 12,433 (35,332)
Total income tax expenses FrieBipm 4% 66,964
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)

& Of B 7 3R 3R BT & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

8 Income tax expenses (Continued)

8 FIBFHBEIZw

(b)  Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit at (b)) FERZEZERMEFENS

applicable tax rates:

At il B #9 B
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBETT

Profit before taxation

Notional tax on profit before taxation,
calculated at the rates applicable to
profits in the tax jurisdictions
concerned (i) to (iii)

Over provision in prior year

Effect of non-deductible expenses

Effect of preferential tax rates

B 5% At A1)

EHERORGNBREE
B2 3 O A 8 A RO B R
&t 8 P15 #O B B4 A i A

646,324 375,389

HBEMIE 158,537 90,606
A FEREEE (410) (495)
TAHEAZNEE 4,379 4,618
BRI RGN E B E

on current tax payable (iii) 952 £ (jii) (1,962) (3,785)
Effect of tax rate differential (iii) TR = 2552 £ i) ((1:13)) (1,859)
Change in unrecognised temporary REERIE T B IE 60 B

differences and tax losses EERMBEENZZ (183) (5,835)
Effect of utilisation of temporary FHENEFERERL

differences and tax losses EZHERBMIEEENZE (289) (19,002)
Effect of withholding income tax (iv) TEIZ BT 15 70 /9 52 2 (iv) 20,400 3,436
Effect of non-taxable income TEFBARZE (3,928) (720)
Income tax expenses FriS#i /M 2 M
(i)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman i) BREFRSHEREEBREX

Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any HEMBRERER ~&E
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI. EETREREREBR

(i) The provision for Hong Kong Tax for 2012 is calculated (ii)
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for the

year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8 Income tax expenses (Continued)

(b)  Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit at
applicable tax rates: (Continued)

(iii)

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16
March 2007 (the “New Tax Law"), the statutory income
tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008. There are transitional preferential tax
treatments available under the New Tax Law and its
relevant regulations.

Except for Yashili (Zhengzhou) Nourishment Co., Ltd
("Yashili (Zhengzhou)”), all PRC subsidiaries of the
Group are subject to a unified income tax rate of 25%
in 2012.

Yashili (Zhengzhou), being a manufacturing FIE
established in Zhengzhou Economic and Technological
Development Zone, was entitled to both the 2+3 tax
holiday and a preferential tax rate of 15%. Yashili
(Zhengzhou) started its tax holiday in 2008 and is
exempted from income tax for 2009 and subject to
income tax at 11%, 12%, 12.5% and 25% for 2010,
2011, 2012 and from 2013 onwards, respectively.

The effect of tax rate differential mainly represented the
effect of the difference in tax rates among the Company
and its subsidiaries and the tax effect arising from
difference between the tax rate of 25% being applied
in the computation of expected income tax and the rate
for recognising the deferred tax.

B OF B 35 3R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEBAN

AANREFIR)

8 FiIsFHMIw

() BERXERERRIXFENS
FHORMEEER  (B)

(iii)

BEE+TEZEARKRE
A& R2007F3 16 H BB
R E AR EFIBE AT
BREYIFB LD A&
E & H B A 5 B 20084 1
B 1B REETE RS X
#25% ° 1 E A & E AE
ERET A BE MG R
BEFFB-

BRELTR(EMN) &ERE
PR R ([HEF(EIM) )z
AN - 75 B H A FA P B K B
B F A B R2012F 0 FT 18
L H25% °

e+ F(EB N ) A 7E B M A
S R A B BS [ BK S A A E
RANERERE ZTEMRE
=R ¥R R15% /&
B R FETH(EM)ER
20084F 1A & FH 23 - I R
2009F B FTE R MR
20104 ~ 20114 K 20124
K B2013F A& &) FT 158 Ft
HMEBDBA11% * 12%
12.5% K. 25% °

TRARENFZETERR
NI -3 = N A
ERTRMENTE AR
AEBHABREMER
H125% B X B B 38R AT A
HEERMEMANBREA
RIFEENTE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEBAN

AANREFIR)

8 Income tax expenses (Continued)

(b)  Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit at
applicable tax rates: (Continued)

(iv)

Pursuant to the New Tax Law and its relevant
regulations, PRC-resident enterprises are levied
withholding tax at 10% on dividends to their non-PRC-
resident corporate investors for profits earned since 1
January 2008. Under the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax
Arrangement and its relevant regulations, a qualified
Hong Kong tax resident which is the “beneficiary
owner” and holds 25% equity interests or more of a
PRC enterprises is entitled to a reduced withholding tax
rate of 5%. On this basis, the Group has made provision
of withholding income tax on the distributable profits
generated by PRC subsidiaries.
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b) BEFREREBRXFENS
FHORM B EER (&)

(iv)

REFT R AR HE BB
PR ER D% 52008
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B Of I IS 8RR Y 5 (4D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

9 EEME

BREEBRAAGIEI6IGKENE

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: EMEMT -
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Retirement  share- based
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary schemes payment 2012
fees in kind bonuses contributions expenses Total
e RER BIK REZER®G 20124
EsHe BEMF & B g TEAL HE K3 XX =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR¥Tn AR¥Tn AR%®Trn AR%BTx AR%Tx
Executive directors: HITES
— Mr. Zhang Likun — SR A A
— Mr. Zhang Liming —SRAMEA KA
— Mr. Zhang Lidian — RAISE LA
— Mr. Zhang Libo —RAEEAE
— Mr. Zhang Yanpeng (i)~ — 55 JfE 1 5 4 (ii)
Sub-total NEF 2,328
Non-executive directors: F#HTES :
— Mr. Zhang Chi — R EE
— Mr. Chang Herman — SRR E 5 A (iv)
Hsiu Guo (iv)
Sub-total Nt
Independent non- BYFHTES:
executive directors
— Mr. Chen Yongguan — kR EE
— Mr. Yu Shimao —RKEE
— Mr. Samuel King On —EWMEEE
Wong
— Mr. Liu Jinting (v) —RISREE ()
Sub-total NG
Total B

@)
2011.

(ii)

(i)  Mr. Luo i,

November 2011.

Mr. Wu Xiaonan, an executive director, resigned on 19 April

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng was appointed as executive director at
the annual general meeting on 2 June 2011.

a non-executive director,

EELtER 2011$4ﬂ 19 H Bt
%%ﬂﬁ%%

3R MEME 5t £ R2011F6 A2H &
FERRARS LEZRET AR
BF-

& — 2% £ N20114%11 238 &
FIEMITESE B o

3R M B SE A 2011411 23 H

(ii)
(iii)

resigned on 23

(iv)

(iv)

Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo was appointed as non-executive
director on 23 November 2011.

Mr. Liu Jinting was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 28 November 2012.

BERERFHTES -

2| $8 BE 45 £ 72012411 A 288
EEZEABIIERITES -

BtAERERERAT 202555 (143



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
A B B 35 3R R MY 5 (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

9 Directors’ remuneration (Confinued)

9 EEMEmw

Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Retirement share- based
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2011
fees in kind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
e EER BR REEERD 20114
ik EYAls MiEEAL SHEIf XX A&t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARET:R ARBETT ARETT
Executive directors: HITES:
— Mr. Zhang Likun — R A LA — 480 420 8 — 908
— Mr. Zhang Liming —RABEE — 384 416 8 — 808
— Mr. Zhang Lidian — SRS 5 4 — 412 588 8 311 1,319
— Mr. Zhang Libo — SR AR B4 — 384 416 8 — 808
— Mr. Zhang Yanpeng (i) — R FE 15 9% A (i) — 420 80 3 47 550
Sub-total INEF — 2,080 1,920 35 358 4,393
Non-executive directors: FEHITES :
— Mr. Luo Yi (iii) — & — 5T & (i) — — — — — —
— Mr. Zhang Chi —REELE = = = = = =
— Mr. Chang Herman — SRR B 5 A (iv)

Hsiu Guo (iv) — — — — — —
Sub-total INEE — — _ _ _ _
Independent non-executive % FHTEE :

directors

— Mr. Chen Yongguan — Bk REE 64 — — — — 64
— Mr. Yu Shimao —RittERELE 65 — — — — 65
— Mr. Samuel King On —BHMREE

Wong 341 — — — — 341
Sub-total INEF 470 — — — — 470
Total A&t 470 2,080 1,920 35 358 4,863

ashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2012



Notes to

the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF BF %5 R R B ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

10 Individuals with highest emoluments

11

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one of them
(2011: two) is director whose emolument is disclosed in note 9. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other four (2011:
three) individuals are as follows:

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

10 ZE5HM AL

SEmREFMALFR 1R AZEE(2011
F:28) HFMEEEEMEoP I
FoB4ZQQ01MEFE 3R) RS FH M A
THFBERERT

Salaries and other emoluments FehHEMHE
Discretionary bonuses ) 15 TE AL
Retirement schemes contributions IRARET B

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
2,768

1,254

21

4,043

The emoluments of the four (2011: three) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following band:

424 (2011 : 34) & 1= 5 B A 4= &9 2 B
EEWMT :

Number of individuals
N
2012 2011

RMB 1,000,000 to RMB 2,000,000 A R # 1,000,000 7T &
A R #2,000,0007T

- 3

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company includes a profit of RMB202,009,000 (2011:
RMB233,334,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
are set out in Note 29(b).

N AXFAREFEAEMS

i

AARBREREABLEGMHENEIE
— AR AR A B 7% 3R 50 8% 70 % B A
R #202,009,0007T (20114 : A R #&
233,334,0007T) °

EHCRARERARAREREAX
B0 B B B0 S IR A M 2 29(b)
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF B B | R Y (D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

12 Earnings per share 12 8REF
(@) Basic earnings per share ) BREXEF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the BEREARRBFTIZA QG
consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the BEEAE AEMLZI AR
Company of RMB468,482,000 (2011: RMB306,258,000) and #5468,482,0007T (2011 : A B
the weighted average of 3,521,758,133 ordinary shares (2011: #306,258,0007T ) & F A B #
3,513,399,533) in issue during the year, calculated as follows: 77 & 3@ B%3,521,758,133 % (2011
% :3,513,399,533 % ) &) 0 #E T
HEFERT -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares = A R /Y 0 FE F 19 B
2012 2011
No. of shares No. of shares
iR % 17
Share issued upon incorporation A 5k K 37 BF B AT B BR 1
(Note 29(c)(i) (B 5£29(0)()) 1
Share issued upon reorganisation REARZEITHRMN
(Note 29(c)(i) (Bt 5E29(0)(0)) 99,999 99,999
Capitalisation issue (Note 29(c)(ii)) & Mk 317 (T 5E29()i)) 2,925,900,000 2,925,900,000
Effect of issuance of BRROHBEEETRG
shares by share offer (Note 29(c)(iii)) 952 28 (FfF 5% 29(c)(ii)) 574,000,000 574,000,000
Accumulated Share options exercised Sl X 1T 31,758,133 18,920,081
Shares repurchased in 2011 K201 5 20 B g
(Note 29(c)(iv)) (Bt 5% 29(c)(iv)) (10,000,000) (5,520,548)
Weighted average number of 6 A R N
ordinary shares during the year SEHE

ended 31 December 3,513,399,533

S0,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF BF %5 R R B ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

12 Earnings per share (continved) 12 8RR EF @

BREBEERR
BREERF THIEA QR RER
B A BT A R # 468,482,000
L (20114 © A R 306,258,000
J0) % 3,557,288,466 i i i% (2011
£F : 3,565,287,966) K hn #E F 15

(b) Diluted earnings per share (b)
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB468,482,000 (2011: RMB306,258,000) and
the weighted average of 3,557,288,466 (2010: 3,565,287,966)
ordinary shares (diluted), calculated as follows:

HEEFEWT
Weighted average number of ordinary shares E BRI HE-F G E
2012 2011
No. of shares No. of shares
vy B 5
Weighted average number of REZE12A31BIEFE
ordinary shares during the year B n ey T E AR e IngE
ended 31 December before dilution 35 g 3,521,758,133 3,513,399,533
Effect of deemed issue of shares WRAIERBE AR AR

under the Company’s share option
scheme for nil consideration (Note 27)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares during the year
ended 31 December after dilution

BEREAEUNETRER
TP B E (M £27)
NEZE12A31BILEE
BSE 1% 1 I35 A% Y hn A
T

35,530,333

3,557,288,466

51,888,433

3,565,287,966

oo
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF B B | R Y (D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

13 Property, plant and equipment 13 9% - BERR®B
The Group NE
Machinery Office and
Construction  Plant and and Motor other
in progress  buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
B E KR - T WAZER
EEIR BF RE BEBE HMRE &t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBETT ARBETT ARBETT ARBTIT ARBTT

Cost: AN

At 1 January 2011 R20114F 1818 58,487 411,805 335,917 50,290 57,756 914,255
Additions NE 68,253 1,889 19,117 4,458 7,539 101,256
Transfer from/(out) construction  #E# 8 /(1)

in progress EEIR (14,208) 459 6,244 38 1,227 (6,240)
Transfer from intangible BREEREE

assets (Note 16) (P 7E16) 103 — — — — 103
Disposals HE — (333) (1,163) (2,226) (280) (4,002)
Transfer to investment properties #EEZIRE Y%

(Note 14) (Pf7E14) — (6,456) — — — (6,456)
At 31 December 2011 7201112831 H 112,635 407,364 360,115 52,560 66,242 998,916
At 1 January 2012 MN2012F1 818 112,635 407,364 360,115 52,560 66,242 998,916
Additions NE 112,072 807 9,136 6,421 5,537 133,973
Transfer from/(out) construction @y /(E)

in progress FEIRE (100,433) 97,823 (43) 677 (1,976)
Disposals & = — (3,245) (838) (4,544)
Transfer to investment properties SR =R &Y%

(Note 14) (Bt 5E14) (37,768) (37.768)
At 31 December 2012 R20124 12 A31H 124,274 468,226 365,963 58,520 71,618 1,088,601
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

& OF B 75 3R 3R B e (48)
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

13 Property, plant and equipment (continved) 13 9% - BE KRR B @

The Group NE
Machinery Office and
Construction  Plant and and Motor other
in progress  buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
BER HERR WAER
EEIR B E4C] HHE HMRE &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥BTT ARETT ARETT ARBTR AR®BTT
Accumulated depreciation: S
At 1 January 2011 R20114F 1818 (49,460)  (102,251) (29,759) (26,235)  (207,705)
Charge for the year FRFE (17,735)  (35,083) 6,831)  (11,507)  (71,156)
Written back on disposal i E e 58 573 2,032 142 2,805
Transfer to construction EREEFETR
in progress — 6,155 — 85 6,240
Transfer to investment properties EEZIRE Y%
(Note 14) (BfE14) 425 — — — 425
At 31 December 2011 R2011412 /318 (66,712)  (130,606) (34,558) (37,515)  (269,391)

At 1 January 2012

Charge for the year

Written back on disposal

Transfer from construction
in progress

Transfer to investment properties
(Note 14)

Impairment loss

At 31 December 2012

Net book value:
At 31 December 2012

At 31 December 2011

R2012F1 /1R
FRFE
HEHEmE
BREERTR

EREREYE
(Bfsx14)
DERER=ES

R2012% 128318
IRMEFE:

R2012%12A318
R2011%12A318

(66,712)  (130,606)
(19,014) (35,440)
= 863

1,926

(5,750)

(85,862)

(169,007)

382,364 196,956

340,652 229,509

(34,558) (37,515)
(7,199) (11,028)
257 223

50

(48,271)

16,922 23,347

18,002 28,727

(269,391)
(72,681)
1,343

1,976

LY
(6,410)

(344,738)

743,863

729,525

As at 31 December 2012, the building ownership certificate of
Scient (Guangzhou) Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd (“Scient
(Guangzhou)”) and Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd (“Yashili (Shanxi)”)’s
plant and buildings with carrying amount totalling RMB70,857,000
(2011: RMB15,667,000) have not yet been issued. The directors of
the Company do not foresee any substantial obstacle in obtaining
the ownership certificate of the above mentioned plant and
buildings.

MR2012F 128318 iR (E M) &
MREERBERAATHEEEIMN)]D
RLUABTFMIAEBR AR LA
HEARDEAREAEG EXZARE
70,857,000t E RN EFEERERE
FT & # 7% (20114 : A K #15,667,000
JC) e AR R EEBTEH - FEES LR
EREFHNREEIZE A I8
EEREKRER -

REAEBERERAD 2012555 149




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
A B B 35 3R R MY 5 (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

13 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Due to the change of usage in a certain of production lines in 2012,
the group assessed the recoverable amounts of the machines in
Yashili (Shanxi) and Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd (“Yashili
(Heilongjiang)”) and as a result the carrying amount of the
machines was written down by RMB 6,410,000 (included in “Other
expenses”). The estimates of recoverable amount were based on
the machines’ fair values less costs to sell, determined by reference
to the recent observable market prices for similar assets within the
same industry.

The Group’s plant and buildings are located in the PRC under
medium-term leases.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment pledged to
secure the advances from local governments (Note 25(ii)) and
certain bank loans (Note26) are set out as below:

13 ME BERSKE®@

02FHARIOEERBEORGEE
HE ZEBEFGTILAKLINNER
BEIELFMARERARAT EHHE
[REIHELTHDHHEEERBOA
El e WHEARREEGSA
R #6,410,000 7T (FF ATH M X 1)
AEYeENGEFESHRREAAE
BREHEXRSN  Hbh AR BEEM
RTEFEUEEANBRINTHAD

BEE -
AEBNOBEMETFURFE  HiR
RHEIEARA -

REIS I 77 BT A8 SR (H B 25(0) RE
THRTER (M aE26) MBROYE -

BiE MR ENBRIENT
The Group
rEH
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T AR T T

Carrying amount of pledged property,

plant and equipment AR TE (B

BEEAME  BEE&RED

20,025
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14 Investment properties

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF BF %5 R R B ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

Cost:
As at the beginning of the year
Transfer from plant and buildings (note 13)

As at the end of the year

Accumulated amortisation:

As at the beginning of the year

Charge for the year

Transfer from plant and buildings (note 13)

As at the end of the year

Carrying amount:
As at the end of the year

14 REYWHE
The Group
REE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T

AR
REH] 82,602 76,146
HEEMEMEF (H5E13) 37,768 6,456
RER 120,370 82,602
2tINE
REA] (4,394)
FRITE (1,673) (1,449)
EEEREREF (M E13) (425) (425)
RER (6,268)
BREE :
RER 76,334

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined based on
the valuation analysis on an open market value basis with reference
to market transactions of similar properties, is estimated to be
approximately RMB219,841,000 as at 31 December 2012 (2011:

RMB173,393,000).

As of 31 December 2012, the building ownership certificate of
Scient (Guangzhou)’s plant and buildings with carrying amount
totally RMB37,343,000 have not yet been issued (2011: nil). The
directors of the Company do not foresee any substantial obstacle in
obtaining the ownership certificate of the above mentioned plant

and buildings.

REMENRDARBEDZ2REUY
X¥NMERS  BEBEGHEDTAQHA
MEARELEETE  M2012F12 A 31
H REMENRIABEBTORA
R #219,841,0007C (20114 : A R ¥&
173,393,0007T) °

20128124318 @ B (EM) & XK
FARMEE S £ A K 37,343,000 7T &)
BE REFEERERE A EE Q011
FoE) e ARRESFEEY  £EAE L
MEE REFHMEEZFE LT
28 T EKER-

REAERRRERAT 2012655 iq’qlf/



Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF B B | R Y (D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

14 Investment properties (Continued)

The carrying value of investment properties comprises properties:

14 REVEmwm)

KREMEREERATYEAMN :

In the PRC under a medium-term lease EF P EBEAOFS

In the United States of America on EEBRNEELHZ £
a self-owned land

Total &5t

The Group
&M
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT
74,683
1,651

76,334

The carrying amount of investment properties pledged to secure

the Group'’s certain bank loans as at 31 December 2012 is nil (2011:
nil).

15 Lease prepayments

R12A318 REREVMEIEAALRE
ERITEROER -

15 FREE

Cost: A

As at the beginning of the year RE A
Accumulated amortisation: E-aE F
As at the beginning of the year REH]
Charge for the year A 8
As at the end of the year REXR
Carrying amount: BREE :
As at the end of the year RER

The Group
K

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR T T
146,460 146,460
(10,158)
(2,935)
(13,093)

133,367

Interests in leasehold land represent prepayments of land use rights
premium to the PRC authorities by the Group. The Group’s
leasehold land is located in the PRC, on which its manufacturing
plants were built. The Group is granted land use rights for a period
of 50 years.

P
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B Of I IS 8RR Y 5 (4D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

16 Intangible assets 16 B EE
The Group
rE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T
Cost: A
As at the beginning of the year REF 10,923
Addition during the year FARE 225
Transfer to construction in progress (note13)  #&#&¢ &= 78 12 T 72 (Kff3113) (441)
As at the end of the year RER 10,707
Accumulated amortisation: B §
As at the beginning of the year RET] (3,645)
Charge for the year F N (2,054)
Transfer to construction in progress (Note 13) #E B = fF 2 T2 (Mt 55 13) 338
As at the end of the year RER (5,361)
Carrying amount: BRIEE :
As at the end of the year RE R 5,346
The intangible assets represented purchased and customised EREEARRBANAREE RFITRY
software held by the Group. Amortisation of the intangible assets is HASERENEG BEEEEH
included in “Administrative expenses”. Thet ATTTERB 2] »

17 Income tax in the consolidated balance sheet 17 gﬁ? EEEBRTHNRSE

(@) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents: ) EEEEXRPHANHBE
B
The Group
%
2012 2011
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBF T

Provision for PRC income tax for the year = A A B FiT 15 B 8 1 163,833 102,791
PRC income tax paid B A B RS AR (74,610) (49,689)
Represented by: HiaE:

Income tax payables BNEA B B & 53,102

B+AEBERERAT 201246455 1153




Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
SO R R R Y A ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

17 Income tax in the consolidated balance sheet 17 2@t EEA BRI WA

(Confinued) B )
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: b) ERRBNEEREBEBEER
a8E:
The Group rEH
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised EREHEEEERAERNE
in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during ERBEEE (BE) AKX
the year are as follows: RERNKEEHIAT
Arising from
undistributed
earnings of
Inventory  Deferred Expense  subsidaries
provision income  Tax losses accruals PRC Others Total
EERAR HWEAAR
FERE ETkE HEESR #H R Hitr A&

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETI ARMTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTIT

Deferred tax arising from: E T 5| &R EEE

HIEERE

At 1 January 2011 R2011F1 818 42 6,613 8,685 30,327 (11,664) 5113 39,116
Credited/(charged) to profit ~ Bzt A

or loss 751 (1,555) 11,012 10,683 9,064 5,377 35,332
At 31 December 2011 »2011412A318 793 5,058 19,697 41,010 (2,600) 10,490 74,448
At 1 January 2012 R2012F 1818 5,058 19,697 41,010 (2,600)
(Charged)/credited to profit £ 5 H 5+ A

or loss (402) (19,505) 22,394 (15,400)
At 31 December 2012 R2012%12 A31H 63,404 (18,000) 11,727

.

)L‘v
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17 Income tax in the consolidated balance sheet

(Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B Of I IS 8RR Y 5 (4D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(c)

(Continued)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

17 EHEERERTHAE

B

b) EERIBNELEBREER
8E: @

Represented by:
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

H B
EETHIAEE

EREBIARE

The Group
rEE
2012 2011
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T
80,015 77,048
(18,000) (2,600)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(u)
the Group has not recognised the following deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses as deferred tax
assets as it is not probable that future taxable income against
which the temporary differences and unused tax losses can be

utilised will be available.

() RERNWEEHRBEE
R 2 M E B & 5B R
AREE AR T 5 AT RN =
BREARGARABIRERSEL
MBEE RARAEENKA
BEVE A KRR BRI U A B PR 85
ARSANEREZERAS A
HER -

2012
RMB’000
ARBT T

2011
RMB’000
ARBT T

Temporary difference
Tax losses
—due in 2014
— due in 2015
—due in 2016
— due in 2017 and afterwards

Total

S
TRIAEE
— 20144 2| £
— 20154 2§
— 20164 3| HA

—2017F K A& 2 HA

AN

Ast

39,680
57,874

5,119
1,172

101,644 103,845

B+AEBERERAT 2012445 1155



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

17 Income tax in the consolidated balance sheet

17 EHEERBERTHNAE

(Continued) B om
(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised d KERNWEZEHEEE

At 31 December 2012, the undistributed profits of some of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries amounted to RMB774,817,000
(2011: RMB502,379,000). Temporary differences relating to
the undistributed profits of the Group’s certain subsidiaries in
the Mainland China amounted to RMB 323,040,000 (2011:
RMB280,047,000). Deferred tax liabilities of RMB 16,152,000
(2011: RMB14,002,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the withholding tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits, as the Company controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries in the Mainland
China and the Directors have determined that these profits
are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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M2012% 128318 BB AKX &
EE TR KB AR R A B S
A AR #774,817,000 7T (2011
% A R #502,379,0007T ) B
B8 7 & B A T 1 B B oK BE Ay Y B
RAMAD BEFEZ &R E
£ A5 A R #323,040,000 7T (2011
£ A R #280,047,0007T ) °
FA AN A &) 422 ] 1tk 5 7 AR B K e /Y
MEBARMWBKERE XAEAA
AIEEERTR ARG RE R
I 8 A~ = 355 1k S R B K B A B B
NElDhE  MARA RN D B
ERFaAEAZRMNINET
;K HE A R 16,152,000 7T (2011
& AR%14,002,0007T) A IE T
HIEAE -



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF B 35 3R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

18 Interests in subsidiaries 18 KRB AR WER
The Company & A5
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T

Unlisted shares at cost E MR - AR 24,482 17,549

Amounts due from subsidiaries R = NGTE | 3,179,041 3,213,862

Total 3,231,411

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free, and BB AR HARREL EER &

repayable on demand. These balances are expected to be recovered BREBERER ZEHRETRHANE

after more than one year. B—FEE -

At the date of this report, the Company has direct or indirect RAREBH  NARIRTHIHBA

interests in the following subsidiaries. The class of shares held is R A EELREERER  MEMFER

ordinary. The particular of those subsidiaries are set out below: MENAEBER ZEWE QRN
BT
Proportion of
ownership interest
ERRERLLH
Place of Particulars of Group'’s
Incorporation/ registered/ effective Held by the Held by a
Name of company establishment issued capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
BH—=
&E it BE 32 EfMEER EBER XTEEH [z NN Ff B8 2 =]

ACIEE PR 3L 3 B TRAFE BRER B¥E BE FEXEH®

Yashili International Ltd. British Virgin UsD1 100% 100% — Investment holding
(“Yashili (BVI)") Islands (“BVI")

T A BB R A A RERLES 17T 100% 100% — REERK
(I'vashili (BVI)J)

Yashili International Group Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Limited (“Yashili (HK)")

ML HEEEBAR QA =B 1% T 100% — 100% REERK
(THEL A (F#)]D)

Yashili Hong Kong International Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100%  Import and export of
Trading Co., Limited dairy products and
("Yashili Trading”) related materials

HEHNEZEEREZERAF =B 1% T 100% — 100% #EHOZERR
(MEEFMEZ D FEBA R

mirERERERAT 2012645% (157
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

18 MM E QA WERE @

18 Interests in subsidiaries (Continued)

The Company (Continued)

KD T (@)

Proportion of
ownership interest

EEERLH
Place of Particulars of Group'’s
Incorporation/ registered/ effective Held by the Held by a  Principal
Name of company establishment issued capital interest Company subsidiary activity
BH—=x
& it BE 32 EMER BE XEEH [z NN Fff B 2 =)
ACIEE FR 3L it B TRAEFE BERER S BE TEEK
Big World International (Hongkong)  Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Limited
AEREER(FEB)BRRAA =& 17T 100% — 100% BEER
Heatel Limited BVI UsS$1 100% — 100%  Investment holding
RERLEE 17T 100% = 100% REZER
Next Talent Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100%  Investment holding
=B 17T 100% — 100% REZER
New Zealand Dairy International New Zealand NzD1 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited
ST TS R AR A T 78 157 78 7T 100% = 100% WEERK
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., New Zealand NZD1,000,000 100% — 100%  Production and sales
Limited (“Yashili New of dairy products
Zealand”)
MOAMBELANIXARAQF Eoirich | PR T 100% — 100% HERFESIHHED
(FFrAamiLzl) 1,000,000 7T
Yashili (China) Co., Ltd PRC RMB 100,000,000 100% — 100%  Production and sales
("Yashili (China)"”) (i) & (ii) of dairy products
HEEAM(FE)BR QA il AR 100% — 100% HERHEI R
(M 7 (B 1) () K (i) 100,000,0007T
Guangdong Yashili Group Company  PRC RMB826,105,300 100% — 100%  Production and sales
Limited (“Yashili (Guangdong)”) of dairy products
(i) & (ii)
ERELFNEEFR QA Gl AR 100% — 100% H£ERHFEEIER
(TERHELFID) ) K 826,105,3007T
Scient International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100%  Investment holding
i BB EEE R A A BB 18T 100% — 100% REEK
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

18 Interests in subsidiaries (Continued)

The Company (Continued)

B OF B 35 3R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

18 RKMTEB AR MERE @

KD T (@)

Proportion of
ownership interest

EERERLH
Place of Particulars of Group's
Incorporation/ registered/ effective Held by the Held by a  Principal
Name of company establishment issued capital interest Company subsidiary  activity
H—=x
&E it BR 32 EMEX TR XNEEMH AR F s 1 2 =)
AT BB PR 3L 3 B TRAFE BRER B¥E BE TEEK
Scient (Guangzhou) (ii) PRC RMB 155,000,000 95% — 95%  Production and sales
of dairy products
B B CE ) (i) H AR 95% = 95% HERHEIEMD
155,000,000 7T
Yashili (Heilongjiang) (ii) PRC RMB20,080,000 100% — 100%  Production and sales
of dairy products
B HE T T A (i) § B AR 100% = 100% HERHEEIH®R
20,080,0007T
Yashili (Zhengzhou) (ii) PRC RMB250,000,000 100% — 100%  Production and sales
of dairy products
7 = 7 (BB (i) A AR 100% = 100% HERIFESIHES
250,000,000 7T
Yashili (Shanxi) (ii) PRC RMB300,000,000 100% — 100%  Production and sales
of dairy products
L 7 7 == 1 (i) A E AR 100% = 100% HERHEEIER
300,000,000 7T
Chaoan Bisheng Decoration and PRC RMB 10,800,000 100% — 100%  Production and sales
Printing Co., Ltd. (ii) of packing materials
MR GNBREEDBARAR A AR 100% = 100% HEXRHEBR
(T Bs1) (i) 10,800,000 7% ER:
Guangzhou Yugian Import and PRC RMB5,000,000 100% — 100%  Import and export of
Export Trading Co., Ltd. (ii) dairy products and
related materials
BMREEEOZESERA A FE AR 100% = 100% #EEOZLE MR
(M%) (i) 5,000,000 7T FEBA AR
Shanghai Yashili Food Co., Ltd (ii) PRC RMB2,000,000 100% — 100%  Sales of food products
LBEENMRERERRAF Y AR 100% = 100% SHERM®
(I £ 7 = F1 1) Gi) 2,000,000 7T
Scient International (USA), Inc. United States USD620,000 100% — 100% Investment holding
of America
E B R BER AR A A EHRERE 620,000 7T 100% = 100% REER
(BRI

BEREREZRERAT 20126 FR
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF B B | R Y (D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

18 Interests in subsidiaries (Continued)

The Company (Continued)

18 KK B A 7 M &= @)

KD T (@)

Proportion of

ownership interest

HEHRERLLH
Place of Particulars of Group's
Incorporation/ registered/ effective Held by the Held by a  Principal
Name of company establishment issued capital interest Company subsidiary  activity
H—=x
&E it BR 32 HEMELR BR XEEH 22NN Ff B 2 =]
IR FR 3L 3 B TRAFE BHEREER BA BE EXEK
Chaoan Victory Trading Limited (ii) PRC RMB5,000,000 100% — 100%  Import and export of
dairy products and
related materials
R GRKE 5B R A A FE AR 100% — 100% #EHAARRKR
(TFKE 5] 5,000,000 7T HERE M
(i)  The company is wholly foreign-owned enterprise established () #Z2AR—FKRPBEKIZIHINE
in the PRC. =
(i) These companies are limited liability companies established in iy ZERARBRPREKINER

the PRC. The official names of these companies are in Chinese
and the English translation of the names is for reference only.

19 Inventories

EAQT  ZEATMER BB
B R R R A A
%,

19 7€

Raw materials

Finished goods

Work in progress
Packing materials

Low value consumables

JR#F ¥

FX A

= X &
BEM
1K (8K 7 mm

2
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The Group
ARE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T

350,315 303,468
204,590 156,579
65,522 78,274
25,349 31,172
7,146 8,238

577,731



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

19 Inventories (Continued)

20

Amounts of inventories recognised as expenses and included in the
income statement are analysed as follows:

B Of I IS 8RR Y 5 (4D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

19 28 @)

EREAIREBTABEENEE
SWOMMT :

The Group
&g
2012 2011
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
Carrying amount of inventories ERZANTHEINGTESY
recognised as AR (B

— cost of sales — B N 1,655,178 1,379,171
— selling and distribution expenses (i) —HE R 195,506 186,122
— administrative expenses —THAX 6,317 637
Write down of inventories FEREREX 142 3,171
Disposal of inventories HFEREERKR 2,091 393

1,859,234 1,569,494

(i) Inventories recognised as selling and distribution expenses
represented the cost of purchased baby products which are
given away as gift items together with the Group’s products
sold.

Trade and bills receivables

() CHIASHERLHERINEES
EBAERAKECDEEMNE
MR T AR B R EMRAK
o

20 ESRURKRERERE

Bills receivables U %
Trade receivables g 5 e R
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B R ER

The Group
L3

2012 2011
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBT T
1,022 1,021
26,640 52,863
(883) (1,540)

52,344

BtRERERERAT 20124855 161



Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

20 Trade and bills receivables (Continued) 20 EZRBMRREVEE@®
An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of allowance) BHREKNE N EWER (K EERE)
by due date is as follows: ZEBBAMEREITAOT -

The Group
KE
2012 2011
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
Current Bl AR 19,892 49,456
Less than 3 months past due wmAAA~E3MEA 1,100
More than 3 months but less than
6 months past due wEEE3ME A BT E6EA 246
More than 6 months but less than m A EAE AENZ
12 months past due 1218 A 992
More than 12 months but less than wAEAI2ERENR
24 months past due 244E A 550
2,888
52,344
The Group’s credit policy is set out in Note 30(a). NEE B EE BERE N FE300) ©
The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year RERXR  RERENEFHOT :
is as follows:
The Group
rE
2012 2011
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARE TR ARET T
At 1 January ®n1A18 1,563
Impairment loss recognised BRI EE X 129
Written off i 85 (152)
At 31 December Mm12A31H 1,540

¢ Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

B OF BF %5 R R B ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

200 ESERARREVREE @

18 7l sk B 88 i 5 9 48 1F 1 IR A &Y
B 5 e Wk K e R R 6 BR R 9 AT 40
T

Current Bl AR

Less than 3 months past due # BN 2 31E B

More than 3 months but less than i B 8 38 3 1 A
6 months past due B 26{EA

More than 6 months but less than &1 B R R 6 1E A
12 months past due BRE12{8A8

More than 12 months but less than B HAEE 12 (8 A
24 months past due BT 22418 A

The Group
&

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
49,456
1,100
246
992
364
2,702

52,158

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good trading record with the
Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

BHEYEELRENEERES R
BYEFAR RSEFPELKER
RRERZRE - REBELR &
12 R4 B 7B Bh L 35 45 B 1F R (B B
B REAREEEXRYEBEAES:
BEEBRmRARMAAEEKE - K&
B3 b S AR IS A TR o

BEREREZRERAT 20126 FR

P
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

21 Prepayments and other receivables 21 EARREMERIK
Current assets RBEEID
The Group The Company
RE b
2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARETT AR®BTR AR®TT

Prepaid advertising ENESEHRX
expenses 20,339 27,109 —
Prepayments for purchase i B R R
of raw materials EONEEREN 10,012 4,017 —
Advances to sales offices B BB R & 2,102 2,444 —
VAT recoverable R EN 72,412 73,940 —
Amount due from P B A B IE
subsidiaries — — 95,998 —
Others Eih 30,802 30,638 460 233
At 31 December 12H31H 135,667 138,148 96,458 233
Non-current assets ERBEEID
The Group The Company
REE RAF
2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AR®ETRT AR®BTR AR®TT

Prepayment for acquisition BEEETEEN

of property, plant and AR
equipment
Deposit for acquisition of i858 T A E 2 ()
Land use right (i)
At 31 December 124318 184,170
(i) As at 31 December 2012, the wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, (i)

Yashili (China), paid RMB90,630,000 as the deposit for acquisition of
land use right. The related terms of the contract are still under
negotiations.

¢ Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2012
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M20126F 128318 AEEH T A
A HE R (R B & 7 ER - b (55 A A
147 AR ¥90,630,0007T ) E &
HEAERGREEBE 2R -



22 Restricted bank deposits

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B Of I IS 8RR Y 5 (4D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

22 XRHEBRTEK

Pledged for
— issuing letters of credit
— bank loans

Frozen deposits

At 31 December

The Group
rEH
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
EERAR T EE :

—HAGAS 37,739 28,331
— EEIRITE K 261,870 34,719
R 45 17 5K — 9,406

23 Cash and cash equivalents and other bank

2 BEeRREEEYMEM

deposits iR 1T 7 &K
The Group The Company
rEH ¥ NN
2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT ARBTRT ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents BRE&RBEELZEY
— Cash on hand —EFREe 620 1,472 —
— Cash at bank —RITE XK 2,072,541 2,580,091 13,600
2,073,161 2,581,563 m 13,600
Short-term bank deposits (i) S HA SR 1777 7K () 611,972 = -
Long-term bank deposits (i) £ E 4R 17 17 2K (ii) 306,142 — —
Total A& 2,991,275 2,581,563 348 13,600

(i) The effective interest rates on short-term bank deposits as at 31
December 2012 were approximately 3.270%-3.575% per annum
and will be mature in one year.

(i)  The effective interest rates on long-term bank deposits as at 31
December 2012 were approximately 4.125%-4.675% per annum
and will be mature in 2-3 years.

() M2012%12H31H ' &= B F H 8
THEERBFFEL A3270%—
3.575% ' 1 FEREIH -

(i) PM2012F12A8318 K B & #
THEEBRERNEXLY BAI125%-
4.675% ' BR2E3IFRNEH -

BREBERERAT 201254% 1165
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

24 Other investments

24 HittRE
The Group
&
2012 2011
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTT

Financial assets designated at fair value LNAnBEGgGEEHEZE
through profit or loss FAEHEBESZNESHEE 200,000 180,000

The carrying amount of other investment pledged to secure the
Group's short-term bank loans as at 31 December 2012 is

RMB100,000,000.

25 Trade and other payables

Trade payables (i) B 5 &1~ 3 0)

Advances from customers XEEMR

Accrued payroll Eitse

Other taxes payable H At fE {5 B 18

Advances from local Hh 75 BT K Gi)
government (ii)

Pledged deposits WHLE P R IRE €

from customers
Amount due to a subsidiary  E{T KB A & 5K IE

Other payables and H b N R R
accruals (jii) FE& 5T 2 A (iil)

6 Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012

M2012F12 8318 AEB AMBEE
HRTERMERNEMEENER
BEA AR 100,000,000 7T °

25 ESRHMEMNRK

The Group The Company
rE FNNE|

2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARE®ETRT AR®TR AR®TE
410,757 287,807 ==
398,143 255,465 _
56,534 43,274 =
39,597 29,245 =
33,500 31,000 —
36,495 29,625 _
— 10,788
53,547 43,702 ==
1,028,573 720,118 9,245 10,788




25 Trade and other payables (continued)

0

(ii)

(iii)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF BF %5 R R B ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

The credit period granted by the suppliers ranges from 30
days to 90 days. An ageing analysis of trade payables by due
date is as follows:

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

25 ESREMENR@

() HEBELNEEHNFII0RE
WHTE - BFZENMNKIZZHA
WRRE DT

Due within 1 month or on demand & B Ak iz &k
Due after 1 month but within 3 months AABE=EARAN
Due after 3 months but within 6 months ~ =1& A &8 /<@ A A

f
Due after 6 months SE A &

~

The Group
&

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T
115,126 81,991
240,758 174,375
50,875 29,756
3,998 1,685

287,807

At 31 December 2012, an advance of RMB30,000,000 was
from the People’s Government of Ying County (2011:
RMB30,000,000), which borne a fixed interest rate of 5.76%
per annum and was secured by Yashili (Shanxi)’s plant and
machinery as disclosed in Note 13. There were no fixed
repayment terms for the advances as at 31 December 2012.

Other payables and accruals mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of non-current assets and other accrued expenses.

(i)  M2012F 128318 KR B E &
ARBEH A R #30,000,0007T
f& 5k (20114 = A R ¥30,000,000
JC) - 1R E E FF E5.76%F 8
I AN B FEI3FR R LALL AR
HETF B R E RS IEER - R®
2012F 12 A3 ZE BRI &£ EH

ooy

TEE SR E] o

(i) HtENRAEEAEREIERR
WHEIE B & B X H B SR X
HY FE 3K o

BERAEBERERAT 20125 F% |
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

26 EFRRERK

R12A318  RITERMNEEZES AN

26 Loans and borrowings

As at 31 December, the bank loans were repayable as below:

T
The Group The Company
rEE AT
2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®TT AR%BTrx AR%®T:T
Within 1 year or on demand —F A IR B K 330,912 31,359 80,912 —
The Group The Company
rEHE b NN
2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR%®TIT AR®BTR AR%®TET
Bank loans denominated in IRITE R
— United States dollar — AETEHE
("US dollar”) — —
— RMB (i) —AAR¥EHEG) 250,000 — —
— HK dollar (ii) — DA ST AN 80,912 80,912 —

330,912

(i)  The bank loan carried as a discounted notes rate of 2.6% per
annum as at 31 December 2012.

(i) The bank loans carried an interest rate of 1.55% per annum
as at 31 December 2012.

T
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31,359

80,912 —

M2012F12A318 - ARERTT
EREEZEEEEIEF R E26%
/%\o

MR2012F12 A318 ' B¥RITE
FIREF =R 1.55% 5t 8. o



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

27 Equity-settled share-based transaction

Yashili (Guangdong) adopted a share option scheme on 1 January
2009 (the “2009 Employee Share Option Scheme"), to invite certain
eligible participants to take up options (the “2009 Employee Share
Options”) to subscribe for the to-be-listed company at an exercise
price of RMB0.85 per share. Total 9,360,000 share options were
granted and 2 directors of the Company and 148 employees of the
Group accepted the 2009 Employee Share Options.

On 1 August 2010, Yashili (Guangdong) further granted 3,597,600
share options (the “2010 Employee Share Options”) to 31 eligible
employees of the Group for subscribing shares of the Company at
an exercise price of RMB11 per share (the “2010 Employee Share
Option Scheme”). Both the 2009 and 2010 Employee Share
Options will be forfeited when the grantee ceases to be an
employee of the Group for reasons other than death, ill-health or
retirement.

The 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options originally granted by
Yashili (Guangdong) to the grantees were exchanged into the Pre-
IPO Share Options of the Company on 8 October 2010. Accordingly,
12,957,600 shares options under the 2009 and 2010 Employee
Share Option Schemes were converted into 94,975,662 share
options of the Company with substantially the same terms and
conditions, except that the respective exercise prices were adjusted
on a proportionate basis, being RMBO0.11 in respect of the 2009
Employee Share Options and RMB1.84 in respect of the 2010
Employee Share Options. The conversion of the share options was
considered as a modification to the 2009 and the 2010 Share
Option Schemes. The modification did not result in any incremental
value in respect of the fair value of the share options at the date of
modification. Each of the Pre-IPO share option has a vesting period
of two months to fifty months, commencing from the listing date.
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary
share of the Company and is settled gross in shares.

B OF B 35 3R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

277 BEEEROXNXRS

&R # L A R2009F1 818 H 4R
8 B8 i #E 5t 21 ([2009 4 12 B B8 % & 51
) UBBETAERREEEN
B ([2000F B BB - Uiz
TEEBEBRARKISS TRES T L
mAERRD - B&HE 9,360,000
PERE MARARKNMMLESRA
SEM148% E B B 2009 £ B &
[ #E o

BRETFN2010FE8 1 B#E—# 1
KEE31HE EREEBRES3,597,600
MBI (20105 EEBRE]) - 1A
BIFEESBRARBE 1T TRELRRDR
B D ([2010F E B BBRRREAT &) »
20094 N 20104 & & 8 A% #E 15 1§ 7R
ZANEFH - BRsRAK AN E R
THAEAEENEERERX-

& R A R 1A A B K9 2009
K 20104 & B & I # 7201010 A 8
BELXBAEADNFNERNAMEER
BE PR #E o (A Ik 20094F K 20104E 1€
BE A% 5T 2038 T #912,957,60017 B A%
ERBERBARGRRIEHEEL RS
94,975,662 17 7N A B K BE AR 4 - HEAE S
ITEE TR B F LA Z - 2009 F &
BEEREASARK0IIT M20104F
EEBEREAARKI184ATT  HiREE
B% #E 1% 47 /E ¥ 2009 K 2010 F B B BE
IRIEETEIMIER] - ZIEFT LT EEHE
BAEREAAEBEMNMESTAENER
- SERAHEESHERENS
BHE B LT HEE2E A =501 A T~
ZE-ZEBRELTEEAEMNRER

RA—REBRIARMDEREE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

27 Equity-settled share-based transaction (confinued)

On 29 August 2011, the Company further granted 48,148,214
share options (the “2011 Employee Share Options”) to 39 eligible
employees of the Group for subscribing shares of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.5 per share (the “2011 Employee Share
Option Scheme”). The 2011 Employee Share Options will be
forfeited when the grantee ceases to be an employee of the Group
for reasons other that death, ill-health or retirement.

(i)  The terms and conditions of the Share Options are as follows:

27 BREEZEEROGZARZ @

KANBIR2011E8H29H # — F A A
EE39F A EIKIE B (148,148,214
MERE(20MNFREEBEBRE] KA
BROTEEERABEISTREARD R
HRE D (201 B B ERRERTEI]) -
0N FEEBREABNREAZARS
W BRAEBRAINNEBRTIF AL
SENEEREL-

() FRERCREAY RN MR ADT

Contractual
Number of share options granted life of
ERENERARBEEABREHE options years
Date granted Vesting date Expiry date Director Employee Total AHBRE
Eds =R TRBH &% B 5 = &8 Foh 58
2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options:
2009 % 2010 & B8 AR 4 :
1 January 2009 two months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011 2.20
1 November 2010
20091 A1H 201011 A1 B%2{EA A{TE A YR 15A
1 August 2010 two months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,121 4,290,121 0.62
1 November 2010
201068 A 1H 2010611 A1B%2f@A AI{TREB 12158
1 January 2009 fourteen months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011 3.20
1 November 2010
20091 A1H 201011 R1 B 148 A A{THEAH%I5A
1 August 2010 fourteen months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,121 4,290,121 1.62
1 November 2010
201068 A 1H 201011 B1H%#% 148 A AI{TREB 121508
1 January 2009 twenty-six months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011 4.20
1 November 2010
20091 A18 2010F 11 B 1B %2618 A AI{TH#EE %158
1 August 2010 twenty-six months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,121 4,290,121 2.62

20108 A1H

1 November 2010

2010F 11 A1 B %2618 A
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27 Equity-settled share-based transaction (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
A ff B 35 3R & M 5 (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

277 REGEROXNARZ mw

The terms and conditions of the Share Options are as follows: (i) BEBRENKERRZEGWT: (&)
(Continued)
Contractual
Number of share options granted life of
EEHGERAMRENBRAENE .
Date granted Vesting date Expiry date Director Employee Total AW RE
RHEBH TREBH &% B = B8 Mgt FH
2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options: (Continued)
2009 % 2010 F fE R 4 © ()
1 January 2009 thirty-eight months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011 5.20
1 November 2010
200941 A1H 2010F11 A1 E&38f A wAI{T#HH%&I5H
1 August 2010 thirty-eight months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,121 4,290,121 3.62
1 November 2010
201068 A1H 2010F11 A1 8138187 wAI{T# B H#%&15H
1 January 2009 fifty months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,645 14,705,012 6.20
1 November 2010
200941 A1H 20106F11 A1 B #5018 8 FwI1T# B #2158
1 August 2010 fifty months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,122 4,290,122 4.62
1 November 2010
201048 A1H 201011 A1 BE&5018 8 wAI{T#HE##%&15H
16,981,835 77,993,827 94,975,662
2011 Employee Share Options:
2011 IR 49 HA 4
29 August 2011 29 August 2011 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054 9
201148 A29H 201148 A29H 2020108 7H
29 August 2011 29 August 2012 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054 9
201148 H29H 201248 A29H 2020F10A7H
29 August 2011 29 August 2013 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054 9
20118 H29H 201348 A29H 2020 10A7H
29 August 2011 29 August 2014 7 October 2020 — 12,037,052 12,037,052 9
201148 H29H 201448 A29H 2020F10A7H
— 48,148,214 48,148,214
16,981,835 126,142,041 143,123,876

REANEBRERERAT 2012557 1
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(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

27 Equity-settled share-based transaction (confinued)

(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share

options are as follows:

(ii)

277 BEEEROXNRZ @

BRENEE RMEFHTEE
LI

For the year ended 31 December

BE1RAMBLEE

2012

Weighted
average
exercise price
per share
SR MmE
FEIGTEE
RMB
AR% T
Outstanding at the FH M ARITHE
beginning of the year
Granted during the year A B % i}
Forfeited during the year 4 A ji 3 17 4&
Exercised during the year 4E 77 4
Outstanding at the end ~ F & ARITE

of the year

0.80

The 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options outstanding at
31 December 2012 weighted average remaining expected life

0.2 years (2011: 1.2 years).

The Share Option issued in 2011 outstanding at 31 December
2012 weighted average remaining expected life 7.8 years (2011:

8.8 years).

(iii) ~ Fair value of share options and assumptions:

The fair value of services received in return for the 2009 and
2010 Employee Share Options is measured by reference to
the fair value of 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options and
the 2011 Employee Share Options granted. The estimated fair
value of the 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options and the
2011 Employee Share Options is measured based on a
binomial option pricing model. The contractual life of the
share option is used as an input into this model.

P
211 72: Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2012

91,010,740 0.78

(iii)

2011

Weighted

average
Number of  exercise price Number
options per share options

% i # <

BREHE HITEE BREHE

RMB

AR T
118,959,988 0.50 94,601,115
— 1.23 48,148,214
(GEX:PERLY)) 0.81 (4,869,260)
(14,026,051) 0.50  (18,920,081)

118,959,988

MR2012F12A318 H K 17 &
20094 K 20104 B8 A% #E A9 A0 4
I 15 6 £ 78 HA 4F 27 5 0.2 4F (2011
£ 1.24F) o

M2012F12 8318 i K17 E R
2011 4F /Y & IR 10 b0 4 39 TR B4
78 B 4 PR A7.84 (20114 : 8.8
F) o

BEREAABERRR:

TERE T BB IR A2 /) (R (& i UL B Y
RIEH A A BEIKE2EMIRH
#2009 4F ~ 2010 4F B8 B 4 122011
FREERBENAALEBETNE-
EFEEBRENGTAAEBAED
BE—_EAHEEERNG;Z -
BRENELNFHTIAERER
W—IEE A28 -



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

27 Equity-settled share-based transaction (continved) 27 RELER B XX B @)

(i) Fair value of share options and assumptions: (Continued) (i) BERE/IAEBERRE: (B)

2011 employee 2010 employee 2009 employee

share options share options share options
20115 &S 2010 B & 2009F &S
B R i IR A i IR R
Fair value per share at measurement date HK$1.42 RMB10.25 RMB2.06
R ERHNERAAEE B 1.42 AR#10.25 AR ¥2.06
Exercise price per option HK$1.50 RMB11.00 RMBO0.85
S BRETEE 75 #1.50 AR®11.00 AR #0.85
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted average
volatility used in the modelling under binomial
lattice model) 48.02% 39.1%-59.90% 61.10%
TEER B (AR ZIE K B R = Pk A
h0#E 15 8 5l =) 48.02% 39.1%-59.90% 61.10%
Option life (expressed as weighted average
life used in the modelling under binomial
lattice model) 9 years 2.62 years 4.2 years
EREFHUUIRZEXEBEX KA
INHEF R IE 5 R) 9 2.62F 4.2%F
Expected dividends 3.50% 4.90% 4.90%
TR B 3.50% 4.90% 4.90%
Risk-free interest rate 1.66% 1.78% t02.51% 1.78% t02.51%
A a1 o M) = 1.66% 1.78%%E251% 1.78% £2.51%
The expected volatility is based on the average of the weekly T8 HA R B Ty 45 4% B AR 7 £ B4R [
historical volatility of comparable companies with period WA ELRARNTERELKIE
commensurate to the option life. Expected dividends are SH - -BHREDREEREEDN
based on management’s best estimation. The risk-free rate is RIEMEFE - EERBRMETZ
referenced to the yields of Exchange Fund Notes with similar ZRE T B 78 8 HABR A8 LAY SN i
duration as at the grant date. EREHFRFE -
Except for the conditions mentioned above, there were no Br £ SCPTat 89 iR AN - B R
other market conditions and service conditions associated {20094 - 20104 & 2011 F & B
with the 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options and the 8 A% #E AR B ) EL fh T 55 KO K AR
2011 Employee Share Options. TR -

RrFERERERAT 201244% 173
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(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

28 Deferred income

As at the beginning of the year
Amortisation for the year

As at the end of the year

28 I 3E W i
The Group
AEE

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARE T
F ) 4 fr 30,669 42,928
F N H (12,042) (12,259)

Deferred income represented the government grants received for
acquisition of new plant and for certain technical innovation and
production line expansion projects. These grants are deferred over
the useful lives of relevant assets and the amount recognised as
“Other revenue” in 2012 is RMB6,542,000 (2011: RMB6,759,000)
and compensation for expenses incurred as”other revenue” in 2012

is RMB5,500,000 (2011: RMB5,500,000).

 Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012

FEERSERBETRE LA T
el EESBETER ESHK
e ZERMBREBEEMNIF
A FHAEE AR R20124F iR
BIEMBAINBEEES HHEBH
& %8 A A K #6,542,0007T (2011 4F :
A R #6,759,0007T ) R R Al & b
WAIWBEBHT HBEBNEEAA
R ®5,500,0007C(20114F @ A R ¥
5,500,000 7T) °



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

& OF B 75 3R 3R B e (48)
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

29 Capital, reserves and dividends 29 BAX - -RERRE
(a) Movements in components of equity (o) EZARBINEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances REEEHERDSHEK DD H
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set E R E AR EE HERE N & O
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. %Eﬁ@) WKk -BAARNRAER
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual FHEKE D R F ) EE R E A E
components of equity between the beginning and the end of EEFEEHINAT
the year are set out below:
The company VAT
Capital Equity-settled
Share Share redemption  Merger  Other share based Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve  reserve reserve payment losses equity
RESE
=N ER R 13 % A4
BE ROEE BE#EE S0HE % % RAFE RRAE

Note RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR%®  AR% AR®  AR%® AR% ARH AR®E  AR%

T T Fr Fr Fr Fr T T
Balance at 1 January 2011 7201141818
) & & 300,685 1,680,849 — 1,449,863  (64,330) 7,389 (3,975) 3,370,481
Total comprehensive malanaE
income — — — — (138,651) — 233,334 94,683
Dividends declared and paid &fi H A% | 7 &2
during the year 29(b)(ii) — — — — — — (234,692) (234,692)
Share issued for exercised R % 15 174
of share options 29(c)(v) 1,596 15,126 — — — (7,360) — 9,362
Purchase of own shares B {7 Bl 88 29(c)(iv)
— Par value paid —MEfE (818) — — — — — = (818)
— Premium paid —%fE —  (15,538) — — — — —  (15,538)
— transfer between —EEER
reserves — — 818 — — — — 818
Equity-settle share-based & H3RR 5 3 1 B8
payments 29(c)(v) — — — — — 10,160 — 10,160
Balance at R2011512A318
31 December 2011 0 & 301,463 1,680,437 818 1,449,863 (202,981) 10,189 (5,333) 3,234,456

Balance at 1 January 2012 7201241818

H) & 301,463 1,680,437 1,449,863 (202,981) 10,189 (5,333) 3,234,456

Total comprehensive income 43 & W 25 4 % —  (34,666) — 202,009 167,343
Dividends approved A AR A 2 A

in respect of the

previous year 29(b)(ii) — (200,103) (200,103)
Share issued for exercised %17 % 14 1748

of share options 29(c)(v) (1,499) - 1,543
Equity-settle share-based & HAAR 1 S v B 4

payments 29(c)(v) 6,933 6,933
Balance at #R20124612A31H

31 December 2012 H) 4 81 302,601 1,682,341 818 1,449,863 (237,647) 15,623 (3,427) 3,210,172
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(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

29 Capital, reserves and dividends (continved)

(b) Dividends
(i)  Dividends payable and proposed to equity shareholders

of the Company attributable to the profit for the year:

29 BA - BEERE @
b) BRE

) BNREZRETAAT

B A5 A AN E I B

T -
The Group
rEH
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR ARET T
Final dividend proposed after the P4 45 H 18 ## Jx 2%
balance sheet date of RHEIRR B &A% 3 AR
RMB11.31 cents per ordinary AR®1131%
share (2011: RMB5.68 cents) (201145 : AR¥5.68%) 400,285 200,103
The final dividend proposed after the end of the balance RERBBRRIKEZ R
sheet date has not been recognised as a liability at the BEXARERERERS
balance sheet date. a8E-

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) AEMHEMBFEDEB
Company attributable to the previous year, approved REAVHFEAL B E
and paid during the year: B T AR A A B 5

BAZKRE :
The Group
rEH
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREF T
Final dividend in respect of the AN FE 4t KR 5 A 3B
previous financial year, approved E B FEREIRR S
and paid during the year of % Ak A R #5.689
RMB5.68 cents per ordinary share (3% {8 i #5711l & 3%)
(2011: RMB7 cents, distributed at (20114 : AR¥7 5
equivalent value of HK$8 cents) REEBESIIIKE) 234,692

™
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

& OF B 75 3R 3R B e (48)
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

29 Capital, reserves and dividends (coninved) 29 B - EERKE @
() Share capital () B
Authorised and issued share capital EE KRB BITRA
2012 2011
No. of shares No. of shares
BHEE - &5 g B ok}
‘000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB'000
T AR%®FTx TR ARBTT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of BREMBE1ET
HK$0.1 each (i) EORES R () 10,000,000 861,600 10,000,000 861,600
Ordinary shares, issued E&TR& R
and fully paid: TER
Shares issued upon the RNEABREITH
reorganisation (i) A% 17 (i) 100 9 100 9
Capitalisation issue (ii) B Ak 2 17 (i) 2,925,900 251,364 2,925,900 251,364
Shares issued by share BB MDES
offer (iii) AT RR A7 (i) 574,000 49,312 574,000 49,312
Shares repurchased in K201 F & 1H
2011 (iv) 5] 8 (iv) (10,000) (818) (10,000) (818)
Accumulated share 2T ERT 2
options exercised (v) 1TRE(V) 32,946 2,734 18,920 1,596
At 31 December ®12HA31H 3,508,920 301,463
(i)  The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with () 2 & 7 R2010%F6AHA3H
authorised capital of 3,800,000 shares at HK$0.10 per MK AERAK A
share. As part of the Reorganisation, the authorised 3,800,000f% & fx ® & &
capital of the Company was increased to 0108 TH IR - tEREME
HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares BW—FH - KRB HEER
of HK$0.10 each. 7K # % 1,000,000,000 7 7T

% /10,000,000,000 I & A%
HE0.10B T MG -

wr@mERERAD 2012555 177,
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(BRBEHEBAN

AANREFIR)

29 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(c)

Share capital (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company's
shareholder passed on 8 October 2010, the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$380,000 to HK$1,000,000,000; in addition,
2,925,900,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were
issued at par value to the shareholders of the Company
as of 8 October 2010 by way of capitalization of
HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to RMB251,364,000) from
the Company’s share premium account.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 1 November 2010, with a total number of
3,500,000,000 shares, among which 644,000,000
shares (18.4% of the total number of shares of the
Company) were issued to the public, comprising
574,000,000 new shares and 70,000,000 sale shares.
The gross proceeds received by the Company from the
global offering were approximately HK$2,411 million.

Purchase of own shares and cancellation

On 10 June and 13 June 2011, the Company totally
repurchased its own ordinary shares of 10,000,000
shares at aggregate price (including transaction fee and
commission) of HK$18,692,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,509,000).
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29 BA&R - HEERRE @

(c)

@ NE )]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

B A QAR R2010F
10A8HBHEHRZESR K
A &) K% FE IR 78 B3380,000
7 JT # 11 = 1,000,000,000
N TV |- A N 5l B ({7 N
»AEBKkHEERBR
292,590,000 T ( 2 & B
A R #251,364,0007T ) E
&K AR A R20108F 10
A8BHZEER KRR T
2,925,900,000 % & & ® &
01 B THY E AR o

KRN E /D E R20104F
1MATHE E B R PT £
48 27 /53,500,000,000 % A&
7 - H f1644,000,000 8% (15
A A D B ER18.4%)
BIITRAABRAL EF
£ #5574,000,000 f% #7 B &
70,000,000 % 85 & f% {2 © A<
2R W E A 2 Bk B E /T
BHRBHEBELHAR24NEE
78 TT ©

A& 19 [B] B K E 88
M20119F6 A108 &6 813
H AARAGHEERERH
7 8 A% 10,000,000 % » #&
BER(EFEBLRAT) A
18,692,000/ T (#E & K A
R #15,509,0007T ) * ¥ 2
B & B8 & A A 4B o



29 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

() Share capital (Continued) ()

(iv)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
A ff B 35 3R & M 5 (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

29 BA - #EERE @
B 7S ()

Purchase of own shares and cancellation (Continued)
The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly
the issued share capital of the Company was reduced
by the nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to
section 49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
an amount equivalent to the par value of the shares
cancelled of HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB
818,000) was transferred to the capital redemption
reserve. The premium and transaction cost paid on the
repurchase and cancellation of the shares of
HK$17,728,000 (equivalent to RMB14,720,000) was
charged to reserves.

Share options exercised

During the year, pursuant to the Company’'s share
option schemes (note 27), options were exercised to
subscribe for 14,026,051 (2011: 18,920,081) ordinary
shares in the Company at a consideration of
HK$1,900,000 (equivalent to RMB1,543,000) (2011:
HK$11,098,000 (equivalent to RMB9,362,000)) of
which  RMB404,000 (2011: RMB7,766,000) was
credited into the share premium account. RMB 1,499,000
(2011: RMB7,360,000) has been transferred from the
equity-settled share-based payment reserve to share
premium account. As at 31 December 2012, the total
number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options outstanding from the Company’s
share option schemes is 91,010,740 (31 December
2011: 118,959,988).

(iv)

mrFERERERAT 201244% 179

%5 [ B8 Ko 0F 8 (48)

B RO E TS A
ARElZBBITRANEH
EREZEEBERONE
B o JZ 8% B (B B 1
1,000,000 ( & B A R #
818,0007T ) 88 A % 17 B i &
B o 3O B8 MO SHRR 9 P
SR ERR DK AES
#17,728,000 L (£ E A R
#14,720,0007T ) E £ f# B
ARk o

A& 1D S 174

RAEE  AREARFMN
B% #E &t 21 (P 5£27) 1T BB
% # - 5| B3R 814,062,051
A% (2011 4F : 18,920,081 A% )
KRR E@EE  RERBE
1,900,0007T * HE R AR
#1,543,000 7T ° (2011 4 :
11,098,000/ jT( 48 & R
A B #9,362,0007T )) © H
A R # 404,000 7T (2011
& :7,766,0007T) 5+ A B% 15
i B o A K 1,499,000 7T
(20114 = A K % 7,360,000
T)EEBRELERMN X
NEEESEBRERMOEE-
201212 A31H » filf &
NAEREEFTAE N
RITERBEREETE
BIA] FEITH AR D B E A
91,010,740 f% (2011 4 12 A
31H : 118,959,983 %) °
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29 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f

(g)

(h)

Share premium

The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses
over the par value of the shares issued has been credited to
the share premium account of the Company.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Merger reserve

As part of the Reorganisation, the then shareholders of Yashili
(Guangdong) transferred their equity interests in Yashili
(Guangdong) to Yashili (HK) on 2 July 2010. A merger reserve
of RMB1,367,204,000 was resulted from these transfers for
the purposes of the consolidated financial statements.

PRC statutory reserves

PRC statutory reserves were established in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC.
Transfers to the reserves were approved by the board of
directors.

Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
Equity-settled share-based payment reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number if unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Group in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments
in Note 2(m)(iv).

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(e)(iii).
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29 BA - REEKRE @

(d)

(e)

(A

(g)

(h)

MR A= B
BHTECGIKREMZETHEOBH
ERTRATENHEBECT AR
DA HY B g (B AR o

REFEHERAEMRERT)
RABBEA G ERNE S A 2K
TARAIRER  HEZEZEZDIK
REBHE KRABABRNE
BENAEXRBKBETDIHZ
B

SOtEE

R2010F7H2H » & X # + 7
ERMNKRRESEEERELTF
MEREEZRNELFNESE  EA
BEAN—HMH - AHHREEARE
1,367,204,0007T A 7% & & M =
io

FEEE MR

o B E (8 9 IR B AR A R AR
A BORARA R AR R R BB A
R B 40 88 B 72 40 B BRST - 1A R
MBRDEEANESSIE -

REEERO N HE
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

29 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(i)

Distributable reserve

The aggregate amount of distributable reserve of the
Company at 31 December 2012 is RMB1,678,914,000 (2011:
RMB1,675,104,000). After the balance sheet date the
directors proposed a final dividend of RMB11.31 cents per
ordinary share (2011: RMB5.68 cents), amounting to
RMB400,285,257 (2011: RMB200,103,000). This dividend
has not been recognised as a liability at the balance sheet
date.

30 Financial risk management and fair value

Exposure to credit, liquidity and market risk arises in normal course
of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Exposure to the credit risks are monitored
by management on an ongoing basis.

In respects of trade receivables, the Group has established a
credit policy in place: fixed credits are granted to supermarkets
and the periods range from 60 to 90 days; temporary credits
are offered on transaction-by-transaction basis to distributor
customers who have been trading with the Group for many
years and have a good trading record and the credit periods
range from 10 to 90 days. Special credit is granted to
creditworthy distributor customers when the Group promotes
certain line of products. All the credits offered are unsecured.
Full advances are required for sales to other customers. The
Group regularly reviews ageing analysis of the trade
receivables to monitor the credit exposure.

B OF B 35 3R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

29 BA&R - HEERRE @

(i) wI#to ke

A A A B20129612A8318H ©
Aty REEHEBEEAEARE
1,678,914,0007C (2011 F : A R
#1,675,104,0007) ° R 4F 4 B
EEEZEABRE t&AE%
113195 (0114F : A B ¥568
7o) IR E A R 400,285,257
7L (20114 © A [ #200,103,000
TL) e ZER BN E R I KR
REBEE-

30 MBEBEERAAEE

FEE -RPEehkTHEREBRAEE
MERXBARFTELE ASEEH

HERE MASERBUATERS
B ¢ B 7 B S IR R 18 BI85
mT

(o) EEER
$%H’\J1§§ﬂﬁﬁ$%?ﬁ§m%
FEMEWR - EERKRIIEE
B E SRR -

REFRRAME  AEEEF]
BEEEBR: AARBHMIGER
HNAF0EWWENETFEEZE: A
BAMZHEARNELAEBRR S
ZFEEBERTR P HLERLEHE
AmEFPRMEN T10E290R /B
%EE MAEEHKEERLRYE

CEARTMECHEE TP A&
BEAINCEE -FTEEEHBER
HEE -HETHMEFRPSEX

EE BB - Kﬁliﬁﬁ%%
BHRWANEKREK  AEREE
2 B
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30 Financial risk management and fair value
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Majority of the Group’s customers have been trading with the
Group for years and the Group did not record significant bad
debts losses during 2011 and 2012. At balance sheet dates,
the Group has a certain concentration of credit risk of the
trade receivables, the top five trade debtors represented
48.4% of total trade receivables as at 31 December 2012 (2011:
27.1%). All the trade receivables are due from customers
with good trade record and no impairment allowance is made
against these customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheets. The Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as
far as possible, that the Group, as a whole has always
maintained sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they
fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group’s reputation.

The following table presents the earliest contractual
settlement dates of the Group’s and the Company'’s financial
liabilities at the balance sheet dates, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the
Group can be required to repay.
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30 Financial risk management and fair value 0 BIBEBEERAAEBE

(Continued) (&)

(b) Liquidii’y risk (Continued) (b) FENE R K@)
The following are the contractual maturities of financial LTASREBE(TEEREFE
liabilities (excluding advances from customers and derivative NRETESHEBE)NE DT
financial liabilities), including estimated interest payments and HE BEGHEAMNERERTE
excluding the impact of netting agreements: EHRBRBEH L
The Group rEEH

2012 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

MNREEHNBRERTBRSRE

More than
Within 1 year but Carrying
1 year or less than amount at
on demand 2 years Total 31 December
1FERR BiB1F MN12A318H
RER {EIR2F Aot AREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®BTRT AR®TR ARBT T
Loans and borrowings BERRER 330,981 330,981 330,912
Amounts due to related FETREE 5 =18
parties 2,188 2,188 2,188
Trade and other B 5% H M ER =&
payables(excluded (FEERE
advances from customers) B 2 630,430 630,430 630,430
At 31 December M12A31H8 963,599 — 963,599 963,530

i
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(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

30 Financial risk management and fair value 0 BIBEBEERAAEBE
(Continued) (&)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FENE R K@)
The Group (Continued) AEH (&)

2011 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
20N F G N EEERTER M H

More than
Within 1 year but Carrying
1 year or on less than amount at
demand 2 years Total 31 December
1AL HEiB 1 F M12A31 B/
RER BIR2F HEt REE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARET T
Loans and borrowings BEREER 31,473 — 31,473 31,359
Amounts due to related FE 1< BB 3 5 3RIB
parties 1,722 — 1,722 1,722
Trade and other B REMEMNR
payables(excluded (TRERF
advances from customers) 78 < 3k) 464,653 — 464,653 464,653
At 31 December ®12A31H 497,848 — 497,848 497,734
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 Financial risk management and fair value
(Continued)

(b) Liquidil’y risk (Continued)

(c)

The Company

B OF BF %5 R R B ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

0 MBEBEERAAEE

(&)

(b)

REE SR |
b A |

2012 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

0NRESGHNEERTERERE

More than
Within 1 year but Carrying
1 year or on less than amount at
demand 2 years Total 31 December
15 R BB MN12A318 8
RER {EIR2F et FREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTRT AR¥®TR ARETR
Loans and borrowings BERRER 80,981 — 80,981 80,912
Market risk (c) iRk

Increasing market fluctuations may result in significant cash-
flow and profit volatility risk for the Group. The Group’s
income or the values of its holding of financial instruments
are affected by changes in commodity price of raw materials,
foreign exchange rate and interest rate. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market
risk exposures within the acceptable parameters, while
minimising the costs on managing the risk.

The Group seeks to manage and control the market risks
primarily through its regular operating and financial activities.
All such transactions are carried out within the guidelines set
by the Board of Directors.

MEREBEMAIEEEBRAKE
MEBEBARRERE Mg KB R
o AEEOBARERAFTEN
ERMIANEBEEXIRME DR
Bif EXRMENEHTE -
MERAREENBEEREERE
HMmZRARRAEINERZ
A [R) AR R (S B 3 TR B FY AR

AEBTEFREAERE MM
BEE  SREERRZEG TSR
Be-MAEREXDNIREREMN
B E B FE Bl ETT
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30 Financial risk management and fair value 0 BIBEBEERAAEBE
(Continued) (&)

() Market risk (Continued) (c) ™% R k@

o

(1)

(ii)

Commodity price risk

Raw materials and packing materials are the major
materials of the Group’s products which accounted for
more than 85% of total cost of sales. Fluctuation on
commodity price of raw materials and packing materials
will have significant impact on the Group’s earnings,
cash flows as well as the value of inventories. The
Group minimises the cost of materials by centralising
purchase of raw materials for the Group and self-
production of plastic bags and iron jars. The Group
historically has not entered into any commodity
derivative instruments to hedge the potential
commaodity price changes.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate profile

Except for bank deposits and other investments with
stable interest rates, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets.

The Group does not account for any fixed interest rate
financial assets or liabilities at fair value in the year,
neither does the Group obtain any loans and
borrowings at variable interest rates. Accordingly, the
Group'’s finance income and expenses, operating and
financing cashflow are substantially independent of
changes in market rates.

The interest rates and terms of loans and borrowings
are disclosed in Note 26.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 Financial risk management and fair value

(Continued)
(c)
(ii)
(iii)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2012, if interest rates on deposits
with banks had been 27 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, profit after tax for the
year and retained profits would have been
RMB4,028,321 (2011: RMB6,089,000) higher/lower,
respectively, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income on deposits with banks.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
on bank deposits, other receivable and bank loan of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Hong
Kong dollars and US dollars.

The Group’s assets and liabilities denominated in US
dollars as at 31 December are set out below:

B OF BF %5 R R B ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

0 MBEBREERAAEE

(48)
(c) ™i5EkE @Em)
(i) F @ B (&)
BBE D

#H E2012%612 8318 [F 5
B FiBEMA] EREEER
N & i8R 1T 17 AR =0
R D27EE B FE
B Bt 1% s A R AR B & T #§
eHREM RS ARKE
4,028,32170 (201146 : AR
#6,089,0007T) © £ E B R
BITHERA B WA N,
B FT B ©

(iii) 5 85 2 B

Cash and cash equivalents
Prepayment and other receivables

Trade payables B Z RN
Bank loans RITE M

Net exposure arising from

recognised assets and liabilities B F & 2

RBekReFED
FEAS 3R N H A 8 MK

EHIBEERABLIE

BEREBERERAT 2012555 |

A& E RS E R B E R
BRANBEABZRITRF
;o B BUGRIA R RTTE
R RNEZBRERIS Y
EEBAINEE - 5|2
ReEBTEZRBERE

ﬁo

AEBMRI12A31BH =
TEEEEREEHY W
T

The Group
rEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREBTT

43,803
111
(58,119)




Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

30 Financial risk management and fair value
(Continued)

(c) Market risk (Confinued)
(iii) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
The Group received approximately HK$2.4 billion from
the global offering. In order to mitigate the exchange
risk arising from the appreciation in the value of
Renminbi against HK dollars, the Company converted
major into RMB. The following table set out the Group’s
and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
denominated in HK dollars as at 31 December.

0 MBEBEERAAEE

()

(c)

™ 5 &l B ()
(i) Sh ¥ @ B (%)

AEBEBMOHEHREEM
BTREBENR2UEE
T RIREAREHE T
BHINERE  ARFHA
BOAMERBEERKAR
e TRANAKERI2
ABTEABTAHENER
BEENAGE-

The Group The Company
Y | N
2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTRE AR¥TR AR®TR

Cash and cash equivalents I8 & RIR&ZEEY

Bank loans RITE R

Prepayments and other TE TR R EH A
receivables FE U SR

Other payables H i FE T 3K

Net exposure arising from B HREENKEE

recognised assets and S 1Y % 3 f

liabilities

Sensitivity analysis

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated
based on the major net foreign currency exposure of
the Group as at the balance sheets dates, assuming 5%
shift of RMB against US dollars and HK dollars.

Results from a 5% strengthening of the RMB against
US dollars and HK dollars on the profit after tax and
retained profits as at 31 December are shown below.
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant.

v

M

£
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534

(80,912)

411
(58)

(80,025)

341 2,097
(80,912) —
27

(80,285) 2,124

BRBREDMN
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ARBEEETRBIT EFA
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 Financial risk management and fair value
(Continued)

(c)

The Group The Company
rEE AT

2012 2011 2012 2011
Effect in RMB RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
UARBFHENEE AR®ETT ARBFTT AR®MTT AR®TT
US Dollar e 521 252 (6) (33)
HK dollar B 4,001 (381) 4,014 (86)
A 5% weakening of the RMB against US dollars and HK AR® N ET KB TR E
dollars as at the same dates would have had the equal B HHTK%KEHEER
but opposite effect. HREBE -

(d) Capital management d EAXAERE

Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group uses different measures including adjusted net
debt-to-equity ratios to monitor its capital. Net debt is
calculated as total loans and borrowings, as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet less cash and bank deposits
(excluding frozen bank deposits). Total capital is calculated as
equity holder’s funds (i.e. total equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company), as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet.

B OF B 35 3R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

0 MBEBEERAAEE

()

(c)

™ 5 &l B ()
(i) Sh ¥ @ B (%)
B E DA (H)

Increase/(decrease) on profit after tax

and retained profit

#gm/ (B> BRBRBERRRERR

AEBEEREANBEBRARER
SEFENRS  ARBRRRE
EBATRERE MG - &
BIHELEREBIAREE AKX
o

AEEERTREE  S7EEH
BEFEBRERLE UERHEER
Ko BFEBAAHEERBRM
THERREFRRE RRTEF
(P B S UR 4 BV SR 1T 15 500 AT
HBH REAUEGHEEEE
R TOBRERAEAE S (AR
RABEFE ARG AER)

/%‘-?E' o
> 1=

REREMBRAERAT 2012655 (189
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

30 Financial risk management and fair value

0 WHEREERAAEE

(Continued) (&)
(d) Capital management (Continued) d) EAEE @
The Group The Company
& PN
2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTRT AR®TRIT AR¥®TR AR®TR

Loans and borrowings B R AER

(Note 26) (Kiat26) 330,912 31,359 80,912 —
Less: Y
Cash and cash equivalents RERBSEEY

(Note 23) (Ktat23) PXVERIZIM 2,581,563 16,762
Short-term bank deposits RHRITHER

(Note 23) (Hia£23) 611,972 — —
Long-term bank deposits RERITFER

(Note 23) (M1 :E£23) 306,142 — =
Pledged bank deposits EEHIRITEXR

(Note 22) (Ktat22) 299,609 63,050 —
Net debt BT (PELEEYPIN (2,613,254) 80,546 (16,762)
Total equity attributable to RAGIRERE A

shareholders of the FEAG 7 25 AR R

Company 4,079,059 3,802,698 3,210,172 3,234,456
Adjusted net debt-to-equity £ 38 B R E IS

ratio Fngnd (0.69) (0.00)

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

ARAREERMEBRRGER
RSN EAREK -

e
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 Financial risk management and fair value

(Continued)

(e)

(f

Fair valve

The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortised cost approximate their respective fair
values as at 31 December 2011 and 2012 due to the short
maturities of these instruments.

Estimation of fair values
The following summaries the major methods and assumptions
used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments.

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Fair values of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The fair value is estimated as the present value of future
cash flows, discounted at current market interest rates
for similar financial instruments.

Financial guarantees

The fair value of financial guarantees issued is
determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s
length transaction for similar services, when such
information is obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by
reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing the
actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is
made available with the estimated rates that lenders
would have charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such information
can be made.

& OB B R M ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

0 BHEERKREERAAEBE

(&)

) DAAEE
FrEREEK A RERN SR E E
FEBEENEEHEEESESAER
2011 4F K 201212 A31H B A
ABEHEE REARZEIARN
ZIEAR AR H -

M 2AREEHGEEHE
TXHAEESRTARAEE
MEBTARBR -

(i) ZBITAWAALEE
720114 K&2012412 A 31
H ANEERAQBFMEIR
B 7N sk B SH K AN B R K &
BTEMEKREAEHEEAR
BEEEARER-

FTEERER G
iR ERRE R EE A
REES/SAKXRERMEN
BE ZEUSRTANSR
TSN EEER -

(ii)

(iii) 1 75 48 1R
HINEHRMBREROR A
BE EEREERERNERS
HReE2ERFrRX5FTREA
RS WY B R HEE B ¢ 3
EEREMAIEM[BITHBER
THEBEZ2ZERERERM
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Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B OF B B | R Y (D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

31 Commitments

(@) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

31 HiE

(@ MI12A3MBEEKXBEERTER
B sR R BERNEARENT

The Group
rEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBTT

Contracted for B &4
Authorised but not contracted for BEHERETA

124,255 63,021
700,000 =

63,021

(b) At 31 December, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and
properties were payable as follows:

(b) MI12A318 FABCEHKEHRS
TE T Bh 4 i K W) 3 B S A R AR &

Within one year 1R
After one year but within five years 1% B5F A
After five years 54 1&

The Group
AEE

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT
12,125
10,757
3,350

26,232

The Group leases a number of land and properties under
operating leases. The leases run for period from one to
twenty-six years, certain of the leases are with an option to
renew when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

prve

i'::. ¥ 4
i1 92 Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012

AREBNKLEHERAE T L
EMmE-HE RB1E269F © 2
DS AR IZETRT A RE
ENERGEENE - BHERE
BIEXAES -



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

32 Material related party transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the directors are of the
view that related parties of the Group include the following
individuals/companies.

Name of related party
AT ER

Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang
Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang (collectively referred
to as “Zhang's Family”)

o FI 30 55 A - SR FBE S8 A - ok FIBR & A - R I # 5E AE
RAREERKRBF LT (BB RIRRRIE]

Shantou Zhang's Investment Co., Ltd. (“Zhang's Investment”)
("IBEREKIEE R R AT") ()
AWBERKIEERR AR ([REKIZE D)

Haoweijia Food Co., Ltd. (“Haoweijia Food")
(BRFHRERMER DA ()
BRIFRERRARAR ([HFRER®D ()

Chaoan County Anbu Yingjia Paper and Plastic Products Factory
("Yingjia") (B % SRR 1R & R B R R) (i)
Mz GrRe a2 almmi(EED 0

(i)  The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The English
translation of the name is for reference only.

B OF B 35 3R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

2 EXHAELXRS

REZE2012F12A31HIEFERN > B
EREAEBNBEETBEATAL
S NE] e

Relationship
ZREA

the Controlling Shareholders
AR R

Under common control of
the Controlling Shareholders
1R A% A% BR B9 £t [R] 42

Under common control of
the Controlling Shareholder
S % A% R A 2[R 42

Under the control of a close family
member of a director of the Company

EARRB—REFHNHBES

BESTERAP AR -RX

(i) E
ELERS2E-

T i

mrFERERERAT 201244% 193



Nofes to the Financial Statements (continued)

& Of B 7 3R 3R BT & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

32 Material related party transactions (Continued) 32

Particulars of significant transactions between the Group and the
above related parties during the year are as follows:

(a) Recurring transactions

BEAXBEIRS @)

AEBEN FEETRABBEAD
EARSHBWT :

(o) BKEMEXRS

The Group
&M
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T

Sale of packing materials to HEBREMB THRER®
Haoweijia Food

Purchase of preserved fruit products B #FHKER @ EEREE R
from Haoweijia Food

Rent of property and plant fromthe BHREKEZEHENELHE
Zhang's Investment

Purchase of plastic spoons and covers B & B EBEFRHERE T
from Yingjia

1,608 2,087

2,669 4,176

3,031 3,031

11,735 7,924

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
above related party transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms in the ordinary course of business. The
directors have confirmed that the above transactions will
continue in the future.

v

M

£
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

& OF B 75 3R 3R B e (48)
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEBEAN  RAAREIIR)

32 Material related party transactions (continued) N2 EXHAELZRZm

(b) Balances with related parties (b) EEEAE KA ER
(i)  Amounts due from related parties (i) FEWEERFE
The Group
KE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARET T
Trade related 2 5 18 KT
— Haoweijia Food — TR = ’E°'Z an 1,801
Other receivables from H & WK IE
— Haoweijia Food — ﬁ?”ﬁﬂ% R m 15
(i)  Amounts due to related parties (i) FEATEEZE R 5 B
31 December
12A31H
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
Trade related Z 5 I8
— Yingjia — G 815
— Haoweijia Food —IF IR ER M 878
Other payable to Zhang's HEMENRKEE
Investment 29
The amounts due from/to related parties as at 31 Br £l B9 & 8B AN - 72012
December 2012 were expected to be recovered/repaid F12A31B E UK TE
within one year. EARBEHER —FRA
e fEE o
The amounts due from/to related parties pledged to FTEgRTHEL &
mortgage as at 31 December 2012 is nil. F BRI IR o

REAEBERERAD 20125 5% (195)



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
& OF BF 75 3R 3R B o (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEBAN

33

34

AANREFIR)

Non-adjusted post balance sheet events

Final dividend

After the balance sheet date the directors proposed a final dividend.
Further details are disclosed in Note 29(b).

Proposed establishment of manufacturing facility
in New Zealand

On 10 January 2013, the board of directors (the “Board”) of the
Company has approved the project plan for establishing a
manufacturing facility for production of finished products and semi-
finished products, including base milk powder in New Zealand (the
“New Zealand Facility”). The total investment involved in the
establishment of the New Zealand Facility by the Company is
estimated to be RMB1.1 billion, out of which RMB950 million will
be for acquisition of land and cost of construction, and RMB150
million will be utilized as working capital of Yashili New Zealand.
Yashili New Zealand has entered into a conditional purchase
agreement to acquire the land where the New Zealand Facility will
be operated.

Parent and ultimate holding company

At 31 December 2012, the directors consider the immediate parent
and ultimate holding company of the Group to be Zhang
International investment Ltd., which is incorporated in BVI with
limited liability and beneficially owned by Zhang's Family. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for public use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

35 Accounting judgements and estimates

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

(i

)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment loss for trade and other receivables

As explained in Note 2(l), the Group makes impairment loss
for trade and other receivables based on the Group’s estimates
of the present value of the estimated future cash flow. Given
the uncertainties involved in estimating the future cash flow of
individual customer, the actual recoverable amount may be
higher or lower than that estimated at the balance sheet date.

Provision for inventories

As explained in Note 2(k), the Group’s inventories are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Based on the
Group's recent experience and the nature of the inventories,
the Group makes estimates of the selling prices, the costs of
completion in case for work in progress, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the inventories. Uncertainty exists in these
estimations.

Impairment loss for property, plant and equipment

As explained in Note 2(l), the Group makes impairment loss
for property, plant and equipment based on the Group’s
estimates of the recoverable amount. Uncertainty exists in
these estimations.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable income will be available
against which deductible temporary differences and tax losses
can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

B OF B 35 3R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  AUAREIIR)

36 Possible impact of amendments, new 36

standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2012

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has
issued the a number of amendments and Interpretations and one
new standard which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2012 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

0125 12 A 31
i

8 E2 B L
= 1) 2 98 f 15 o 2 W
B HEARRENL

HERHZEZSUBEREAERD B
BRemdEtllZEe e MEZEESE
2012F 12 A3V B IEFE MR EREZ
LUK W AR RIS ET - Fr2ER
Kt N5 &r] ag AN & B AH 8
3B :

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

RUTAMH 2 RMABNEBHER

IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements
(EIPRBFEsREERDFE 109 - SO ISR K

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement
CER IR EERDEI13H - AR EET=E

Revised IAS 19, employee benefits
KASFTCBI R 25T ERIDEE 1955 « B8 B 18 A

IAS 27,Separate financial statements (2011)
CEIFR 2t ERIDE 279 - BB B HmEK

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
(BRI EERDFEIR @RI HE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below.

The table below sets forth our summary income statement information
for the periods indicated:

EFMBHE

MERELMBERRRBREZASEB
ERFCRMIEE BERABMT

T R 05 75 4 A T B D A M s R
B

Year ended 31 December
BZ12 A31 HILEE

RMB million AREBETT 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Turnover ] 2,751.6 2,586.0 2,954.4 2,957.8 3,655.1
Cost of sales Fich=A7 9N (1,463.7)  (1,095.6) (1,272.6) (1,419.5) b QEEERY))
s et =7 1287.9  1,490.4  1,681.8  1,538.3 b lcldiy
Other revenue BN N 17.0 34.7 61.2 28.7 37.6
Other net (loss)/income H b (B 18), W F58 (1.0) 0.1 (0.6) (0.2) (X))
Selling and distribution HE RCHAX

expenses (1,059.1) (891.9) (957.5) (1,061.9) | Glrriy))
Administrative expenses TER X (137.3) (129.1) (182.8) (185.5) (202.1)
Other expenses Hib (795.9) (14.2) (11.5) (6.4) (14.7)
Profit/(loss) from operations 48 4% %% Al (f&5 18) (688.4) 490.0 590.6 313.0 m
Finance income B A 7.8 3.4 11.9 651 89.7
Finance costs B 75 A% ZN (21.3) (22.1) (13.0) (VX))
Net finance income/(expense) % 81 #Ua A~ (5 Z%) (13.5) (18.7) (1.1) 62.4
Profit/(loss) before income tax & 718 % 5 & F1,

(E18) (701.9) 471.3 589.5 375.4

Income tax expense TS X 87.1 (68.9) (86.3) (67.0)
Profit/(loss) from continuing #3548 48 &4 % 754 A1

operations (}Eﬁ 18) (614.8) 402.4 503.2 308.4
Discontinued operation IR T
Loss from discontinued i“ Lt KR TR RS 1R

operation (net of income tax) (¥1Bx T8 %%) = = —
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREEMN (B ) (614.8) 402.4 503.2 308.4 470.5
Profit/(loss) attributable to AR AL DR,

(& 18) (563.9) 404.7 502.4 306.3

Equity holders of the Company 7~ 2 R ## A A
Non-controlling interests FE 13 A 2 (50.9) (2.3) 0.8
Profit/(loss) for the year FERA(EE) (614.8) 402.4 503.2 3084

BrREEERERAT 200265% 199



Five-Year Financial Summary (continued)

EFMERE (&)
The table sets forth our summary balance sheet information as of 31 TR A EE R 20084 2009 4 + 2010
December 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012: F2011 FR2012F12 A31 HHNEESR
BEXRMEEF :
As of 31 December
MW12A31H

RMB million ARBEETT 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Non-current assets EREEE 1,056.8 1,007.1 992.5 1,039.5 1,568.8
Current assets MBEE 856.2 1,216.4 3,488.2 3,604.1 4,001.0
Current liabilities TEaE 1,886.2 896.2 696.2 806.3
Net current assets/(liabilities) BB E (8 &) F 5 (1,030.0) 320.2 2,792.0 2,797.8
Total assets less current BWEERREARE

liabilities 26.8 1,327.3 3,784.5 3,837.3 4,118.9

The financial information for each of the two years ended 31 December £ £2009F 12 4318 1E = i F E & F &
2009 has been prepared upon the Reorganisation as if the group MEEREREEANZARE  HUEHE
structure, at the time when the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange, EBERKOHEBM XM EMER GBS EF
had been in existence throughout the years concerned. The results for {7 2 17 £ ° & £20094F 12 A31 H Ik = A5
each of the two years ended 31 December 2009, and the assets and & & F &) % 45 ' JA & 722008 & % 2009 12
liabilities as at 31 December 2008 and 2009 have been extracted from HA31HMEERBE B EARRHBKRE
the Prospectus. e

i

‘1200 Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2012



il

Yashili International Holdings Ltd

HMEITABRKRERARLST

Room 1614, 16th Floor, Times Square, Shell Tower
1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
B RIE 7)1t e 5157
RRESHARARE621614F

www.yashili.hk

ﬁﬁ Design And Produced By: EDICO Financial Press Services Limited
Rt REUE - E R ENRIRBS AR AR



	Cover
	Inside
Front Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Letter to Shareholders
	Selected Financial Data
	Management’s Discussion and Analysis
	Corporate Governance Report
	Directors and Management Biographies
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Income Statement
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Balance Sheet
	Balance Sheet
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Five-Year Financial Summary
	Back Cover



